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Abstract 

Previous research has reported a positive association between corporate disclosure and 

the efficiency of securities markets (Barrett 1977; Kothari 2001; Gao 2008). This 

efficiency depends on the availability and accessibility of information at a low transaction 

cost. Disclosure has been considered as essential to the economic development and 

growth of emerging economies by Gill and Tropper (1988).  

Despite the importance of corporate disclosure, little research has been conducted in the 

Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) countries, including the UAE. The purposes of this 

study, therefore, are to: (a) assess the current level of corporate disclosure; (b) investigate 

whether firms in the UAE disclose what different user-groups need; and (c) examine the 

relationship between a number of firms’ characteristics (industry type, listing status, 

profitability, liquidity, market capitalization, foreign ownership, composition of board of 

directors, and audit committee) and the level of disclosure.   

To achieve the first objective a disclosure index, comprising 317 information items from 

statutory and IFRS requirements, was developed and matched against the annual reports 

of the 113 sample UAE firms. The second phase of this study involved the administration 

of a survey research instrument which was sent to eight financial reporting user-groups to 

ascertain their perception on corporate disclosure and their needs. The impact of various 

firm’s characteristics on the extent of corporate disclosure was tested using multiple 

regression analysis. 

Our results revealed that the overall disclosure level of UAE firms ranged between low to 

moderate, with an average disclosure level of 57%, and that none of the firms in the 

sample complied with all the disclosure requirements of the mandatory items. The 

banking sector scored the highest level of compliance with mandatory requirements.  

The study showed that user-groups view annual reports as the most important source of 

information. However, 56% of users believed the current level of disclosure to be 

insufficient. Most of the sample companies failed to disclose adequate information 

relating to long-term performance and future forecasts.  
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The study also found that the level of disclosure varies depending on certain firm’s 

characteristics. Results of the univariate and multiple regression analysis identified that 

listing status, industry type, and market capitalization were significant variables in 

explaining variation in the level of disclosure among UAE firms.  

The study concluded with the acknowledgment of some limitations associated with this 

kind of research. Implications, recommendations and potential future research avenues 

were finally identified.  
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Chapter One 

Introduction 

1.1 Overview 

Financial markets are an integral component of a healthy economy that is characterized 

by stability. Their primary role is to develop and organize the means of short and long-

term finance for projects and to provide a liquid secondary market so that investors can 

choose to enter or exit the market efficiently. In this sense the financial market is 

considered to be the cornerstone on which the process of capital allocation is built. An 

effective allocation process is critical to a healthy economy that promotes productivity, 

encourages innovation, and provides an efficient and liquid market for buying and selling 

securities and obtaining and granting credit (AICPA 1994).  

Improving the transparency and usefulness of reported financial information is imperative 

to the health and vitality of financial markets and a nation’s economy. Financial markets 

facilitate allocation of economic resources in an efficient manner if credible, reliable and 

neutral financial information that fairly portrays the economic effect of transactions is 

available to participants in those markets (Herz 2005). 

It is essential to have high-quality standards and reporting practices to provide users of 

financial information with what they need. Deficiencies in such standards and practices 

cause inconsistency, incomparability, little transparency and a lack of trust in the 

information provided, which lead to higher costs of capital and increased risks for 
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different user-groups. As Jenkins (2002, p. 2) stated ‘High-quality financial reporting is 

essential to maintaining an efficient capital market system. A highly liquid capital market 

requires the availability of transparent and complete information so that all participants 

can make informed decisions as they allocate their capital among competing alternatives’. 

The above-mentioned perceived benefits accrue to economically advanced nations. 

However, financial reporting is even more essential for developing countries which seek 

to build a strong economy by regulating financial practices, protecting the national 

economy from the control of a handful of influential investors, and encouraging citizens 

to invest locally.  

The United Arab Emirates (UAE), which was established in 1971, is relatively a new 

country that heavily relies on oil as the main source of income. The government of the 

UAE has utilized oil revenues to build infrastructure while also taking a lead to support 

and subsidize the private sector. However, dramatic changes in circumstances in recent 

years, especially the volatility of oil prices, have highlighted the need for diversification 

of income sources in lieu of sole reliance on oil. The government of UAE had also been 

examining, since 1980, the potential benefits of establishing an official securities market 

which would expand and control the stock market whilst providing a significant impact 

on the national economy. 

1.2 Motivation of Study and Research Questions 

The researcher has two motivations to carry out this study. First, at the personal level, the 

researcher was a member of the committee in charge of the establishment of the Abu 
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Dhabi Securities Market and then became a member of the first Board of Directors after 

launching the market. Such experience has motivated him to carry out this empirical 

study of financial disclosure. 

Second, since its establishment, the UAE has adopted an open economy strategy which 

makes the country one of the fastest growing countries in the world. The country has 

witnessed remarkable progress and development. However, the accounting profession is 

not well developed (Aljifri & Khasharmeh 2006) and has not progressed at the same pace 

and growth rate of the economy due to the lack of regulatory frameworks and the absence 

of adequate financial reporting and disclosure requirements.  

In the summer of 1998, for example, many investors suffered financial losses in the stock 

market because there was no official securities market to control stock market practices. 

The market capitalization in August 1998 rose to US $64 billion and by December 1998 

it declined to US $34 billion. A major contributor to these losses was the level of 

disclosure of financial and other operative information made by various corporations in 

the UAE. The Governor of the Central Bank of the UAE attributed this speculation to 

insufficient information and the lack of a legal framework (Gulf Newspapers 18th October 

1998). Similarly, another shock to the market happened in 2006 when market 

capitalization surged to US $229 billion in January, but by the end of the year 

dramatically dropped to US $140 billion, a decline by 34%. 

As will be discussed in Chapter Two, different groups of participants in the UAE 

securities market (e.g. investors, brokers, financial analysts and businessmen amongst 
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others) have expressed dissatisfaction with the practice of financial disclosure among 

UAE firms, and complained about the variation in disclosure levels. This situation is 

neither healthy for investors nor for the national economy. Al-Khaleej Newspaper (20th 

October 1988) believes that the situation is particularly not helpful for the development 

of the emerging securities market in the UAE. To date, no other comprehensive study has 

been conducted to examine this important issue. 

Existing research studies on UAE financial reporting disclosure are scant. Al-Shayeb 

(2003a) and Al-Shammari (2005) are probably the only studies which attempted to 

examine factors that influence the general level of information disclosed by companies in 

the UAE. Al-Shayeb hypothesised that ‘the adoption of the International Accounting 

Standards (IAS) will fill the gap between the need for acceptable standards and the 

deficiencies in the current disclosure requirements and practice’ (p. 111). He found that 

the overall compliance in the UAE was low since none of his sample companies 

complied with statutory requirements of disclosing all mandatory information.  

However, Al-Shayeb’s study included only 54 companies, which was about 35% of the 

total public joint stock companies in the UAE. Consequently, its conclusion about the 

level of disclosure may not be generalisable. Also, his sample financial year, 2000 annual 

reports, might not include listing disclosure requirements as the UAE Securities Market 

was only established in 2000. Furthermore,  Al-Shayeb’s study was based on the 72 

mandatory and voluntary items used in previous studies. Some of these items might not 

be applicable to the socio-economic environment of the UAE, such as tax expenses. 

 4



In a recent study, Al-Shammari (2005) investigated the compliance of 137 companies 

across the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) countries1, using a disclosure index of 14 

IAS/IFRS. The average compliance level over the sample companies was found 80% for 

the UAE, 78% for Saudi Arabia, %75 for Kuwait, %.74 for Oman, %73 for Bahrain, and 

%.70 for Qatar. One of the reasons that the UAE scored the highest in this particular 

study was that only nine companies from the UAE were included. Secondly, the 

disclosure index used was limited to (208) information items. As Wallace and Naser 

(1995) mentioned that results might vary if the number of information items used in the 

disclosure index increased or decreased or another set of disclosure items were examined. 

Hence, Wallace (1988) recommended an extensive list of disclosure items to be 

developed to overcome the selection bias. Accordingly, this study will use a more 

extensive list of 317 information items. Finally, Al-Shammari only examined the 

compliance of corporate annual reports with IAS/IFRS without further consideration to 

UAE users’ need of information.   

Despite the fact that GCC countries share certain similar socio-economic environments, it 

is pertinent to note that there are some peculiarities in each country. For example, the 

UAE has its own political system which is built on a confederation of seven emirates. 

The UAE as a whole has adopted a more liberal economic strategy than other GCC 

countries such as Saudi Arabia and Oman. In addition, factors related to each country’s 

accounting infrastructure such as the enforcement mechanisms, auditing functions and 

disciplinary procedures for non-compliance would impact on the quality of external 

reporting. One of the key factors that differentiate the UAE economy from the other GCC 

                                                 
1 GCC countries include Bahrain, Kuwait, Sultanate of Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and UAE. 
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countries is that it is more diversified. Hence, generalizing results of studies conducted in 

other GCC countries (e.g., Abel-Salam 1985; Naser & Nuseibeh 2003; Alsaeed 2005; Al-

Hussaini 2001) to the UAE may not be applicable.  

Thus, this study seeks to examine the corporate disclosure in annual reports of sample 

UAE firms and assess the current level of disclosure made by these firms as well as to 

determine users’ need of information and the factors responsible for the variation, if any, 

in financial disclosure. In particular, the present study attempts to answer the following 

questions:  

1. What is the current level of corporate disclosure in the UAE? 

2. Do firms in the UAE disclose information in their annual reports that different 

types of users perceive to be important? 

3. Is there an association between the characteristics2 of UAE firms and their levels 

of disclosure? 

1.3 Objectives of the Study 

The main objectives of this thesis are, therefore, to measure the current level of disclosure 

in the annual reports of UAE firms, to identify and evaluate factors that are responsible 

for inadequacies (Al-Shayeb 2003a) and variations, and to determine the most important 

items of disclosure from users’ perspectives. Specifically, this study seeks to: 

                                                 
2In this research, “characteristics” and “variables” are used interchangeably. 
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1. Assess the current level of corporate financial disclosure in the annual reports of 

UAE firms; 

2. Examine whether UAE firms comply with the statutory and IFRS requirements on 

corporate disclosures; 

3. Investigate whether inadequacies (Al-Shayeb 2003a) and variations of disclosure 

exist among these firms;  

4. Examine the relationship between a number of firms’ characteristics and the level 

of disclosure in their annual reports; 

5. Determine whether the UAE firms disclose information that different user-groups 

perceive as important; 

6. Assist UAE accounting standard-setters in identifying important information 

items;  

7. Complement and extend previous studies. 

1.4 Contribution of the Study 

According to Barrett (1977) and GAO (2008), there is a positive relationship between 

increased disclosure in annual reports and the efficiency of national financial markets. 

Thus, corporate financial disclosures made by UAE firms have importance on the 

grounds that assessing this reporting practice provides some guidelines for developing the 

UAE securities market. Studying and assessing the current disclosure levels will help to 

enhance the efficiency of this market. The success of this securities market will support 
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the UAE government’s strategy towards advancing the private sector and diversifying 

national revenues other than oil. 

To the best knowledge of this researcher, currently there is little data (apart from Al-

Shayeb 2003a) on the latest disclosure level of UAE firms. The present study will fill this 

gap. It will also provide practitioners, financial analysts, government officials, and UAE 

accounting standard-setters with the current status of corporate financial disclosure. 

Results of this study are likely to help them decide whether any change in legislation is 

required in order to create a high-growth environment and boost the efficiency of the 

stock market. It also will draw their attention to those items that various user-groups 

consider important and hopefully, some of the results discussed in the study will 

contribute to this process.  

In addition, by examining the association of firms’ characteristics with their level of 

financial disclosure, the UAE authorities may direct their attention to the development of 

a model of disclosure (disclosure list) as a minimum requirement for all firms. For 

instance, if listing status were found to have a significant effect on the extent of 

disclosure, it might be appropriate to have unlisted firms adopt a disclosure policy 

comparable to those of listed firms (Buzby 1975). Also identifying factors associated 

with variations in disclosure will assist in determining what remedies, if any, may be 

employed to improve disclosure.  

If financial disclosure is not adequate or, in most cases, weak as found by Al-Shayeb 

(2003a), identifying perceptions and needs of the main users of corporate annual reports 
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is essential to our understanding of the UAE financial reporting environment. The 

importance of empirically examining corporate financial disclosure in the UAE is to 

identify areas where efforts to improve the disclosure regulatory regime can be 

concentrated.  

Also, studying financial reporting in the UAE is important as countries in the region, 

particularly the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) countries, which share similar social, 

political and economic environments, can benefit from the current research findings. 

Furthermore, results of this study may be of interest to policy makers and regulators in 

other countries with similar socio-economic environments. Healy and Palepu (2001) 

acknowledge that financial reporting and disclosure will continue to be a rich field of 

empirical inquiry. Hence, findings of this study are also likely to have comparative 

benefits for researchers and users of corporate annual reports in other countries. 

1.5 Organization of the Thesis 

This study is organized in eight chapters. Following the introduction of this study in this 

chapter, Chapter 2 provides a historical background of the UAE as a nation, its political 

and economic development, the financial system and financial reporting environment, the 

history of the UAE securities market, and the structural framework of the UAE securities 

market. 

Literature review is provided in Chapters 3 which discusses the importance and definition 

of corporate disclosure. The Chapter also reviews empirical studies which employed 

various index methodologies to assess and explain disclosure variations in corporate 
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annual reports. Moreover it discusses empirical studies which employed some of the 

variables suggested by previous researchers to explain cross-sectional variation in 

corporate disclosure using a general disclosure index.  

The study’s hypotheses are developed in Chapter 4. The chapter also discusses the 

rationale of the eight firm characteristics tested in this study, namely industry type, listing 

status, profitability, liquidity, market capitalization, foreign ownership, composition of 

board of directors, and audit committee. 

The research methodology employed by the study to achieve its objectives is described in 

Chapter 5. This chapter discusses steps used in constructing the disclosure index, data 

collection, and the selection of participants and companies. It concludes with a discussion 

of the statistical approaches which will be used to test the study hypotheses.  

The analysis of results is presented in two chapters. Chapter 6 evaluates the extent of 

disclosure practices in annual reports of the sample companies. It also reports the 

important items of disclosure as perceived by different types of UAE users, and the 

information disclosed by UAE firms in their annual reports. 

Chapter 7 reports the second part of the results using univariate analysis and the 

regression analysis. It also discusses the impact of corporate-specific variables on the 

extent of mandatory disclosure made by the sample firms. An overview of the research 

findings and limitations is provided in Chapter 8 which concludes with some 

recommendations and possible future research avenues.  
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Chapter Two 

Historical Background of the UAE Securities Market and Regulatory 

Reporting 

2.1 Introduction 

The United Arab Emirates (UAE), which was established in 1971, is a new country that 

heavily relies on oil as the main source of income. The government of the UAE has 

utilized oil revenues to build the infrastructure while also taking the lead in supporting 

and subsidizing the private sector. However, dramatic changes in circumstances, 

especially the volatility of oil prices, have forced the government to realize the need to 

diversify its income sources and not depend solely on oil. Hence, since 1980 the 

government of the UAE has also been studying the usefulness of establishing an official 

securities market which would expand and control the stock market and have a lasting 

impact on the national economy. 

The aim of this chapter is to provide a general descriptive background of the UAE 

Securities Market and also provide an overview of the UAE - as a country, its economy, 

and financial system. Although securities markets include different types of securities, 

the UAE securities market is confined to equity instruments and concentrates on stocks. 

The only other securities in the market are the Emirates Airlines bonds and Dubai 

Government bonds and both were listed on the Dubai Securities Market in 2002. Other 

than that, the UAE Securities Market has not experienced any other type of financial 

security such as bonds or derivatives. Therefore, this chapter concentrates on the stock 
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market in the UAE and the terms “securities market” and “stock market” are used 

interchangeably.  

This chapter is divided into seven sections.  Section 2.2 is an overview of the UAE as a 

country in general, the historical establishment of the state, its location and demographic 

overview. Section 2.3 explores the economy of the UAE, which is considered as one of 

the main oil providers in the world. Section 2.4 describes the UAE financial and banking 

systems. Section 2.5 covers the financial reporting environment in the UAE. Section 2.6 

explores the historical background of the UAE securities market and its development 

since 1980 up to the establishment of the official securities market in the year 2000. 

Section 2.7 contains the summary. 

2.2 The United Arab Emirates (UAE) 

On the second of December 1971 the United Arab Emirates (UAE) came into existence 

as a federal sovereign independent state. As a federation, it is comprised of seven 

Emirates, namely, Abu Dhabi (the Capital), Dubai, Sharjah, Ras Al-Khaimah, Ajman, 

Fujairah and Umm Al-Qaiwain. The UAE is situated along the south-eastern tip of the 

Arabian Peninsula (see Figure2.1). Qatar lies to the north-west, Saudi Arabia to the west, 

south and south-east and Oman to the south-east and north-east. Occupying a total area of 

about 83, 600 sq. km (32,400 sq. miles) the UAE has 700 km of coastline, 600 km along 

the Arabian Gulf and 100 km bordering the Gulf of Oman (UAE Offset 2003). 



The population of the UAE has increased from about 180,000 people in 1969 (Abu Dhabi 

Chamber of Commerce and Industry 2000) to about 4,200,300 people in 2006 (Central 

Bank of the UAE ‘CBUAE’-Annual Report 2006). In accordance with the constitution of 

the country, the highest authorities are the Federal Supreme Council, President, Vice 

President, Federal National Council, Cabinet of Ministers, and Federal Courts.  

Figure 2.1: Map of the UAE 

 

The two largest Emirates of the UAE are Abu Dhabi and Dubai which provide over 80% 

of the UAE’s income. In June 1996, the UAE’s Federal National Council approved a 

permanent constitution for the country. This replaced a provisional document, which had 

been renewed every five years since the country’s creation in 1971. The establishment of 

Abu Dhabi as the UAE’s permanent capital was one of the new framework’s main 

provisions.  
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2.3 The UAE Economy 

The UAE is important to world energy markets because it contains 98 billion barrels, or 

nearly 10%, of the world’s proven oil reserves. Abu Dhabi holds about 94% of this 

amount, or about 92 billion barrels. Dubai contains an estimated four billion barrels, 

followed by Sharjah and Ras Al-Khaimah, with one and a half billion and 100 million 

barrels of oil, respectively. The UAE also holds the world's fifth-largest natural gas 

reserves and exports significant amounts of liquefied natural gas. The overall 

performance of the UAE's economy is heavily dependent on oil exports, which account 

for nearly 30% of total gross domestic product (GDP) (Energy Information 

Administration 2004). 

Following the discovery of oil in the 1950s, over the last five decades there have been 

dramatic and enormous transformations in all spheres of life in the UAE both in terms of 

social and material advances. The UAE has the second largest economy and the highest 

per capita income in the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) countries (Table 2.1); the 

fourth highest per capita in the world (OFFSET 2003). The UAE GDP is around US $ 

162 billion (CBUAE 2006) and is expected to keep growing at a constant rate.  

The UAE has adopted a strategic investment policy that depends on stimulating the 

private sector. This policy has reflected positively on the structure of the national 

economy and secured a high standard in the services sector. Total investment in all 

sectors went up from US $463 million in 1972 (UAE Ministry of Economy and 
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Commerce 2003) to more than US $35 billion in 2006, achieving an average annual 

growth rate of 15% (CBUAE 2006). 

Table 2.1: Economic Indicators of GCC Countries-2006 

Country GDP  
(Billion US $) 

Population
 

Per Capita 
(Thousand US $) 

Kuwait  99 3,051,845  32 
Qatar  53 838,065   63 
Oman  36 2,577,062 14 
KSA 349 23,678,849 15 
KOB 16 742,562 21 
UAE 162 4,229,000 39 
GCC 715 35,000,000 20.4  

(Adapted from: GCC Website, <http://www.gcc-sg.org/index.php?action=GCC-         
ShowOne&CountryID=6>) 

Foreign trade has also had an important role in the development process. Since its 

establishment, the UAE opened its economy to the world in terms of importing and 

exporting products and services. In later years (1995-2006) and as a consequence of 

comprehensive developmental endeavours, the UAE has expanded its exports of non-oil 

products such as aluminium products, cement, garments and other agricultural products. 

Further the UAE has achieved a surplus in the trade balance, which has grown from US 

$818 million in 1972 to US $56.3 billion in 2006. This surplus, which is considered one 

of the most important pillars of the financial position of the country, was due to the 

increase in the value of exports from US $1.44 billion in 1972  to about US $96 billion in 

2006 (CBUAE 2006). Imports also increased from US $600 million in 1972 to US $98 

billion in 2006 (CBUAE 2006). 
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2.4 The UAE Financial System  

The financial system in the UAE is a reflection of the political system of the country in 

which there are federal and local organizations/authorities levels. At the federal level, 

there is the Ministry of Economy which has the prime role of organizing and overseeing 

the economy of the whole country. Also at the federal level is the CBUAE which is 

independent by virtue of the 1980 Federal Law concerning the CBUAE, the monetary 

system, and organization of banking sector (see Section 2.4.2).  

Under the Ministry of Economy comes the Emirates Securities and Commodities 

Authority (ESCA) which was established on January 2000 through the Federal Law 

4/2000. At the local organization/authority levels come Dubai Financial Market, Abu 

Dhabi Securities Market (the three entities are explained in more details in section 2.6.5), 

and Dubai Gold and Commodities Exchange (DGCX) which commenced trading in 

November 2005 as the regions first commodity derivatives exchange. The three markets 

are overseen by ESCA. 

There is another organization at the local level that is the Dubai International Financial 

Centre (DIFC), which was established in 2004 as a financial free-zone3. The DIFC does 

not report to ESCA and has restricted the types of activities permitted within the Centre 

to include: banking services, capital markets, asset management, reinsurance, Islamic 

finance, ancillary services, and business processing operations. Under its legislation, 

financial institutions, licensed to operate in DIFC, can conduct business with residents 

 
3 Free zone is an area with relaxed jurisdiction with respect to the country of location.  
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and non-residents of the UAE but when conducting banking activities, they are prohibited 

from transacting in the UAE Dirham4 and from accepting deposits in any currency.  

2.4.1 Strengths and Weaknesses of the UAE Financial Systems 

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) issued a Country Report (IMF 2007) to assess 

the stability of UAE’s financial system. Within this report, IMF highlighted the strengths 

and weaknesses of the UAE financial system as well as provided recommendations on 

how to improve its operations. One of the key strengths of the UAE is an outward-

oriented development strategy and prudent financial policies which have resulted in 

significant economic growth over the past few years and have also led to the 

accumulation of significant external financial assets.   

Moreover, due to high oil prices, sustained growth on a large scale and sturdy domestic 

demand, banks have flooded the financial system with ample credit. This has helped 

finance a number of major public and private construction projects. It should be noted 

that the banking sector as a whole enjoys comfortable levels of capitalization and profits 

and it is expected that any variety of shocks, including those to interest rates and 

exchange rates would not have a significant impact on their balance sheets. 

Finally, the authorities in the UAE have made good progress in strengthening supervision 

and regulation over the financial sector. Whilst overall regulatory responsibility lies with 

the Ministry of Economy, ESCA has been delegated as the regulator for the securities 

 
4 Dirham (AED) is the UAE currency and it approximately equals AU $.29 
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markets, whilst the CBUAE is responsible for regulating Banks and Financial Institutions 

and Dubai Financial Services Authority (DFSA) is responsible for regulating the 

companies at DIFC.  

ESCA has issued a new Code of Corporate Governance at the end of 2007 that is 

expected to enhance the corporate governance and disclosure requirements. The CBUAE 

also has introduced a comprehensive risk assessment approach and has been encouraging 

Banks to prepare for the implementation of Basel II. 

One key weakness of the UAE Financial System is that its equity markets lack a certain 

degree of depth and diversification (IMF 2007). Moreover, there has been a high degree 

of volatility in these markets. The market for debt instruments is also in its infancy stage. 

Of a more immediate concern is the sheer size of real estate development projects within 

the UAE, especially in Dubai. These raise concerns over the exposure of the financial 

sector to real estate.  

The IMF also highlighted the role of the UAE Government in the pricing of Initial Public 

Offerings (IPOs), and the impact this has on the liquidity in the country financial system.  

UAE’s IPOs are priced by the Ministry of Economy which sets a nominal value for the 

equity of the firm. In most cases, this would be the par value. This has resulted in equities 

being offered at a significantly undervalued price. In a rush to subscribe to these IPOs at 

the undervalued price, investors would unwind existing holdings in established 

companies resulting in further market volatility. 
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The impact of the miss-pricing of IPOs is further exacerbated by the exorbitant amount of 

leverage provided by banks in the UAE. Despite the CBUAE’s regulation which restricts 

banks exposure to equity market-related lending, many IPOs were significantly over-

subscribed, at times exceeding 800 times.  

2.4.2 The UAE Banking & Monetary Systems 

The financial and banking sector of the UAE has also played an influential role in socio-

economic development since the inception of the country, particularly through wide 

participation in building infrastructure of the country and financing trade deals. However, 

in spite of that, this sector has been responsible for some financial problems in the 1970s 

caused by the actions of some bankers related to a lack of legal and financial frameworks 

governing the financial sector. In response, the government took decisive action to 

alleviate these deficiencies by establishing the CBUAE of the UAE at the beginning of 

the 1980s.  

The UAE Banking and Monetary System can be divided into two main divisions as 

follows, each of which will be discussed in the following subsections (Figure 2.2): 

1. Banking System, which consists of two main bodies:  
• Central Bank of the UAE, and  
• Commercial and Non-Commercial banks 

 
2. Financial Institutions, which consist of four main sectors: 

• Financial and Development Institutions; 
• Financial and Currency Mediators; 
• Representative Offices; 
• Insurance Companies. 
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2.4.2.1 The UAE Banking System 

The banking law (Federal Decree No. 10 of 1980) specifies that the CBUAE has 

jurisdiction over commercial banks, investment banks, financial institutions, monetary 

and financial intermediaries, and representative offices. It is the responsibility of the 

CBUAE to formulate and implement the country's Banking, Credit and Monetary Policy 

in order to realize and achieve the Economic Policy objectives, including price stability, 

and to support the U.A.E. dirham, guaranteeing its value, stability and its free 

convertibility into all currencies.  

The banking sector is well capitalized and profitable. The banking system comprises 516 

branches of 21 domestic (national) commercial banks, 107 offices of 25 branches of 

foreign banks, and 274 offices of 108 money exchange houses. There are six commercial 

banks operating as Islamic banks and the number is expected to rise as the demand for 

Islamic banking services has increased considerably in the past decade. Of the 21 national 

banks, 15 have some UAE or Emirate governments’ ownership, though none is wholly 

owned. Of these 15, five are majority-owned, either separately or in combination with 

federal authorities, by an Emirate government or members of the ruling families (IMF 

2003; CBUAE 2006). 

 



Figure 2.2: UAE Banking and Monetary System 
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The non-national commercial banks are banks owned neither by UAE citizens nor the 

UAE government. These banks are mainly subsidiaries or branches of their main banks 

owned and established abroad. The activities of the non-national commercial banks in the 

UAE can be traced back to 1946 when the Middle East British Bank started its first 

branch in Dubai and then opened another branch in Abu Dhabi. The National Bank of 

Dubai started its activities in 1962 as the first national bank in the country followed by 

the Oman Limited Bank (currently Al-Mashreq) in 1967, and then by National Bank of 

Abu Dhabi in 1968. 

The UAE banking system has some specialist banks such as the Emirates Industrial Bank, 

which was established in 1982 by Federal Decree No. 1/82 as an independent entity with 

a capital of 500 million Dirham. The bank, in addition to providing economic studies for 

projects, aims to provide counselling and financing to industry. The banking system also 

includes investment banks such as the Emirates Limited Investment Bank. The 

investment banks are not allowed to accept deposits for less than two years and their 

strategy focuses on medium and long-term investments. 

2.4.2.2 Other UAE Financial Institutions 

The UAE financial system consists of financial institutions such as representative 

offices5, finance companies, and institutions specializing in economic development. 

There are 48 representative offices in the UAE and these representatives are neither 

 
5A representative office represents a foreign bank or any other foreign financial establishments in the UAE. 
Its operations are confined to providing its head office and its customers with the economic information          
about the UAE, and providing customers with banking and investment consultation services. 
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allowed to accept deposits, nor undertake any banking activities, nor represent any 

foreign banks unless such banks have been established for at least ten years. 

Finance companies are shareholding companies or subsidiaries to their mother company 

working in the loan and finance field. These companies are not allowed to undertake any 

banking activities, but are authorized to participate in already established projects or to 

finance new ones. There are five finance companies with 15 branches in the UAE.  

The financial system also has some institutions specializing in economic development 

such as the UAE Bank for Development, Abu Dhabi Authority for Economic 

Development and Abu Dhabi Investment Authority. The UAE Bank for Development 

was established to provide loans and financial services in agricultural and industrial 

fields. The Abu Dhabi Authority for Economic Development was established in 1973 to 

provide loans and to participate in development projects in Arab and African countries. 

The Abu Dhabi Investment Authority was established in 1976 to provide investment to 

the Emirate of Abu Dhabi and to utilize the surplus financial resources in investment. 

Additionally, the financial system consists of a large number of money exchange houses. 

These houses specialize in foreign currencies, currency transfers, and other exchange 

operations. The money exchange houses are overseen by the CBUAE which requires half 

a million UAE Dirham as a minimum capital guarantee for houses not able to issue drafts 

and one million UAE Dirham for houses that are able to issue drafts. 
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The financial system in the UAE also includes insurance companies. The insurance sector 

has developed and expanded due to the economic development of the country and the 

Ministry of Economy supervises the industry. There are 47 insurance companies 

operating in the UAE, of which 21 are locally incorporated companies totally owned by 

UAE nationals plus 26 branches of foreign companies. The national companies are 

largely involved in non-life classifications, while the foreign companies dominate life 

insurance. Restrictions on insurance companies include a requirement that 35% of their 

domestic assets be held in deposit accounts with commercial banks, although in practice 

this figure is closer to 50% (CBUAE 2006). 

2.5 Financial Reporting Environment in the UAE 

Due to a variety of legal, economic, political and cultural factors (e.g., Perera 1989; 

Archambault & Archambault 2003), the UAE has its own distinct disclosure reporting 

practices which differ from other countries.  For example, there are five Islamic banks 

operating in the UAE. These banks have their own system which is based on Islamic 

principles where interest is prohibited. Hence, these banks have specific reporting 

requirements such as to report whether they are required to pay Zakat6. However, the 

UAE does not legally mandate accounting standards with the exception of the banking 

sector.  

Four forces have shaped financial reporting requirements and practice in the UAE, 

namely, the Ministry of Economy, CBUAE, ESCA, and DIFC. The Ministry of Economy 

 
6 Zakat is a religious tax in Islam.  
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issued the Companies Law No. 8/1984 and its amendments No. 13/1988, both of which 

require firms to maintain records of their operations and to provide audited financial 

statements to the Ministry and to other authorities concerned.  

The Companies Law No. 8/1984 and its amendments do not specify any particular 

accounting standards, format, or information items that should be reported in financial 

statements. The basic guideline is that accounting practices should be based on generally 

accepted accounting principles and practice. However, Article 190 of the Law states that 

the board of directors should prepare the company balance sheet, a profit and loss 

account, a report on company activities during the previous financial year, and the 

proposal for net profit distribution. 

The second force is CBUAE which issued Provision No. 445/1988 requiring financial 

institutions to prepare their audited financial statements in accordance with the format 

prepared by the CBUAE. Several years later, the CBUAE issued Circular No. 20/1999 in 

which all banks and financial institutions were required to adopt the IAS/IFRS in their 

annual reports. Since then, all firms reporting to the CBUAE prepare their financial 

statements in accordance with the IFRS. 

The third force is ESCA, which was established by Federal Law No. 4/2000 on the 29th 

of January 2000. ESCA requires all listed firms to report their reviewed (unaudited) 

interim financial statements quarterly as well as their audited annual financial statements 

by the end of their financial year. Articles Nos. 29, 31, and 36 of Regulation No. 3/2000 

stipulate that listed firms and those applying to be listed have to report to ESCA and to 
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make their financial statements available to public. Even though the Federal Law gives 

ESCA the right to regulate disclosure and other transparency practices, there are limited 

disclosure requirements that listed companies must adhere to.  

The fourth force is the DIFC, which was established in 2004 as a financial free-zone. The 

legal framework at DIFC requires that all banks, companies and financial institutions 

listed on the NASDAQ Dubai (formerly known as Dubai International Foreign 

Exchange-DIFX) adopt IFRS. Additionally, accounts of limited liability companies and 

limited liability partnerships within the jurisdiction of the DIFC should be prepared in 

accordance with accounting principles/standards approved by the Registrar of Companies 

at DIFC. However, the law does not stipulate any statutory financial, accounting, or audit 

requirements with respect to general partnerships.  

It is worth noting that although there is an accounting body in the UAE called the UAE 

Accountants and Auditors Association (AAA), this association has not issued any 

national standards as it has no official role in regulating the profession. Hence, the 

accounting profession is not well-organized and there are no specific professional 

standards with which UAE firms and auditors can comply. 

Moreover, the UAE neither has specific statutory requirements on auditing nor any 

auditing standards as no auditing oversight body has been established. The Ministry of 

Economy is responsible for overall regulations. The CBUAE mandates that banks, 

financial institutions, and investment companies in the UAE should have their financial 

statements audited by an independent auditor on an annual basis. ESCA also requires that 
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all companies listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Market and the Dubai Financial Market 

should have their financial statements reviewed by an independent auditor on a quarterly 

basis and audited by an independent auditor on an annual basis. 

DFSA requires financial statements to be audited by a professional auditor. Standards 

that may be used include the standards stipulated by the International Auditing and 

Assurance Standards Board, the standards stipulated by the Accounting and Auditing 

Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions, or any other auditing standards that are 

recognized by the DFSA. Limited liability companies, within the jurisdiction of the 

DIFC, must appoint an independent auditor, whilst limited liability partnerships should 

appoint an auditing firm that is registered with the DIFC through the DFSA. The 

accounts and auditors' report must be filed with the Registrar of Companies.  

2.6 Development of the UAE Securities Market 

2.6.1 Overview 

Given the benefits to economically advanced nations, the capital market is more essential 

for developing countries that seek to build and to protect the national economy from 

instability or minority control over the supply of capital (AICPA 1991). The UAE, as one 

of these developing countries, had since 1980 been considering the establishment of an 

official securities market that would control the stock market and have a lasting impact 

on the national economy.  
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The following sections explore the historical background of the UAE primary and 

secondary securities (stock) market and it also explores the debate regarding the 

development of the market, which can be classified into three stages: 

• Stage one: from 1959 to 1982 
• Stage two: from 1983 to 1992 
• Stage three: from 1993 to 2000 

2.6.2 Stage One 1959 - 1982 

The primary stock market in the UAE started in the late 1950s. However, it was not well-

organized and had a different concept from the current securities market. The first public 

joint stock company in 1959 was Dubai Beverages Company with a capital of two 

million dirham. Then several public joint stock companies were established such as the 

Dubai National Bank in 1962, Oman Limited Bank (currently Al-Mashreq) in 1967, Abu 

Dhabi National Bank in 1968, and National Cement Company in 1968.  

The emergence of the CBUAE was a significant point for establishing the UAE 

Securities Market. The CBUAE’s effort to establish an official securities market started 

on 25th of July 1981 when the Governor of the CBUAE announced that the CBUAE 

would participate in a study concerning the prospects of establishing an official securities 

market. On 10th of January 1982, the CBUAE requested the assistance of International 

Finance Corporation (IFC) experts to explore an appropriate method for establishing an 

official securities market. Between 12th April and 13th May 1982, the IFC experts held 

meetings with UAE officials to discuss the prospects for establishing the UAE official 
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securities market. Then, on 7th July 1982 the IFC submitted to the Governor of the 

CBUAE a report concerning the possibilities for the development of a securities market 

in the UAE.  

In October 1982, the Al-Manakh Securities Market, which was the parallel and unofficial 

Kuwaiti securities market, collapsed. This situation led to the collapse of most of the 

companies in the Kuwaiti market and in turn led UAE investors in these companies to 

lose billions of dirham. This Kuwaiti crisis alerted the UAE government to the risk 

arising from the lack of a comprehensive regulative framework for organizing the 

economy and securities market sector (Al-Shayeb 1999). 

This period was characterized by a significant increase in oil returns and liquidity. This 

increase in oil prices (average of US $36) between 1975 and 1980 led to significant 

economic growth reflected in a large increase in income and the incorporation of a large 

volume of shareholding companies. The number of public joint companies at the end of 

1982 stood at 80 companies with capital of US $2.8 billion. Gulf citizens contributed in 

establishing about 40 of these companies in the UAE (Bin Sabt 2000). This period was 

also characterized by the lack of a legal and organizational framework to regulate and 

control the emerging market. The disorganization was due to the absence of rules and 

regulations governing subscription and floating procedures for incorporating public joint 

companies.  

The secondary market during this period can be recognized as small in its activity 

compared to other GCC counterparts such as the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and Kuwait. 
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The trading in shares during this period flourished from the mid-seventies to the 

beginning of the 1980s when, the Kuwaiti crisis - the collapse in the Al-Manakh Market 

in 1982 - took place. This collapse not only hindered the development of the UAE 

primary securities market, but also had a destructive effect on the UAE secondary market 

as it slowed down the trading volume and most share prices declined significantly.  

2.6.3 Stage Two 1983 - 1992 

This period witnessed the consequences of the fallout from the Al-Manakh Market in 

1982, and also the collapse of oil prices in 1986. These crises had destructive effects not 

only on the UAE economy but also on the other Gulf countries and led to loss of 

confidence in the securities market and were portent to the beginning of the economic 

recession in the region. During this period there were only five initial public offerings 

(IPO) with capital of US $70 million (Bin Sabt 2000).  

The second crisis that had an effect on the securities market and the economies of the 

GCC countries during this period was the collapse of oil prices in 1986. Oil prices fell to 

a low of US $8 from US $36 per barrel, i.e. by approximately 78% which induced a 

negative effect on the economies of all GCC countries. This period from 1985 to 1987 

witnessed a slow down in the processing of the UAE Securities Market Bill through the 

legislative process. This was attributed to the necessity of issuing the Companies Act as a 

required precondition for the proper operation of the securities market. The 

Undersecretary of the Ministry of Economy, Al-Ghanim, argued that it would not be 

possible to establish an official securities market without implementing all the economic 
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laws and regulations, in particular the Companies Act (Al-Khaleej Newspaper 21st 

January 1982, p. 3). 

This period also witnessed the enactment of some legal Federal Decrees such as Federal 

Decree No. 8/1984 concerning commercial companies, Federal Decree No. 9/1984 

concerning insurance companies and Federal Decree No. 6/1985 concerning Islamic 

banks and financial institutions. Also On 21st February 1988, the CBUAE issued 

Decision No. 6/88 that defined brokerage services and restricted share trading activities 

to nationals. These Federal Decrees and Decision complemented the legal framework for 

the establishment of the UAE securities market. 

During this period, from the beginning of the1980s to the beginning of the1990s, the 

primary market was less active with the shares of only five companies floated. It can be 

characterized by: (1) a lack of corporate investment opportunities; (2) most private 

companies were established as family companies; (3) public joint stock companies 

predominantly owned by federal or local government were small in proportion to the 

UAE GDP; (4) an insufficient match between available funds and investment 

opportunities; and (5) new stock flotations which were inconsistent with the availability 

of the higher rates on savings deposits (Al-Dabas 1995). The UAE secondary market was 

also considered small in its activity volume compared to its GCC counterparts. Hence, 

absence of an organized securities market led to a lack of accurate information 

concerning the volume of traded stocks, which was not expected to exceed 2% to 3% as a 

yearly turnover.  
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2.6.4 Stage Three 1993 - 2000  

This period (1993-2000) witnessed the escalation of initial public offerings (IPOs) in new 

public joint companies. There were 27 IPOs for new companies with total capital of 

about US $2.5 billion. This period also witnessed a major completion of the infrastructure 

of the economy as most of the economic regulatory framework was established and the 

companies sector was organized.  

During the 1990s, the CBUAE continued its efforts to organize and regulate the 

brokerage sector, and on 10th of October 1995, the CBUAE issued Decision No. 

126/1995 concerning the organization of the brokerage sector. The Decision prohibits any 

person or institution from providing brokerage services unless authorized by the CBUAE. 

It also restricted broker mediation to selling and buying shares to local and foreign bonds, 

currency and goods, and to market operation mediation. 

The year 1998 witnessed some major events that accelerated the establishment of the 

official securities market. During 1998 there were 12 new IPOs, whose par value 

amounted to about US $7.4 billion. This was an extraordinary event in the history of the 

UAE securities market to establish 12 new companies within a nine months period, and 

due to the absence of an official securities market, coupled with easy bank loan facilities 

and a lack of fair share pricing mechanism, there was great speculation in the unofficial 

securities market.  
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The market capitalization in August and September 1998 for about 44 stocks rose from 

US $ 47 to US $64 billion. This surge did not last long as in December 1998 the market 

capitalization fell to US $34 billion and by the end of 1999 it reached US $ 28 billion, a 

decrease of about 56% within 15 months (UAE Ministry of Planning 2003). Share prices 

turned down sharply even with some stock prices becoming even lower than their par 

value. This great volatility in share prices led to severe financial losses for some local 

investors. The Governor of the CBUAE attributed this speculation to insufficient 

information and to the lack of a legal framework (Al-Shayeb 1999). He also announced 

that an official securities market could be set up within the next two to three months. 

The 1998 summer crisis, which was called the “Black Summer” (Al-Shayeb 2003, 

p.109), had a severe impact on both the economy and the securities market. UAE officials 

interacted with this crisis and started to take corrective action towards protecting the 

national economy and establishing an official securities market.  Then on 17th October 

1998, the Crown Prince of Dubai and the UAE Minister of Defence announced the plan 

to create a stock trading floor and clearing house between Dubai and Abu Dhabi. He said: 

‘The aim is to organize this vital financial sector and to protect it from any fraud or 

negative aspects that might emerge from time to time’ (Gulf Newspaper 18th October 

1998).  

On 29th January 2000 Federal Decree No. 4/2000 was issued concerning the 

establishment of The UAE Securities and Commodities Authority (ESCA). The 

Authority is considered the highest level of authority to organize and control the 

securities market in the UAE. The Decree allowed the establishment of several trading 
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floors among the Emirates on condition that these trading floors should be electronically 

connected. This decree concluded the era of unorganized securities trading and facilitated 

the launch of the Dubai Financial Market (DFM) on 26th March 2000 and the Abu Dhabi 

Securities Market (ADSM) on 15th November 2000. 

In conclusion, the UAE securities market in this period (1993-2000) was characterized by 

the following features: (1) the securities market operated in an unorganized manner till 

2000 when ESCA, DFM, and ADSM were established; (2) the traded volume of shares 

was small (yearly turnover value was about 4%-5%); (3) the trade in this market was 

restricted to shares, rather than other financial instruments, such as bonds or treasury bills 

issued by the government; (4) most shareholding companies were owned by UAE 

nationals since the Articles of Association of most of the public joint companies prohibit 

non-nationals from owning shares in local companies (Al-Shayeb 1999). This situation 

has changed recently as some companies have amended their Articles of Association to 

allow non-nationals to own shares up to a specific percentage (e.g. Emmar has allowed 

20%, Al-Waha has allowed 40%). Also the UAE Cabinet recently allowed GCC nationals 

to trade in the UAE securities markets. 

2.6.5 The Structural Framework of the UAE Securities Market 

The structural framework of the securities market in the UAE comprises of:  

• UAE Securities and Commodities Authority (ESCA);  
• Abu Dhabi Securities Market (ADSM); 
• Dubai Financial Market (DFM). 
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ESCA is the highest federal authority in the UAE securities market and is managed by a 

Board of Directors chaired by the Minister of Economy and six well experienced 

members who are nominated by the Chairman. The Authority is an independent legal 

entity and enjoys financial and administrative independence with the control and 

executive powers necessary for it to discharge its tasks in line with the provisions of 

Federal Decree 4/2000 and the regulations issued in implementation thereof. ESCA, 

within the last few years, has played a remarkable role on laying out the securities market 

infrastructure in the UAE through an integrated series of legislations and regulations that 

positively helped to maintain sound transactions and dealings in the securities market.  

The role of the Authority can be extracted from its goals which are: (1) to regulate and 

monitor the licensing of securities in the market; (2) to improve the efficiency of the 

Financial Market and protect investors from unfair and incorrect practices; (3) to provide 

opportunities for the investment of available cash and saving; (4) to ensure smooth and 

prompt liquidation of the money invested in securities and also to ensure the interaction 

of the demand and supply elements with a view to determining the prices of these 

securities and protecting small investors through consolidating the bases of sound and fair 

dealing among the different categories of investors; and (5) to consolidate professional 

behaviour, with self-control and rules of discipline among brokers and those dealing in 

securities.  

ADSM was established on 15 November 2000 by Local Law No. 3/2000. The Law vests 

the ADSM to enjoy a separate corporate identity and it is financially and administratively 

autonomous; having all necessary regulatory and executive powers to meet its objectives. 



  

 

36

Moreover, ADSM has the authority to establish centres and branches outside the Emirate 

of Abu Dhabi. To date it has done so in Fujeirah, Ras al Khaimah and Sharjah (ADSM 

2005).  

DFM was established as an independent public entity on 26th of March 2000. DFM is 

operating as a secondary market for the trading of securities issued by public 

shareholding companies, bonds issued by the Federal Government or any of the Local 

Governments and public institutions in the country, units of investment funds and any 

other financial instruments, local or foreign, which are accepted by the Market (DFM 

2005). 

Each market is run by a separate board of directors nominated by the local authority in 

each Emirate. The legal provisions of both markets give them with the necessary 

supervisory and executive powers to exercise their functions to: (1) provide opportunities 

to invest savings and funds in securities in order to benefit the national economy; (2) 

impose stringent controls over securities transactions to ensure the sound conduct of 

procedure; (3) protect investors through establishing fair and proper dealing principles 

between various investors; (4) ensure financial and economic stability and develop 

trading methods in order to ensure liquidity and stability of prices of securities listed on 

the market.  

Since their inauguration ADSM and DFM have recorded marked growth in all 

performance indicators. Trading volume, number of traded shares, number of deals, 

number and market capitalization of listed companies have persistently increased. The 
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market capitalization of both markets reached US $224 billion in 2007 compared to US 

$139 billion in 2006 (ESCA 2007). The number of public joint stock companies in the 

UAE by the end of December 2006 was 153 distributed among 4 sectors (Table 2.2). 

Also there are 106 licensed brokerage houses which operate in both the ADSM and 

DFM.  

Table 2.2: Public Joint stock companies by sector as of 12/2006 (Million AED) 

Sector Companies Total 
 Listed Unlisted  
Banking  22 3 25 
Insurance 23 1 24 
Services 36 32 68 
Industries 27 9 36 
Total 108 45 153 

(Source: UAE Ministry of Economy 2007) 

2.7 Chapter Summary 

The United Arab Emirates (UAE), which was established in 1971, is a new country that 

relies heavily on oil as the main source of income. The overall performance of the UAE's 

economy is heavily dependent on oil exports, which account for nearly 30% of GDP. 

Since its establishment, the UAE has devoted significant effort to adopting a free 

economy approach which is characterized by (a) open markets; (b) free transformation of 

investments; and (c) more opportunities for the private sector to participate in the national 

economy.  

The UAE realized the necessity and the importance of establishing an official securities 

market to build a strong economy. Since 1980, the UAE government had considered 
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establishing an official securities market. The history of the UAE securities market can be 

classified into thee stages:  

• Stage one: from 1959 to 1982 
• Stage two: from 1983 to 1992 
• Stage three: from 1993 to 2000 

During the 1980s, most of the UAE Government’s attention was directed towards 

building the national economy as its first priority. It was considered quite impractical to 

establish a securities market without organizing the companies sector. On the other hand, 

during the 1990s and early 2000s more attention was paid to establishing an official 

securities market. The UAE government finalized building the national economy and 

financial infrastructure. Most economic regulatory frameworks had been put in place and 

the companies sector had been organized. Also there was firm ground on which to call for 

the establishment of an official securities market as there was a large number of 

shareholding companies eligible for listing. 

On 29th January 2000 Federal Decree No. 4/2000 was issued concerning the 

establishment of ESCA which is considered the highest level of authority to organize and 

control the securities market in the UAE. This decree put an end to the era of the 

unorganized securities trading and facilitated the launch of DFM on 26th March 2000 and 

ADSM on 15th November 2000. 

There were various political and economic events that affected the establishment of the 

UAE official securities market during the 1980s and 1990s. These events, such as the 

First Gulf War, Second Gulf War, Al-Manakh Crisis, the recession of the 1980s, and the 
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collapse of oil prices in 1986 and 1998, played an influential role in undermining the 

establishment of the UAE securities market. Also, The UAE securities market in 1998 

witnessed a big collapse called the “Black Summer” (Al-Shayeb 2003) when stock prices 

turned down sharply and some stock prices became lower than their par value causing 

substantial financial losses to many investors.   

This chapter has explored the historical background of the UAE securities market and the 

financial system. The next chapter is about the literature review of corporate financial 

disclosure that is related to this study. 

 

 

 



Chapter Three 

Corporate Financial Disclosure: Concepts and the Relationship 

Between Firms’ Characteristics and Levels of Disclosure 

3.1 Introduction 

The adequacy and quality of information disclosed in corporate annual reports have 

received much attention in the last four decades, mostly in developed countries. The 

relationship between the extent/quality of disclosure in corporate annual reports and 

characteristics of firms has been examined in literature. Most of the studies in this 

area have used an index methodology, which is based on developing a general index 

and relating it to a number of explanatory variables such as asset size, number of 

shareholders, profitability, and listing status in order to explain the cross-sectional 

variation in the extent of disclosure in corporate annual reports.  

This chapter reviews literature on corporate disclosure. It concentrates on reviewing 

previous studies that used index methodology to assess the extent and the quality of 

corporate financial disclosure. Section 3.2 discusses the importance of corporate 

disclosure and its relationship with the securities market, while the definition of 

corporate disclosure is in Section 3.3. The classification of firm characteristics and the 

level of disclosure are addressed in Section 3.4. Given that literature on corporate 

disclosure is rich and substantial, review of previous studies in developed and 

developing countries as well as cross-nation studies is covered in Section 3.5. A 

discussion on differences between previous studies is made in Section 3.6, while 

Section 3.7 outlines the limitations of previous studies. The chapter concludes with a 

summary in Section 3.8. 

 40



3.2 The Importance of Corporate Disclosure  

The importance of corporate disclosure and the need to improve such disclosure 

increased greatly during the second half of the 20th century among developed 

countries. There are several reasons for this development: (1) the growth of 

multinational business companies; (2) the formation of large companies and the 

separation of management from ownership; (3) the development of capital markets 

and wider ownerships of companies; and (4) the increased interest in companies’ 

affairs and performance of various (Abu-Nassar 1993). The importance of corporate 

disclosure can be examined from three different aspects: economic, financial markets, 

and disclosing firm. 

3.2.1 Economic Aspect 

Business reporting impacts the economy in three ways (AICPA 1991). First, business 

reporting provides users with information about the liquidity of capital markets. A 

more liquid market assists the effective allocation of capital by allowing users to 

reallocate their capital quickly. Second, business reporting reduces uncertainty and 

risks, thereby lowering capital costs. Lower capital costs promote better investment, 

which is assumed to increase productivity and economic growth. Finally, informative 

disclosure increases the likelihood and dimensions of supporting the most productive 

companies that can contribute most to economic growth and national competitiveness 

which in turn benefit society as a whole. 

In addition, business reporting provides users with consumer protection. This 

protection is seen through the provision to consumers of adequate and timely 
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information, which is good for the economy and is part of corporate accountability to 

society as a whole. Disclosure in this sense can be seen as protective disclosure (Wolk 

et al. 1992), which aims to safeguard the financial society, in particular 

unsophisticated investors who have limited ability to obtain information and who 

depend on financial statements as their primary source of information. Moreover, 

disclosure ensures fairness to users as it reduces the need to rely on inside information 

which may benefit a particular group (Moore 1990; Beams, Brown & Killough 2003).  

3.2.2 Financial Markets Aspect 

The importance of corporate disclosure lies in the assumption that there is a positive 

relationship between increased disclosure and the efficiency of national financial 

markets (Barrett 1977; GAO 2008). This efficiency is achieved when information 

about the securities traded in that market is accessible to market participants at 

relatively low cost, and the prices of securities being traded incorporate all the 

relevant information which can be acquired (Dixon & Holmes 1991). Thus, the ability 

of the financial markets to accurately reflect the value of a company is influenced by 

the quality of disclosure. 

Disclosure in this sense is essential to the efficiency of financial markets, which in 

turn promotes economic development and growth in several ways, especially in 

emerging economies (Gill & Tropper 1988). First, financial markets secure the 

stability of a country’s financial system and economy by reducing the vulnerability of 

firms to a high cost of capital, while at the same time equity financing allows firms to 

adjust payment levels to suit their needs and provides them with permanent finance. 

Second, financial markets promote growth and employment by providing finance to 

 42



firms. Third, financial markets promote democratic ownership of industry by 

distributing the ownership of securities more widely among the public. Fourth, the 

development of efficient and liquid local financial markets facilitates access to 

international financial markets which in turn fosters the development of a broader 

financial market. Fifth, efficient and well-regulated financial markets increase 

economic efficiency by establishing fair values for securities.  

3.2.3 Disclosing Firms Aspect 

Gray and Roberts (1989) argue that a financial market is perceived by firms to have 

the dominant role in fostering corporate disclosure, which in turn, improves the firm’s 

image and reputation. In this respect, companies have incentives to disclose 

information to communicate their high performance and distinguish themselves from 

other, lower performing firms. In addition, disclosure can be seen as an efficient 

mechanism that management can use to lessen the agency costs, which may arise 

because of the separation of ownership from control. Moreover, increased disclosure 

results in a lower cost of capital because of a lower risk expected by creditors and 

investors (Botosan 1997; Foster 2003). 

Various studies have concluded that greater levels of disclosure would have a 

favourable impact on a firm’s cost of capital (e.g. Barry & Brown 1985; Diamund & 

Verrecchia 1991; Botosan 1997; Healy & Palepu 2001; Graham et al. 2005; 

Poshakwale & Courtis 2005). For example, Barry and Brown (1985) found that 

increased disclosure tended to reduce a firm’s cost of capital. They concluded that a 

lower systematic risk (beta) was associated with high levels of information. In this 

regard, they stated (p. 412) that ‘increased disclosure reduces uncertainty and may 
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result in a reduction in a firm’s risk. A major benefit of this risk reduction is a lower 

cost of capital’.  

Increased disclosure tends to reduce the surprise element about a firm by allowing for 

better predictions of its operations (Spero 1979). Suwaidan (1997) also added that a 

well-informed investment community tended to lower the level of speculation in the 

market-place about the future prospects of a company. Also, keeping participants in 

securities markets well-informed is more likely to result in a favourable impact on the 

company’s share price (Frankel et al. 1995; Piotroski 1999). Another benefit of 

increasing disclosure is to promote the selling of a new issue of shares (Gelb & 

Strawser 2001; Lee et al. 2003) as well as to increase trading of its shares in 

secondary markets. Sufficient information about a company will secure more funds at 

a reasonable rate. As Mueller et al (1987, p.68) stated: ‘failure to make reasonable 

disclosure in response to user needs can severely limit the pool of funds available to a 

corporation’.  

3.3 Definition of Corporate Disclosure 

Like any social science research, defining and measuring the concept of corporate 

disclosure is difficult and may be arbitrary (Abu-Nassar 1993). This is because we are 

measuring people’s needs, perceptions and attitudes which are qualitative rather than 

quantitative. According to Cooke and Wallace (1989, p. 51) ‘…disclosure is an 

abstract concept that cannot be measured directly. It does not possess inherent 

characteristics by which one can determine its intensity or quality like the capacity of 

a car’. 
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Definition of disclosure varies and the concept itself covers a wide area. It goes 

beyond the corporate annual reports to cover information outside the financial 

statements, such as discussion of competition, economic statistics, and analysis of a 

company. Several researchers (e.g., Gibbins et al. 1990; Wolk et al. 1992; and 

Hendriksen & Van Breeda 1992) attempted to provide a definition of the concept of 

disclosure. Owsus-Ansah (1998b, p. 608), for example, believed that the term 

“disclosure” can be referred to as the communication of economic information, 

whether financial or non-financial, quantitative or otherwise concerning a company’s 

financial position and performance that facilitates the making of economic decisions.  

3.4 Firm Characteristics and the Level of Disclosure  

Corporate financial reporting and disclosure practices are not developed in a vacuum 

(Haniffa & Cooke 2002), but rather reflect the underlying mix of factors and 

characteristics (Archambault & Archambault 2003) that need to be examined in order 

to thoroughly understand disclosure options. A variety of firm characteristics have 

been examined to explain variations in corporate financial disclosure and to 

understand disclosure practices.  

The association between firm characteristics and the level of disclosure in corporate 

annual reports has been empirically examined since 1961. Firm characteristics that 

have been examined as possible determinants of the extent of disclosure ranged from 

two characteristics: net sales and industry type (Stanga 1976) to 31 variables such as 

firm size, profitability, and listing (Haniffa & Cooke 2002). Information items 

forming the basis of the disclosure index in previous studies also varied from a 

minimum of 17 items (Barrett 1976) to a maximum of 530 (Craig & Diga 1998). Of 
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the different firm characteristics, firm size, listing status, leverage, profitability and 

size of audit firm have been the most common variables used to determine disclosure 

level.  

Previous studies (see for example, Lang & Lundholm 1993; Wallace et al. 1994; 

Naser et al. 2002; Haniffa & Cooke 2002) have used different variables/characteristics 

which can be classified into seven categories: market, performance, structure, 

corporate governance, culture, national system, and others. It is worth noting that 

these categories are not mutually exclusive. For example, market capitalization (a 

market-related variable) is also used as a structure-related variable (Wallace & Naser 

1995). Each of these categories is briefly discussed in the following subsections. 

3.4.1 Structure-Related Variables 

Structure-related variables describe a firm on the basis of its underlying structure and 

are likely to remain stable over time (Lang & Lundholm 1993). While a number of 

structure-related variables have been tested in relevant literature, firm size, leverage, 

and spread of ownership were the common ones.  

Firm size, which can be measured by the total book value of assets, total market value 

of the firm, total revenue or total number of shareholders, has been used by a number 

of studies to explain the variation of disclosure practices among firms. While 

researchers have found that firm size is an important determinant of corporate 

disclosure level, the theoretical explanation for such a relationship is not clear 

(Archambault & Archambault 2003). Theoretical arguments suggest that large firms 

are visible and are generally exposed to more political pressures (Wallace et al. 1994). 
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Such firms may reduce the likelihood of these pressures by disclosing less 

information (Jensen & Meckling 1978; Watts & Zimmerman 1986).  

On the other hand, several reasons have been reported in the literature supporting the 

possible positive association between the size of a firm and the extent of its 

disclosure. For instance, larger firms have more expertise and financial resources to 

facilitate generating and disseminating more information than smaller firms (Owusu-

Ansah 1998b). The incremental cost of supplying non-proprietary data to the public is 

likely to be minimal for large firms (Dye 1985; 1986; 1990; Owusu-Ansah 1998b). In 

addition, gathering and disseminating information are costly practices and may be too 

burdensome for small firms (Wallace & Naser 1995; Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1995; 

Naser et al. 2002; Camfferman & Cooke 2002).  

Firm size has been found to be significantly and positively associated with disclosure 

levels in developed countries (e.g., Firth 1979b; McNally et al. 1982; Cooke 1989a, 

1989b, 1992; Wallace et al 1994; Zarzeski 1996; Inchausti 1997; Archambault & 

Archambault 2003; Eng & Mak 2003). Similar results have also been found in 

developing countries (see, for example, Chow & Wong-Boren 1987, Tai et al. 1990, 

Ahmed & Nicholls 1994, Hossain et al. 1994, Wallace 1987, Naser 1998, Al-Mulhem 

1997, Al-Hussaini 2001, Naser et al. 2002; and Alsaeed 2005). 

Leverage can be measured by book value of debts to shareholders’ equity or book 

value of debts to total assets. Previous studies (e.g., Chow & Wong-Boren 1987; 

Wallace et al. 1994; Naser et al. 2002) have argued that since highly leveraged firms 

incur more information costs, they would seek to reduce these costs by disclosing 

more information in their corporate annual reports. Also, highly geared firms have an 
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obligation to provide more information in their annual reports to satisfy the 

information needs of their creditors (Wallace et al. 1994; Meek et al. 1995).  

The empirical evidence from previous studies has shown inconclusive results 

concerning the leverage variable. While some studies have found a significant 

association between high leverage and the level of disclosure (e.g., Malone et al. 

1993; Hossain et al. 1994; Jaggi & Low 2000; Archambault & Archambault 2003; 

Eng & Mak 2003), other studies have reported no such association (e.g., Chow & 

Wong-Boren 1987; Ahmed & Nicholls 1994; Wallace et al. 1994; Wallace & Naser 

1995; Hossain et al. 1995; Raffournier 1995; Alsaeed 2005). Some studies reported a 

negative relationship (e.g., Meek et al. 1995; Zarzeski 1996).  

Spread of ownership has also been one of the structure-related variables tested in 

relation to disclosure level. However results were inconclusive. According to Wallace 

(1989), shareholders vary in their needs for information. Moreover, firms with a wide 

spread of ownership are subject to more pressure (McKinnon & Dalimunthe 1993; 

Hossain et al. 1994; Owsus-Ansah 1998b) from different parties in financial markets 

for more information because these firms are more in the “public eye” (Al-Mulhem 

1997). On the other hand, some researchers (Craswell & Taylor 1992; Solas 1994; 

Dumontier & Raffournier 1998; and Alsaeed 2005) argue that investors with a large 

percentage of ownership of a firm are more able to obtain information directly from 

the firm. Thus, the need for corporate disclosure may decrease. 

Other studies examined the association of the level of disclosure with the relationship 

of a firm to its parent company. Empirical evidence on the direction of such an 

association is mixed. For example, while Cooke (1989a, 1989b) reported no such 
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relationship, Wallace (1987) and Ahmed and Nicholls (1994) found a significant 

relationship between these two variables. 

3.4.2 Performance-Related Variables 

Performance-related variables represent information to which management may have 

preferential access and which varies from time to time (Lang & Lundholm 1993). 

Performance-related variables may include profitability and liquidity. Firms may 

release information to signal performance (e.g., Ross 1979; Benston 1980; Suwaidan 

1997; Hsiang-Tsai 2005; Chin-Bun 2005). Also, management may want to assure 

shareholders of the firm’s profitability to justify management’s compensation 

(Singhvi & Desai 1971; Lim et al. 2007). Lang & Lundholm (1993) argue that if 

performance serves as a proxy for information asymmetries between investors and 

managers, then disclosure may be related to the variability of a firm’s performance. 

This means that disclosures increase when perceived management and investor 

information asymmetry is high. 

Theoretically, management tends to disclose more information when firms are 

performing well than when they are performing poorly (Wallace et al. 1994). Also, in 

the presence of disclosure costs, firms disclose more information as their performance 

exceeds a certain threshold. Based on the signalling theory, researchers argued that a 

firm with a higher profitability is inclined to disclose more information in its annual 

report to signal to the market its superior performance (e.g., Cooke 1989a, 1989b; 

Wallace et al. 1994; Wallace & Naser 1995; Archambault & Archambault 2003). On 

the other hand, firms may voluntarily disclose information in order to justify their 

unexpected poor performance and to reduce the likelihood of a substantial negative 
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stock price response in the event that a particular piece of information becomes a 

mandatory disclosure item (Skinner 1995).  

Empirical evidence on the direction between firm performance and disclosure is 

mixed and inconclusive. While some studies (e.g., Penman 1980; Wallace et al. 1994; 

Lev & Penman 1990; Naser 1998; Naser & Al-Khatib 2000; Naser et al. 2002) 

reported that firms tended to disclose more information when they were experiencing 

favourable earnings results, others (Wallace & Naser 1995) reported a negative and 

significant association between the two variables (Wallace et al. 1994; Naser et al. 

2002). Interestingly, some studies provided evidence that firms were more likely to 

disclose bad news than good news (Belkaoui & Kahl 1978; Ajinkya & Gift 1984; 

Healy & Palepu 2001). 

A firm’s liquidity has also been reported to be associated with its corporate disclosure 

level. It is hypothesized that a firm’s liquidity level impacts on its mandatory 

disclosure practices. Regulatory bodies as well as investors and lenders are more 

concerned about the “going-concern” status of firms (Wallace & Naser 1995; Naser et 

al. 2002). In view of this, firms that are able to meet their short-term financial 

obligations without recourse to the liquidation of their assets-in-place may desire to 

make this known through disclosure in their annual reports (Owsus-Ansah 1998b; 

Naser & Al-Khatib 2000).  

A firm’s liquidity position can be measured by the ratio of the firm’s current assets to 

current liabilities. Some argue that quick (acid test) ratio, current assets less inventory 

to current liabilities, is a more stringent measure of corporate liquidity. Empirical 

investigations have shown inconclusive results. For example, while Belkaoui and 
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Kahl (1978) showed that financially strong firms were more likely to disclose more 

information than their financially weak counterparts, Wallace et al. (1994), Wallace 

and Naser (1995), Naser and Al-Khatib (2000), and Naser et al. (2002) found that 

liquidity was significantly and negatively associated with disclosure level. Other 

studies, however, found no such association (e.g., Naser 1998; Owsus-Ansah 1998b; 

Alsaeed 2005; Owsus-Ansah & Yeoh 2005; Chen & Taggi 2000). 

3.4.3 Market-Related Variables 

Market-related variables can be either quantitative, such as market capitalization, or 

qualitative such as audit firm size, industry type, and listing status. These variables 

may be time-period specific and/or relatively stable over time, and may be within or 

outside the control of the firm (Wallace et al. 1994).  

It has been argued that the size and type of an audit firm can influence the disclosure 

practice of a company. This can be explained on the ground that big audit firms (e.g., 

Big Four) believe that their performance may be judged by the quality of the annual 

reports they have audited (Wallace et al. 1994). In addition, these firms have more 

resources and expertise to carry out large audit assignments and they are less 

dependent on particular clients than small accounting firms.  

Empirical investigations on audit firms’ influence on disclosure provided inconclusive 

results. Several studies reported a significant association between the audit firm size 

and disclosure level (e.g., Ahmed & Nicholls 1994; Hossain et al. 1994; Raffournier 

1995; Ahmed 1996; Patton & Zelenka 1997; Archambault & Archambault 2003). 

However, McNally et al. (1982) and Tai et al. (1990) found the association was less 
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significant. Others found no relationship (e.g., Firth 1979b; Wallace et al. 1994; 

Ahmed & Courtis 1999). Interestingly, Wallace and Naser (1995), in their study of 

Hong Kong listed companies, reported a significant negative association between the 

size of the audit firm and mandatory disclosure. However, they did not provide further 

explanation. 

Industry type is another market-related variable that has been investigated by 

researchers. The level of disclosure may vary according to industry types. The 

intuition underpinning this assumption suggests that firms from a particular industry 

may adopt disclosure practices in addition to those mandatory requirements (Wallace 

et al. 1994; Dye & Sridhar 1995). Also, firms may disclose more information in order 

to satisfy the information needs associated with obtaining a broader set of resources 

(Zarzeski 1996). Moreover, Verrecchia (1983, 2001) has reported that the competitive 

costs of disclosure may decrease as a firm becomes more diversified.  

Results of previous studies on industry type have been inconclusive. While some 

studies (e.g., Belkaoui & Kahl 1978; Cooke 1989a, 1989b; Cooke 1991; Haniffa & 

Cooke 2002; Hope 2003a) reported a significant relationship between industry type 

and disclosure level, other studies reported no significant association (McNally et al. 

1982; Wallace et al. 1987; Wallace et al. 1994; Naser et al. 2002; Alsaeed 2005). This 

inconsistency may be attributed to the different definition of industry classifications 

used by the authors (Ahmed & Courtis 1999) and also to the difference of socio-

economic environments where these studies were conducted. 

Another market-related variable examined by researchers is the listing status of a 

firm. Level of disclosure may vary between listed and unlisted firms. This can be 
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explained on the grounds that stock exchanges establish disclosure regulations 

(Hossain et al. 1994; Archambault & Archambault 2003) and firms adopt disclosure 

policy according to the requirements of the stock exchange in which they trade. 

Hence, listed firms have to comply with the listing rules that may include the 

disclosure of certain information in annual reports over and above those for unlisted 

firms. Several previous studies found that listing status was significantly and 

positively associated with the level of disclosure (e.g., Cooke 1991; Malone et al. 

1993; Wallace et al. 1994, Hossain et al. 1994; Archambault & Archambault 2003; 

Hope 2003a, b). 

3.4.4 Corporate Governance Variables 

As Perera (1994, p. 268) stated ‘accounting activity involves both human and 

nonhuman resources or techniques as well as the interaction between the two’. In 

essence, the importance of considering corporate governance is based on the grounds 

that corporate financial disclosure is greatly influenced by the structure of corporate 

governance, mainly the form of a firm’s ownership and management structure (Lam 

et al. 1994).  

Recent high-profile corporate failures such as that of the American corporation, 

Enron, have increased public pressure for more accountability in running publicly-

owned firms. This pressure has placed more emphasis on audit committees and their 

role in improving both corporate disclosure and governance to restore public 

confidence (Mohamed & Hussain 2003). One of the main and common functions of 

audit committees is to review and oversee the annual reporting process of a firm (in 

US, Treadway Report 1987; in Canada, Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants 
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1988, in UK, Cadbury Report 1992). The existence of an effective audit committee 

therefore has an influential role in the process of financial reporting (Wallace 1986; 

Abbott et al. 2004; Mangena & Pike 2005). 

Although the role of audit committees in relation to the extent of corporate disclosure 

has not been explored extensively, existing literature has used the independence and 

expertise of the audit committee to assess its effectiveness. The Blue Ribbon 

Committee (1999) argued that an independent audit committee can monitor 

management regularly and thus ensure the credibility of corporate annual reports. The 

effectiveness of the audit committee will also be enhanced if its members possess 

accounting and financial expertise. Empirical investigations have reported a positive 

relationship between the independence and expertise of audit committees and their 

effectiveness (e.g., Dechow et al. 1996; Abbott et al. 2004; Beasley & Salterio 2001; 

Raghunandan et al. 2001).  

On the other hand, it has been argued that non-executive directors have the role of 

constituting a check and balance mechanism in enhancing a board’s effectiveness. 

Hence the dominance of non-executive directors could provide them with more power 

to force management to disclose more information (Haniffa & Cooke 2002). 

However, results of previous studies have been inconclusive. For example, while 

Chen and Jaggi (2000), Beasley et al. (2000), and Peasnell et al. (2001) found that 

financial disclosure is positively associated with the proportion of independent and 

non-executive directors on the boards, Haniffa and Cooke (2002), Klein (2002), Eng 

and Mak (2003), and Gao and Zhang (2006) found that the presence of outside 

directors was associated with reduced disclosure.  
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Other variables of corporate governance have also been used in previous studies in 

order to examine their association with the level of disclosure such as: independent 

non-executive director, family members on the board, chairperson with cross-

directorships, managerial ownership, block-holder ownership, and government 

ownership. For example, an independent non-executive director as chairperson and 

the proportion of family members on the board were found to be significantly and 

negatively associated with voluntary disclosure (e.g., Ahmed & Nichols 1994; 

Haniffa & Cooke 2002). Moreover, corporate disclosure has been found to decrease 

with greater managerial ownership (Ruland et al. 1990; Eng & Mak 2003; Gao & 

Zhang 2006) and to increase with government ownership (Eng & Mak 2003).  

3.4.5 Other Variables 

Previous studies have also examined other variables such as culture and national 

systems (including the political, legal and economic systems). Like any other social 

science discipline, the accounting profession is affected by the environment in which 

it is practised. As noted by Wallace et al. (1994, p. 47) ‘Every culture shapes 

corporate reporting behaviour either through a common action such as uniform 

accounting practices within an industry or by continually offering certain practices 

which a firm may conceivably want to emulate’. 

The effect of cultural variables (such as race, level of education, and religious belief) 

on accounting standards and practices has been empirically tested by various 

researchers (see for example, Gray 1988; Perera 1989; Doupkin & Salter 1995; 

Zarzeski 1996; Haniffa & Cooke 2002; Hope 2003a, b; Saudagaran 2004). The results 
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of previous studies are consistent in finding culture to be an important factor in 

financial reporting and disclosure practices.  

As to national systems variables, their impact on financial disclosure has been 

investigated. Archambault and Archambault (2003) provided evidence to show that 

national systems influenced and affected the level of corporate financial disclosure 

and that political freedom increased the level of disclosure. Although Belkaoui (1985) 

hypothesized that political freedom was correlated to corporate disclosure, he found 

no significant relationship. Also, the legal system of a country may influence the 

financial accounting and reporting practices. Doupnik and Salter (1995) concluded 

that Common Law Countries (such as the UK and US) had higher disclosure scores 

than Code Law Countries (such as France and Germany). Similar results were 

reported by Jaggi and Low (2000).  

In addition, the economic systems of a country shape the relationship between 

institutions and between those institutions and investors by providing structures that 

influence the information that needs to be disclosed (Archambault & Archambault 

2003). Capital markets are another economic factor that affects financial disclosure. 

The nature of capital markets influences the information requirements of user groups 

in these markets. As the structure and regulations increase in a capital market, the 

requirement of more disclosure increases and thus, firms listed in large capital 

markets disclose more information than firms listed in small capital markets (Adhikari 

& Tondkar 1992; Doupnik & Salter 1995).  

Other variables such as adoption of the International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS), securities’ price fluctuations, company age, dividend payout ratio, stock 

 56



market performance, competition, and presence of outside operations have also been 

examined in previous studies (see for example, Miller & Rock 1985; Saudagaran 

1988; Abu-Nassar 1993; Zarzeski 1996; Ashbaugh & Pincus 2001; Leuz & Verrechia 

2001; Archambault & Archambault 2003; Chin-Bun 2005; Al-Shammari 2005; Birt et 

al. 2006). However, the relationship between these variables and the extent of 

disclosure was not obvious.  

3.5 Prior Studies in Corporate Disclosure  

The relationship between corporate disclosure and firm variables has been studied 

since the 1960s, especially in developed countries. Cerf (1961) was probably the first 

researcher to conduct an empirical study using a quantifiable measure of disclosure 

and relating it to certain financial and non-financial corporate variables. His study was 

based on a sample of 527 US firms listed on the New York Stock Exchange and other 

exchanges, or those traded over the counter (OTC). He developed an index consisting 

of 31 items selected by using a scale of 1 to 4 assigned to items in interviews with 

financial analysts and then related it to four company variables (total assets, number 

of shareholders, profitability, and listing status). Using class means, Cerf found a 

significant and positive correlation between the level of disclosure and the asset size 

of firms not listed on the NYSE and between the level of profitability and disclosure 

of firms listed on the NYSE and those traded over the counter. He also found that 

firms listed on the NYSE disclosed more information than other firms. 

Cerf’s approach (1961), with either some extensions or modifications, has been used 

widely by other studies to examine the adequacy of corporate financial disclosure in 

various countries. Accordingly, studies using disclosure index methodology can be 
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classified into three groups. The first group consists of studies in developed countries, 

the second is for studies in developing countries, and the last one deals with cross-

nation studies where data from several countries was included. Each of these groups 

will be reviewed in the following subsections. However, to avoid repetition, only 

some of these studies will be reviewed as the difference between previous studies are 

mainly based on sample size, the number of disclosure items, and the number of 

company variables tested. 

3.5.1 Studies in Developed Countries 

In the US, several studies have been conducted (e.g., Singhvi, 1967; Singhvi & Desai, 

1971; Buzby 1974, 1975; Stanga 1976; Imhoff 1992; Malone et al. 1993; Lang & 

Lundholm 1993; Botosan 1997; Ettredge et al. 2002). Although these studies were 

based on Cerf’s (1961) index approach, some modifications to this approach were 

proposed. For example, Singhvi and Desai (1971) argued that mean classes were not 

sufficient measures of disclosure adequacy as each class of firm did not have an equal 

number of observations, and the average class was more likely to be influenced by the 

extreme values.  

Moore and Buzby (1972), subsequently, criticized Singhvi and Desai’s (1971) 

adoption of absolute scores as not all the information items included in the disclosure 

index were applicable to individual firms in the sample. They suggested the use of a 

relative index, which is a ratio between what should have been disclosed by a firm 

and what was disclosed by that firm.  
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In another study, Malone et al. (1993) examined the relationship between disclosure 

and several corporate variables (including debt/equity ratio, number of shareholders, 

total assets, industry diversification, rate of return, earning margin, CPA firm, listing 

status, foreign operations, and proportion of outside directors) of 125 US firms in the 

oil and gas industry. Using a stepwise regression analysis, the authors found that 

listing status, debt/equity ratio, and number of shareholders were significant in 

explaining variations in disclosure.  

Other empirical studies reported a different association between US firms’ extent of 

disclosure and some corporate variables. For instance, while firm size, industry type, 

listing status, audit firm type, and number of shareholders were positively associated 

with corporate disclosure, leverage, rate of return, outside directors, and foreign 

operations were found to have a negative association with such disclosure (see for 

example, Imhof 1992; Lang & Lundholm 1993; Malone et al. 1993; Ettredge et al. 

2002). 

In Sweden, Cooke (1989a) assessed the extent of 90 Swedish firms’ voluntary 

disclosure and its relation to several corporate variables (firm’s size, listing status, 

parent-subsidiary relationship, and industry type). He suggested that the entire annual 

report should be read thoroughly first to decide whether a particular item was 

applicable. Using an index comprising of 146 items of voluntary information, he 

found that listing status was the most significant variable, with an explanation power 

of 90% of the variation in voluntary disclosure among the sample firms. He also 

found that multiple listing firms disclosed more information than firms listed only on 

the Stockholm Stock Exchange. Firm size was found to be significant at the 5% level; 

firms categorized as trading firms had a significantly lower level of disclosure than 
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those in manufacturing and services. Finally Cooke found no impact of parent-

subsidiary relationship on the extent of disclosure. 

In another study, Cooke (1991) used the same methodology to investigate the impact 

of size, listing status, and industry type on voluntary disclosure in the annual reports 

of 48 Japanese firms. He found that size, whether measured by total assets, turnover, 

or number of shareholders, was the most significant variable in explaining variation in 

the extent of voluntary disclosure. Listing status was also found to be a significant 

variable, while manufacturing firms disclosed more information than trading and 

service firms. 

Using Swiss companies, Raffournier (1995) examined the impact of firm size, 

leverage, profitability, ownership structure, auditor firm size, percentage of fixed 

assets, industry type, and foreign sales on disclosure. By developing an index of 30 

items and applying it to 161 company annual reports, he found that firm size (as 

measured by sales and foreign sales) was significant at the 5% level. This variable 

alone was found to explain 85% in the variation on voluntary disclosure among the 

sample firms. In a subsequent study, Dumontier and Raffournier (1998) found that 

firm size (measured by market capitalization) and listing status were significantly 

associated with the extent of disclosure. 

In Canada, Belkaoui and Kahl (1978) examined the association between the level of 

disclosure and five variables: size (as measured by total assets and sales), industry 

type, profitability (measured by net profit/total assets), liquidity, and capitalization 

ratio (common stock/total capital). The authors developed an index of 30 items of 

information and applied it to 200 non-financial firms. They found that firm size and 

 60



industry type were significant at the 1% level, while other variables were significant 

with negative coefficients. 

In an UK study, Firth (1979b) examined the relationship between corporate disclosure 

and three variables: listing status, firm size, and auditing firm. He used a disclosure 

index consisting of 48 information items and related it to a sample of 40 listed and 40 

unlisted firms. His results showed that listed firms disclosed significantly more 

information than unlisted firms. However, there was no difference in the extent of 

disclosure between firms audited by the “Big 8” and those audited by smaller auditing 

firms. Furthermore, the results of Kendall’s rank correlation coefficient revealed that 

larger firms tended to disclose more information than smaller firms. In their 

comparative study of UK and Netherlands companies, Camfferman and Cooke (2002) 

also found that ROE, industry type, liquidity, and size were significant factors of 

disclosure. 

McNally et al. (1982) examined the extent of disclosure in relation to some corporate 

variables of 103 manufacturing firms listed on the New Zealand Stock Exchange 

(NZSE). A disclosure index of 41 information items was used and the researchers 

found that the disclosure level was very low as only 50% of the items were disclosed 

by 10 firms. Size was the only significant variable in explaining variation in the level 

of disclosure. In another study on a sample of 55 New Zealand firms, Hossain et al. 

(1995) concluded that variations in the level of voluntary disclosure could be 

explained by firm size, foreign listing and leverage. 

In a recent study, Hooks et al. (2002) investigated the extent of information disclosure 

in the corporate annual reports of 33 New Zealand electricity retail and distribution 
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companies. A weighted disclosure index, consisting of 67 mandatory and voluntary 

disclosure items, was developed using the ideas and opinions of 15 experts of various 

stakeholder groups. The weights were determined using a scale of 0 to 5, where zero 

means the item should not be disclosed and 5 means disclosure is essential. Results 

revealed that many items were not adequately disclosed, resulting in an information 

gap between stakeholders’ expectations and the disclosure provided by the sample 

firms.  

In Spain, Wallace et al. (1994) examined the relationship between the 

comprehensiveness of the corporate disclosure of 50 firms and some corporate 

variables. A disclosure index of 16 mandatory items was used with three groups of 

explanatory variables: structure-related variables (total assets, total sales, debt to 

equity ratio), performance-related variables (liquidity ratio, earnings return, profit 

margin), and market-related variables (industry type, listing status, auditor type). They 

used a ranked Ordinary Least Squares regression analysis and found that while the 

size and listing status of a firm were related to the level of disclosure, liquidity was 

negatively associated with the level of disclosure. Similar results were reported by 

Inchausti (1997). 

In a German study, Glaum and Street (2003) found that the average compliance level 

was around 84% among the 200 companies listed in Germany’s New Market. 

However, the average compliance level is significantly lower for companies applying 

International Accounting Standards (IAS) as compared to companies applying 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (US GGAAP). They also found that the 

overall level of compliance with IAS and US GAAP disclosures was positively 

related to firms being audited by Big 5 auditing firms and cross-listed on US 
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exchanges. However, return-on- equity, firm size, and industry type were not 

significantly associated with such compliance. 

3.5.2 Studies in Developing Countries 

Several studies have examined the extent of disclosure in relation to a number of 

corporate variables in developing countries. Of these, Singhvi (1968) was probably 

the first researcher who conducted such a study four decades ago. He examined the 

quality of disclosure in the annual reports of 45 Indian industrial firms using an index 

of 34 information items and related it to some corporate variables. Using Chi-square 

tests, Singhvi concluded that corporate disclosure varied among Indian firms and that 

total assets, rate of return, earnings margin, and type of management were 

significantly associated with the quality of a company’s disclosure. 

In Saudi Arabia, Abdel-Salam (1985) investigated the relationship between the extent 

of disclosure and some specific corporate variables. He found negative results with 

respect to firm size, measured by either capital or assets. For the other variables 

(growth, government subsidy, government ownership, audit firm size), the results 

were not clear and did not lend support to the hypothesized relationship. 

In another study, Naser and Nuseibeh (2003) assessed the quality of information 

disclosed by non-financial Saudi firms listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange between 

1992 and 1999. They used two indices: weighted (by the mean and median of the 

responses of seven Saudi Arabia users) and un-weighted. Both indices contained 23 

items of mandatory information, 18 items of voluntary information related to 

mandatory disclosure, and 14 items of voluntary information unrelated to mandatory 
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disclosure. Their results showed a relatively high compliance with mandatory 

requirements in all industries except the electricity sector. As expected, the level of 

voluntary disclosure was relatively low. 

Alsaeed (2005) also examined the effect of specific characteristics on the extent of 

voluntary disclosure of 40 sample firms with an un-weighted disclosure index of 20 

information items. He reported that while large firms tended to present more 

voluntary information than small firms, other remaining characteristics (debt ratio, 

ownership dispersion, firm age, profit margin, return on equity, liquidity, industry 

type, and audit firm size) were found not significantly associated with the level of 

disclosure.  

Elsewhere, Chow and Wong-Boren (1987) conducted a study to investigate the 

voluntary disclosure practices of 52 Mexican listed manufacturing firms. Two 

disclosure indexes of 24 information items were developed and tested for association 

with three corporate variables: firm size, financial leverage, and assets in place (fixed 

assets/total assets). The first disclosure index was weighted by the scores of 106 loan 

officers, and the other disclosure index was un-weighted. They found that while 

similar results were obtained under both indexes, size was found to be positively and 

significantly associated with voluntary disclosure. However, financial leverage and 

the proportion of assets in place had no association with disclosure. 

In Tanzania, Abayo et al. (1993) investigated the quality of disclosure of 51 firms by 

relating it to four disclosure measures: extent of mandatory disclosure, extent of 

voluntary disclosure, timeliness of annual reports, and type of audit report received. 

Using two disclosure indexes, one with 88 mandatory items and the other with 44 
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voluntary items, they found that corporate disclosure was low; the average time 

needed to publish annual reports exceeded the legal requirements by two months. 

However, a positive association was found between the extent of voluntary disclosure 

and compliance with mandatory standards. 

In Jordan, Abu-Nassar (1993) investigated the relationship between the level of 

disclosure of 96 firms listed on the Amman Stock Exchange and seven corporate 

variables. The results revealed that among the independent variables, a total dividend 

was found to be the most important variable to explain 21% of the variation in 

disclosure. However no relationship was found with equity ratio and the number of 

shareholders. In another study of 45 Jordanian companies, Solas (1994) found that 

neither firm size, numbers of shareholders, rate of return nor earnings margin had a 

significant relationship with the quality of financial reporting practice in Jordan.  

In a more recent study, Naser et al. (2002) examined the changes on the depth, as well 

as the influence, of firm attributes on corporate disclosure in Jordan after the 

introduction of the International Accounting Standards (IAS). An un-weighted 

disclosure index of 104 information items was applied to 132 listed firms. The results 

showed a slight improvement in the depth of disclosure after the introduction of IASs. 

In addition, the depth of disclosure was associated with firm size, audit firm status, 

liquidity, gearing, and profitability.  

In Bangladesh, Ahmed and Nicholls (1994) investigated the extent of corporate 

compliance with local disclosure requirements. By developing an index and applying 

it to 63 firms listed on the Bangladesh Stock Exchange, they found no significant 

association between firm size and the level of mandatory disclosure. However, they 
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reported a positive and significant relationship between the level of disclosure and 

firm status (as measured by subsidiaries of multinational firms). 

Wallace and Naser (1995) examined the relationship between the comprehensiveness 

of mandatory disclosure and the characteristics of 80 firms listed on the Hong Kong 

Stock Exchange. They examined the impact of three groups of explanatory variables: 

performance-related variables (profit margin, earnings returns, liquidity), structure-

related variables (debt to equity ratio, firm size, proportion of shares held by 

outsiders), and market-related variables (market capitalization, scope of business 

operations, audit firm size, foreign listing status). The researchers found a significant 

positive association between the comprehensiveness of disclosure and firm size, profit 

margin and the scope of business operations. 

Leung and Horwitz (2004) examined the relationship between voluntary segment 

disclosure and director ownership and other variables of 376 Hong Kong listed 

companies. In disclosure practice, 65 % of firms disclosed information in product 

and/or geographical segments beyond the minimum suggested by the accounting 

guidelines. Their results revealed that (1) high (concentrated) board ownership 

explained the extent of low voluntary segment disclosure and this negative 

relationship was stronger when firm performance was very poor; (2) the contribution 

of non-executive directors to enhance voluntary segment disclosure was effective for 

firms with low director ownership but not for concentrated-ownership firms. For the 

other variables, while market capitalization was found to be significantly associated 

with segment disclosure, listing status, ROE, and industry type were not.  
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In Malaysia, Hossain et al. (1994) investigated the relationship of six firm-

characteristics and the level of voluntary disclosure in the annual report of a sample of 

67 non-financial firms listed on the Kuala Lumpur Stock Exchange. A disclosure 

index consisting of 78 information items was developed and then related to the annual 

report of sample firms. Using univariate and multivariate analysis, they found that 

firm size, ownership structure, and foreign listing status were significantly associated 

with voluntary disclosure. In contrast, leverage, assets-in-place, and size of audit firm 

did not appear to be associated with the extent of such disclosure. 

Hannifa and Cooke (2002) examined whether the extent of voluntary disclosure in the 

annual report of 167 Malaysian listed firms was associated with 31 corporate 

characteristics, divided into three groups of variables: corporate governance, cultural 

and firm specific (control) variables. A scoring sheet of 65 voluntary disclosure items, 

selected on the basis of previous research, was developed and applied to the annual 

reports of the sample firms. Using a regression analysis, the results indicated a 

significant association between the extent of voluntary disclosure and two corporate 

governance variables (a Chair who is a non-executive director and domination of 

family members on boards) and one cultural variable (proportion of Malay directors 

on the board).  

In the Czech Republic, Patton and Zelenka (1997) examined the level of corporate 

disclosure of 50 firms. They used an index of disclosure containing 37 information 

items and found that type of auditor was the only significant variable associated with 

the level of disclosure. They concluded that firms audited by international accounting 

firms tended to disclose more information than firms not audited in such a way. 
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In Zimbabwe, Owsus-Ansah (1998b) tested the extent of corporate disclosure of 49 

listed firms. They constructed a disclosure index of 214 information items and then 

related it to eight corporate variables. Applying regression analysis, Owsus-Ansah 

found that firm size, ownership structure, firm age, multinational corporation 

affiliation, and profitability had significant and positive effects statistically on 

mandatory disclosure practice, while the quality of external audit firm, industry type 

and liquidity were statistically insignificant.  

Finally, Eng and Mak (2003) examined the impact of ownership structure and board 

composition on the voluntary disclosure of 158 firms listed on the Singapore Stock 

Exchange. They used a disclosure index of 46 information items and applied it to the 

annual report of these firms. Using the Ordinary Least Squares regression analysis, 

their results indicated that lower managerial ownership and significant government 

ownership were associated with increased disclosure. In contrast, block-holder 

ownership was not linked to disclosure. In addition, firm size and leverage were found 

to have a positive association with the level of disclosure.  

3.5.3 Cross-Nation Studies 

One of the limitations of previous studies can be attributed to the lack of 

comparability because of the different disclosure indexes used. Also these studies 

were conducted in different countries and time periods. Some studies have tried to 

overcome these limitations by investigating the relationship between the level of 

disclosure and firms’ characteristics in different countries (e.g., Zarzeski 1996; 

Ahmed & Courtis 1999; Jaggi & Low 2000; Chau & Gray 2002; Archambault & 
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Archambault (2003) Hope 2003a, b, 2004). The overall results revealed a significant 

variation in the quality of disclosure among these countries.  

For example, Zarzeski (1996) conducted a study using two hundred and fifty-six 

corporate annual reports from France, Germany, Hong Kong, Japan, Norway, UK, 

and US. She used a model which consisted of three market forces (foreign sales, debt 

ratio, total assets) and four cultural forces from Hofstede (1980) (uncertainty 

avoidance, individualism-collectivism, masculinity-femininity, power distance). 

Using two disclosure indexes (weighted and un-weighted) of 52 information items, 

the Ordinary Least Squares regression analysis produced similar results for both 

models. Findings show that the secretiveness of a culture, in these countries, does 

underlie disclosure practices, which are also affected by market forces: firm size, 

foreign sales, and debt ratio.  

Jaggi and Low (2000) examined the impact of several variables on financial 

disclosure in a sample of 401 firms from six different countries. A disclosure index of 

90 items was constructed and applied to the annual reports of the sampled firms. Nine 

independent variables were examined, namely: cultural values (as measured by 

Hofstede 1980), legal systems (common law countries and code law countries), firm 

size, market capitalization, debt to assets ratio, and multi-nationality of the firm. The 

results revealed that firms from common law countries were associated with higher 

financial disclosure than firms from code law countries. The results also revealed that 

cultural values had insignificant impact on financial disclosure by firms from 

common law countries. However, results for firms from code law and multinational 

countries were mixed. In addition, size, debt to assets ratio, and multi-nationality 

variables were found to be associated with financial disclosure in these countries. 
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Chau and Gray (2002) analysed the annual reporting practices of a sample of 60 and 

62 industrial firms from Hong Kong and Singapore respectively to examine the 

association of ownership structure with voluntary disclosure. A disclosure index, 

similar to the one used by Meek et al. (1995), consisting of 113 information items was 

used. The disclosure index was categorized into three information types: strategic 

information, non-financial information, and financial information. The results, using 

regression analysis, provided support for the agency theory-based hypothesis that 

there is a positive association between wider ownership and the extent of voluntary 

disclosure. Also, firms with high insider ownership or which are family controlled 

have little motivation to disclose information in excess of mandatory requirements.  

In another study, Hope (2003a) examined the impact of legal origin, cultural values, 

analyst following, and some control variables (firm size, listing status, leverage, 

profitability, industry membership, government control, and subsidiary firm) on the 

disclosure level internationally. The author used a sample from 39 countries. 

Applying univariate and multivariate analysis, Hope found that both legal origin and 

culture were important in explaining firm disclosure. Also for the control variables, 

listing status, firm size, and profitability were positively related to analyst following 

which in turn was related to disclosure levels. 

In a recent study, Archambault and Archambault (2003) argued that previous studies 

had not used a complete set of factors that may have effects on disclosure practices. 

Thus, these incomplete models have led to weak or inconsistent results. Accordingly, 

they developed a model of cultural, national systems, and corporate factors that 

influence corporate financial disclosure. Eighty five information items divided into 

seven categories were included in the un-weighted disclosure index. Using a multiple 
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regression analysis and F tests, the researchers examined the relationship of 23 

variables (e.g., size, foreign sales, legal system, religion and political freedom) and 

the level of disclosure of 761 firms from 33 countries. The results indicate that 

disclosure is a more complex process than previously documented and that financial 

disclosure is a function of culture, national political and economic systems, and 

corporate financial and operating systems. 

3.6 Differences between Previous Studies 

Even though previous studies used almost the same approach, there are some 

differences between them. These differences may be summarized in the following 

aspects. First, the user-groups, which were asked to assign weight of importance to 

each information item in the index, were different. For example, user groups included: 

professional financial analysts (Buzby 1974); bank loan officers (Chow & Wong-

Boren 1987); individual investors (Baker & Haslem 1973); institutional investors 

(Anderson 1981); the average of the other researchers’ scores (Zarzeski 1996); a panel 

of 15 stakeholders (Hooks et al. 2002); and seven different users of annual reports 

(Naser & Nusaibeh 2003). Therefore, the weight of each item differs based on the 

perception by each group of that particular item.  

Second, the number of information items included in the index varied. While some 

studies used a wide range of disclosure items, others used a limited range of items. 

For example, Craig and Diga (1998) used 530 items of information; Spero (1979) 

used 289 items of information; Cooke (1989a, 1989b) used 224 items of information 

and Owsis-Ansah (1998b) used 214 items of information. On the other hand, Wallace 

et al. (1994) used only 16 items of information; Barrett used 17 items (1976). 
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Raffournier (1995) used 30 items and Naser and Nuseibeh (2003) used 23 items. 

Some other items used by researchers fall between those extremes. For instance, 

Patton and Zelenka (1997) used 37 items; Firth (1978) used 75 items; and Haniffa and 

Cooke (2002) used 65 items. The variation and wide ranges of information items 

included in the index may have had an impact on the outcomes of these studies. The 

tendency for disclosure and the compliance of the sample companies with smaller 

numbers of information items in the index is more achievable than for those with the 

larger number of items.  

Third, the type of information that was used in these studies was not always the same. 

Some studies used the whole disclosure of information in corporate annual reports 

(e.g., Wallace 1988; Cooke 1989a, 1989b; Al-Hussaini 2001; Archambault & 

Archambault 2003), while others confined their investigations to the extent of 

voluntary disclosure in corporate annual reports (e.g., Chow & Wong-Boren 1987; 

Cooke 1991; Suwaidan 1997; Chau & Gray 2002; Haniffa & Cooke 2002). Several 

studies used only mandatory disclosure in corporate annual reports (e.g., Abayo et al. 

1993; Ahmed & Nicholls 1994; Wallace et al. 1994; Owsus-Ansah 1998a; Ali et al. 

2004). Others used specific types of disclosure, including social disclosure (e.g., 

Schreuder 1981; Wiseman 1982; Ness & Mirza 1991; and Lynn 1992), segment 

disclosure (e.g., Roberts & Gray 1988; Emmanuel & Gray 1978; and Gray 1978), and 

forecast disclosure (e.g., Penman 1980; Waymire 1985; and Mak 1991). 

Fourth, the range of issues covered differed. While some of the previous studies 

examined the information needs of users (e.g., Stanga & Tiller 1983; Abu-Nassar & 

Rutherford 1996; Al-Hussaini 2001; Al-Shayeb 2003a; Hooks et al. 2002; Mirshekary 

& Saudagaran 2005), other studies investigated disclosure from the perception of 
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preparers (Abu-Nassar 1993). Other researchers went one step further to explain the 

variations of disclosure between companies by studying the relationship between the 

level of disclosure in corporate annual reports and characteristics of these companies, 

including: firm size, profitability, and ownership structure (e.g., Belkaoui & Khal 

1978; Cooke 1989b, 1989c; Wallace & Naser 1995; Suwaidan 1997; Owsus-Ansah 

1998a; and Al-Hussaini 2001; Al-Shammari 2005).  

Fifth, none of the studies was industry specific, except Malone et al. (1993) on the oil 

and gas industry and Hooks et al. (2002) on the electricity industry. Finally, the 

number of sample firms in each study varied. For example, while Buzby (1975) 

examined the annual reports of only 14 firms, Archambault and Archambault (2003) 

used a sample of 761 firms. 

3.7 Limitations of Previous Studies 

When evaluating prior studies, a number of limitations should be noted. For instance, 

some researchers (e.g., Wallace et al. 1994; Zarzeski 1996; Archambault & 

Archambault 2003) developed their own indexes which might be subjective as they 

might not be involved in using corporate annual reports in their decision making 

process. According to Wallace et al. (1994), selection of disclosure items should be 

done by those who used annual reports regularly.  

Previous studies assume that the relative importance of a disclosure item to users is 

the same regardless of other information items available to them. This assumption 

may be flawed as the importance of an information item is dependent upon the 

absence/presence of other disclosure items. An example is provided by Dhaliwal 
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(1980) in which an analyst was able to compute a cash flow statement when presented 

with the comparative financial statements of a firm, while another analyst was unable 

to do so in the  absence of such statements. Therefore, receiving the information on 

funds flow would be more important to the second analyst than it would be to the 

first.  

On the other hand, earlier studies assumed that the relative importance of a disclosure 

item did not change over time. However, as pointed out by Archambault and 

Archambault (2003) and Abu-Nassar (1993), the relative importance of an 

information item is dependent upon economic conditions and is not stable over time. 

Dhaliwal (1980) also noted that some types of information (such as cash flow 

statements) were more useful in times of rapid expansion than in relatively stable 

times. 

Although there are many types of user-groups who use annual reports in their 

investment decision making, a number of previous studies have been concerned with 

only some groups of users (e.g., Firth 1979a, 1979b; Chow & Wong-Boren 1987; 

Abu-Nassar 1993; Naser & Nuseibeh 2003). As users of financial information vary in 

their needs, they tend to view disclosed information differently (Cooke 1989a). Thus, 

generalizing results from the previous studies may not be possible.  

Another limitation relates to assigning weights to disclosure items. As Cook and 

Wallace (1989, p. 51) argued ‘… any scaling method for assigning weights to 

individual disclosure items has potential to mislead. This is because the level of 

importance which is attributable to a disclosure item varies according to the entities, 

transactions/events, the user, company, industry, country and the time of the study’.  
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A further limitation of previous studies is the number of disclosure items used in these 

studies. As noted in Section 3.4, the number of disclosure items varied significantly 

amongst studies. Alsaeed (2005), for example, used 29 information items, while 

Spero (1979) used 289 items and Craig and Diga (1998) used 530 items. This 

variation may result in difference-interpretation issues. For example, using a small 

number of information items is likely to result in a higher level of disclosure and a 

lower level of disclosure is expected if a large number of items are included in the 

index.  

Finally, the results of prior studies have been ambiguous and inconsistent. This 

inconsistency could be attributed to (a) the lack of uniformity in statistical design (b) 

the differing nature of the explanatory variables, and (c) the differing socio-economic 

environments of the countries investigated (e.g., Wallace & Naser 1995; Ahmed & 

Courtis 1999; Archambault & Archambault 2003; Ngangan et al. 2005). Accordingly, 

generalizing results of prior studies to other countries may not be possible. 

3.8 Chapter Summary 

This chapter discusses some theoretical backgrounds of corporate disclosure, a 

cornerstone for efficient capital allocations in a healthy economy. The concept of 

disclosure goes beyond corporate annual reports. However, corporate annual reports 

are considered as the main source of information for most external users as they are a 

relatively more reliable source of information and are easily accessible.  

The chapter also reviews the empirical findings of previous studies which applied 

disclosure index methodology to firm characteristics to assess the extent and quality 
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of corporate disclosure. Even though empirical investigations on the relationship 

between the extent of corporate financial disclosure and firm characteristics show 

inconsistent results, there is still an agreement on the relationship between disclosure 

and some firm characteristics (e.g., Wallace et al. 1994; Haniffa & Cooke 2002; 

Archambault & Archambault 2003). Thus, much effort is still required to refine and 

explore this relationship. 

It can be concluded that disclosure is a function of financial and non-financial 

variables (Owsus-Ansah 1998b). Disclosure is also influenced by various factors from 

a broad range of cultural, national political and economic systems, and corporate 

operating systems (Archambault & Archambault 2003; Saudagaran 2004). The results 

of previous studies warrant further investigation in order to enhance a better 

understanding of the relationship between disclosure and these factors in different 

country.  

Although findings of previous studies have shown that some firm characteristics such 

as size and stock exchange listing status were significantly associated with higher 

disclosure, the results have been inconclusive regarding some other characteristics 

such as leverage, profitability, and size of the audit firm. These inconclusive results 

could be attributed to differences in socio-economic and political environments 

between countries, organizational structures, construction of the informational items 

in disclosure indices and sampling errors (Wallace et al. 1994; Ahmed & Courtis 

1999; Archambault & Archambault 2003; Saudagaran 2004; Ngangan et al. 2005). 

The next chapter discusses the research hypotheses tested in this study. 



Chapter Four 

Development of Hypotheses  

4.1 Introduction  

As mentioned in Chapter one, the main objective of this study is to measure the 

current levels of disclosure made by UAE companies as well as to determine whether 

public joint stock companies in the UAE disclose information which different types of 

users need and perceive to be important. In addition, this study aims to explain 

variations in the level of disclosure in corporate annual reports with reference to 

certain characteristics of companies. Hence, this study seeks answers to the following 

specific questions: 

1. What is the current level of corporate disclosure in the UAE? 

2. Do firms in the UAE disclose information in their annual reports that different 

types of users perceive to be important? 

3. Is there an association between the characteristics of UAE firms and their 

levels of disclosure? 

As mentioned in Chapter 3 (Section 3.4), firm variables can be categorized in 7 

groups. However due to the unavailability of certain data, some categories are not 

examined in the current study. For example, the cultural variables (e.g., education and 

race) of the UAE are not obtainable at the present time. Indeed the population of the 

UAE comprises more than 100 nationalities. To capture such a wide diversification of 

education and racial background is both a tedious task and not practical. Similarly, as 

the UAE is a small and relatively new country its national systems (including 

 77



political, legal, and economic systems) are in their infancy stage where influences 

from the UK, US, and other Arab countries are evident. Thus, national systems are not 

included in the study.  

In order to answer the above-mentioned questions, ten hypotheses will be formulated 

and tested. The structure of this chapter follows the main objectives and hypotheses. 

Section Two is related to the first hypothesis which is about assessing the current 

level of disclosure in the UAE. Section Three centres on the second hypothesis about 

whether UAE firms adequately disclose what UAE users need in the way of 

information. Section Four deals with some firm-specific characteristics and the extent 

of disclosure by UAE firms. Finally, Section Five is the conclusion which summarises 

the chapter. 

 4.2 Assessing the Current Level of Disclosure of UAE Firms 

The overall disclosure levels of firms in developed countries have empirically been 

found to be higher than those in developing countries which generally experience 

inadequate levels of corporate financial disclosure (e.g., Abayo et al. 1993; Ahmed & 

Nicholls 1994; Wallace 1988; Al-Hussaini 2001). This could be attributed to the lack 

of effective legal frameworks for the accounting profession, an absence of organized 

financial markets in these countries, and a shortage of qualified accounting 

professionals (Abayo et al. 1993). In addition, the status of free-market mechanisms 

that ensure voluntary disclosure of company-specific information (as in developed 

economies) is either immature or non-existent in emerging markets (Owsus-Ansah 

1998a).  
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As mentioned earlier, the Ministry of Economy, CBUAE, ESCA, and DIFC shape the 

legal and regulatory framework for financial reporting in the UAE. However, the 

nation neither has its own accounting standards nor specific guidelines on how 

companies should prepare their financial statements. All disclosure regulations are 

broad in scope and wordings are too general. Despite the fact that there is no mandate 

to apply any specific accounting standards, with the exception of the banking sector 

and firms listed on DIFC, a large majority of firms in the UAE claim adoption of 

IFRS (based on their annual reports).  

Given the lack of such legal regulatory framework and enforcement mechanism, the 

assumption that UAE companies disclose all required information may not be true. 

Thus, to assess the current level and the extent of financial disclosure of UAE firms, 

the first hypothesis is formulated as follows: 

H1: “UAE firms adequately disclose the items stipulated by UAE statutory 

requirements and International Financial Reporting Standards”. 

4.3 UAE Firms Disclosures and Users’ Need for Information 

The primary objective of financial reporting is to provide various stakeholders with 

useful information for their decision making. Thus, it is necessary to determine the 

needs of these stakeholders. This study investigates whether UAE corporations 

disclose what different types of users of corporate annual reports (including investors, 

creditors, stock market brokers, and government agencies) perceive to be important. 

Although other sources may be used by firms to communicate and disclose their 

information, corporate annual reports are considered the main source of information 
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to most external users (Mirshekary & Saudagaran 2005). Further, corporate annual 

reports play an affirmative role (Al-Mulhem 1997) by providing users with required 

information and assisting them in their decision making.  

Several previous studies have concluded that there is a low level of meeting what 

different user groups need (e.g., Wallace 1987; Al-Mulhem 1997; Bartlett & Chandler 

1997; Al-Hussaini 2001; Mirshekary & Saudagaran 2005; Ngangan et al. 2005). 

Different user groups of corporate annual reports are likely to have different 

objectives and therefore have diverse information needs. Schneider et al. (1994) 

reported a lack of agreement between preparers and users in developed countries 

about the relative importance of financial reporting items. Interestingly, users from 

developed and developing countries rate the importance of disclosure items 

differently (Ngangan et al. 2005). 

In the UAE, the fast growing economy has a potential for investment and despite the 

fact that the majority of the nation population are foreigners and the company law 

8/1984 allows foreign ownership up to 49%, a number of UAE firms restrict 

possession of their shares to UAE nationals (IMF 2007). On the other hand, other 

firms do not have such restriction on foreign ownership and seek the government to 

ease the stipulated ceiling. However, these investors either local, foreign or the 

expatriate population represent a diversified background and look for information 

which should instil confidence and guide them to make sound investment decisions. 

This calls for adequate disclosures from the companies in the UAE to develop 

investor confidence and attract investments. 
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The relevance of information to the decision making process of users is the major 

determinant in assessing the adequacy of disclosures in corporate annual reports. 

Management should disclose information that is useful and relevant to the needs of 

users and should adapt their reporting schema to meet their needs. Failure to provide 

users with their information needs would result in financial reporting falling behind 

the pace of change and thus lose its relevance (AICPA 1991). Consequently, the 

determination of users’ information needs in the UAE and satisfying them are 

important issues that warrant further investigation. Thus, the second hypothesis is 

formulated as follows: 

H2: “Firms in the UAE adequately disclose information items perceived to be 

important by user-groups in their annual reports”. 

4.4 Characteristics and the Extent of Disclosures of UAE Firms 

Using a general disclosure index, previous studies suggest that the extent of corporate 

financial disclosures is a function of financial and non-financial characteristics of 

firm’s variables (see Section 3.4). To further examine this issue, eight hypotheses 

were formulated to test the significant association between the characteristics of UAE 

firms and the extent of their disclosure. These hypotheses are classified into four 

groups (to be explained on the following sections): market-related variables, 

performance-related variables, structure-related variables, and corporate governance 

variables. Each group is explained in the following subsections (see Figure 4.2): 
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Figure 4.2: Explanatory Variables 
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4.4.1 Market-Related Variables 

Market-related variables represent aspects of a firm’s behaviour, which is shaped by 

the firm’s association with others firms in its operational environment (Wallace & 

Naser 1995). A number of these variables have been advanced in the literature to 

explain variations in the depth of disclosure. In this research industry type and listing 

status are used to test their association with the extent of disclosure among UAE 

firms. The rationale and the hypotheses of these variables are discussed in the 

following subsections. 
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4.4.1.1 Industry Type 

Accounting policies and techniques may vary between firms because of their 

industry’s specific characteristics. Firms from a particular industry may adopt 

disclosure practices that differ from firms in other industries (e.g., Wallace 1989; Dye 

& Sridhar 1995). These variations may be attributed to several factors. 

First, some industries are highly regulated because of their overall contribution to a 

country’s national income. These industries, therefore, are subject to more rigorous 

control, which may affect the level of disclosure of these companies (Owsus-Ansah 

1998b). The UAE in general and Dubai in particular are historically well known as a 

trading centre in the region. The discovery of oil led to the flourish and growth of the 

economy. The banking sector, which always plays an important role in the growth of 

an economy, has become more disciplined and organised through the CBUAE than 

the other sectors in the UAE (IMF 2007). Apart from this sector, other industries 

including insurance are generally not well regulated (IMF 2007). Their disclosure 

practices are therefore less comprehensive and broad in scope. Disclosure levels in the 

banking sector, when compared to the other sectors fairs better, though still not 

satisfactory.  

Second, a disclosure differential may also be associated with the scope of business 

operations. Firms with multi-production lines may have more information to disclose 

than those with small or only one line of production (Owsus-Ansah 1998b). Finally, it 

is possible that the existence of a dominant firm with a high level of disclosure within 

a particular industry may lead other firms to “follow the leader” (Belkaoui & Kahl 

1978) in that industry to adopt the same level of disclosure (Wallace & Naser 1995).  
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It is worth mentioning that due to the infancy of the securities market regulations in 

the UAE, there is no adequate mechanism in place to monitor the extent of the 

disclosure levels (IMF 2007). Therefore a positive association was assumed between 

the industry type and the extent of disclosure and the hypothesis was formulated as 

follows: 

H3-a: “There is a significant association between the type of industry and the extent of    

disclosure”. 

4.4.1.2 Listing Status 

The level of disclosure may vary between listed and unlisted firms. This is because 

listed firms have to comply with the listing rules imposed by the securities market in 

which they are listed (e.g., Leftwich et al. 1981; Cooke 1989a; Wallace et al. 1994). 

Another explanation is that companies, which seek funds, obtain listing to reduce the 

cost of capital by disclosing more information (Cooke 1989a). Moreover, listed firms 

are much more in the “public eye” (Al-Mulhem 1997) than unlisted ones so they tend 

to disclose more information.  

In the UAE, submission of financial reports to the Ministry of Economy is mandatory 

for both listed and unlisted firms under the Federal Law No. 8/1984. However, listed 

companies are also regulated by the securities market listing requirements (ESCA, 

ADSM, and DFM). Disclosure requirements for the unlisted companies are limited. 

They are only required to submit financial reports to the Ministry of Economy with 

limited disclosure. Also it is to be noted that a majority of the listed companies in the 

UAE are audited by “Big Four” audit firms, which generally provide more disclosure 
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than firms (usually unlisted) that are not audited by these large accounting firms. It is 

therefore hypothesised that:  

H3-b: “Firms listed in the official UAE securities market disclose more information 

than unlisted firms”. 

4.4.2 Performance-Related Variables 

Performance variables used in this study are those variables that are related to a firm’s 

performance, such as profitability and liquidity. The relationship between each of 

these variables and the extent of disclosure is hypothesised as follows: 

4.4.2.1 Profitability 

Profitability has been used to explain the variation of disclosure among firms. When 

profitability is high, management is more willing to disclose detailed information to 

support its existence and justify its compensation schemes (e.g., Inchausti 1997; Lang 

& Lundholm 1993; Wallace & Naser 1995). Also, management with high profitability 

has incentive to disclose more information to signal itself and to have its market 

values adjusted upward (Suwaidan 1997). Moreover, unprofitable firms will be less 

inclined to release more information to hide their poor performance.  

In the UAE, people are connected through a well recognised social network. Members 

of the Board of Directors are reputed personalities who carry a social responsibility 

(Swift & Owen 2001; Mirfazli 2008) and are inclined to highlight themselves with the 

higher authorities who in turn place their confidence in them. One of the major factors 

that drive disclosure in the UAE can be attributed to the fact that higher levels of 
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profitability, leads to better recognition and social standing to these companies, as 

well as to those personalities who are involved (Gray 1988; Zarzeski 1996; Haniffa & 

Cooke 2002). 

There are different measures of profitability such as net income, profit margin, return 

on assets, and return on equity. In this study return on equity was chosen as a proxy 

for profitability. Hence, it is hypothesised that return on equity is associated with the 

extent of disclosure and the hypothesis is formulated below: 

H3-c: “Firms in the UAE securities market with higher return on equity disclose more 

information than firms with lower return on equity”. 

4.4.2.2 Liquidity 

The assessment of a firm’s liquidity is an important issue for financial statements 

users concerned with its solvency. The going concern of a firm is of interest to 

regulatory bodies as well as to investors and lenders. The inability of a firm to meet 

its current obligations may mean a default in payment of interest and principal to the 

lenders and may lead to bankruptcy. So, to alleviate the fears of different users, firms 

are willing to disclose more information (Wallace & Naser 1995). Also, liquidity is 

perceived by users in securities markets to be associated with a strong financial 

position and thus, firms with high liquidity ratios are expected to disclose more 

information (e.g., Belkaoui & Kahl 1978; Cooke 1989a, 1989b; Wallace et al. 1994).  

Therefore, the association between liquidity, as measured by current assets divided by 

current liabilities, and the extent of financial disclosure is hypothesised and 

formulated as follows: 
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H3-d: “Firms in the UAE securities market with high liquidity (current ratio) tend to 

disclose more information than firms with low liquidity”. 

4.4.3 Structure-Related Variables 

Structural variables describe a firm on the basis of its underlying structure, and these 

variables are most likely to remain stable over time (Wallace & Naser 1995). The 

variables used in this research include market capitalization and foreign ownership 

(their selection is explained below). These variables are employed to find out to what 

extent they determine the disclosure practices of firms in the UAE.  

4.4.3.1 Firm Size 

Within the literature, firm size has been found to be an influential variable in 

explaining differences in disclosure practices among firms (e.g., Lang & Lundholm 

1993; Wallace et al. 1994; Zarzeski 1996; Naser 1998; Archambault & Archambault 

2003). It has been hypothesised that there are several reasons for a positive 

association between firm size and the extent of disclosure. First, the practice of 

disclosing detailed information is costly, and thus may not be affordable for small 

firms. Second, large firms are usually characterized by diversity in the scope of 

business in terms of different types of product or a wider coverage of geographical 

areas. Therefore from the management control perspective, a considerable amount of 

information is required and can be generated internally. Consequently, the marginal 

cost of disclosing the information publicly is low (Cooke 1989c). Third, large firms 

go to financial markets to raise funds more often than small ones. These large firms 

are more aware of the fact that the success of selling new securities as well as 
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enjoying a low cost of capital depends on disclosing more information to users (e.g., 

Spero 1979; Dhaliwal 1979, 1980b; Barry & Brown 1985; Botosan 1997; Foster 

2003). Fourth, disclosure of detailed information may place small firms at a 

competitive disadvantage with other large firms in the same industry (Buzby 1975).  

Different variables have been used in previous studies as proxies for firm size, 

including total assets, market capitalization, and net sales. (e.g., Wallace & Naser 

1995; Naser et al. 2002; Hanifa & Cooke 2002). In this research, market capitalization 

is chosen as it is more objective than other variables and is a measure externally 

determined by the investing public (Wallace & Naser 1995). Therefore, a positive 

association is assumed between a firm’s size (measured by market capitalisation) and 

the extent of disclosure. A hypothesis is formulated as follows: 

H3-e: “Firms in the UAE securities market with a large market capitalization tend to 

disclose more information than firms with small market capitalization”. 

4.4.3.2 Foreign Ownership 

Based on agency theory, where there is a separation between owners (shareholders) 

and management of a firm, the potential for agency cost arises because of conflicts of 

interest between the principal and the agent (Jensen & Meckling 1976; Watts 1977; 

Fama & Jensen 1983; Chau & Gray 2002). Shareholders will be more inclined to 

increase monitoring of management’s behaviour in order to alleviate the agency 

problems. Monitoring costs affect both firms’ profitability and management 

remuneration, and consequently management could reduce monitoring costs by 

providing more information to shareholders.  
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Also, according to Wallace (1989), shareholders vary in their information needs. 

Some shareholders could be interested in profitability; others might be looking for 

forecasts information, while others would want information about social 

responsibility.  Accordingly, corporate financial disclosure is likely to be higher in 

widely-held firms and in this sense the demand for information is expected to be 

higher for foreign investors due to the geographical separation between management 

and owners (Bradbury 1992; Craswell & Taylor 1992; Owus-Ansah 1998b). 

In the UAE approximately 80% of the population are foreigners who come from 

various nationalities with different backgrounds. The perceptions and demands of 

users for information in financial reports vary accordingly. Those foreigners make 

large cash remittances (approximately 17% of the GDP of the country). Such practice 

becomes an area of concern for the UAE economy. Figures show that in 2005, 2006, 

and 2007 cash transfers amounted to US $6 billion, $8 billion, and $9 billion 

respectively (CBUAE 2006, 2007). The UAE government therefore tries to reduce 

these outflows by encouraging foreigners to invest within the country. In order to 

achieve this goal, a suitable and healthy investment climate has to be made available. 

Diverse users of financial reports and the desire to improve investor confidence 

further demand the need to provide more disclosure in financial reports.  

Diffusion of ownership has been empirically found to be an important variable in 

explaining the variability of corporate financial disclosure (Hossain et al. 1994; 

Owus-Ansah 2008b), and the demand for information is expected to be greater when a 

high proportion of ownership is held by foreign investors. Therefore, it is 

hypothesized: 
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H3-f: “UAE firms with a higher proportion of foreign ownership disclose more 

information than do UAE firms without such ownership”.  

4.4.4 Corporate Governance Variables 

Although many studies have considered various firm-specific characteristics that may 

affect the practice of corporate financial disclosure, corporate governance variables 

have not been extensively explored. Corporate governance should be considered 

because it embodies the management and control mechanism that determines the 

practice of information disclosure. As Perera (1994, p. 268) stated ‘accounting 

activity involving both human and non-human resources or techniques as well as the 

interaction between the two’. Exploring the effect of corporate governance variables 

will benefit by deepening the understanding of corporate financial disclosure, 

especially in developing countries where the legal framework and financial markets 

are less mature than their counterparts in developed countries. In this research, the 

composition of boards of directors and the existence of audit committee are used (as 

explained below) to test their association with the extent of disclosure among UAE 

firms. 

4.4.4.1 Composition of Board of Directors 

Board composition is defined by Shamser and Annuar (1993, p. 44) as ‘the proportion 

of outside directors to the total number of directors’. The role of the board of directors 

in monitoring management behaviours and corporate financial disclosure may be a 

function of the composition of the board (Gibbins et al 1990). This could be explained 

on the grounds that having a higher proportion of outside non-executive directors on 
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the board would result in better monitoring of the behaviours of management by the 

board and limit managerial opportunism (Fama 1980; Fama & Jensen 1983; 

Mahmood 2003).  

Moreover, the role of non-executive directors has gained significant importance as 

they relatively are characterised by independence of mind, integrity, and ability to 

question the executive members of the Board (Mahmood 2003). Also, non-executive 

board members are less aligned to management; thus, they may be more inclined to 

encourage and support more disclosure to the users of financial reporting (Mak & Eng 

2003). A positive relationship between the proportion of independent directors and 

disclosure has been found empirically in other capital market settings (e.g., Chen & 

Jaggi 2000).  

Corporate governance recently became an important issue in the UAE. In 2007 ESCA 

issued the Chairperson Decision No. (R/32/2007) which states that (Article 3, p. 5) “in 

forming the Board of Directors, suitable balance between the numbers of Executive, 

Non Executive and Independent Directors shall be maintained. At least one third of 

Directors shall be Independent Directors, while the majority of Directors shall be Non 

Executive Directors, who shall have experience and technical skills to the best interest 

of the Company”. Therefore, it is hypothesised: 

H3-g: “There is a positive association between the proportion of non-executive 

directors and the level of disclosure made by UAE firms”  
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4.4.4.2 Audit Committee 

Recent high-profile accounting scandals, such as that involving Enron, have shed light 

on the effectiveness of audit committees. Such problems have led some countries to 

impose more regulations on audit committee functions, including independence, 

composition, expertise and disclosure activities (e.g., Sarbane-Oxely Act 2002). 

The structure of the audit committee determines the level of monitoring and thereby 

the level of financial disclosure. It has been argued that the existence of an effective 

and independent audit committee has an influential role in the financial reporting 

process (e.g., Kreutzfeldt & Wallace 1986; Abbott et al. 2004). An independent audit 

committee provides greater monitoring of the financial discretion of management and 

ensures the credibility of corporate financial disclosure (Blue Ribbon Committee 

1999). 

The level of expertise is another factor which enhances the effectiveness of the audit 

committee. This expertise should be based on members of the audit committee who 

possess knowledge and experience in accounting and finance (e.g., Beasley & Salterio 

2001; Abbott et al. 2004). Some countries, such as the US (Sarbane-Oxely Act 2002) 

and Malaysia (Bursa Malaysia listing requirements 2001) require that at least one 

member of the audit committee possess a background in accounting and finance.  

Hence, it is assumed that having independent and qualified audit committee members 

enhances the adequacy of a firm’s financial disclosures. Although ESCA issued 

guidelines on corporate governance at the beginning of 2007 and mandate all public 

joint companies in the UAE to comply and disclose information on their annual report 
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about their corporate governance, many firms used to have an audit committee even 

before such mandate. However, the question is whether the existence of such audit 

committees made any difference in the extent of disclosure is warranted.  

In this research, since information on the independence and qualifications of audit 

committee members is not available in the UAE, the effect of the existence of an audit 

committee on the extent of corporate disclosure is assessed by testing whether a firm 

has an audit committee or not. Therefore, it is hypothesized that: 

H3-h: “There is a positive association between the existence of an audit committee and 

the level of financial disclosure made by UAE firms”. 

4.5 Chapter Summary 

To deliver clarity, the structure of this chapter is closely aligned to the research 

questions. It has, therefore, presented an overview of the hypotheses which will be 

tested to answer the research questions. The first hypothesis relates to the initial 

research question focusing on the current level of disclosure in the UAE. The second 

hypothesis is formulated in line with the next research question which is concerned 

with the disclosure of important items and their usefulness to different groups of users 

in the UAE. The final set of hypotheses examines the nature of the association 

between the extent of disclosure and the characteristics of UAE firms. 

Chapter 5 details research methods used to test these hypotheses in order to answer 

the research questions. 

 

 



Chapter Five 

Research Methodology 

5.1 Introduction  

In the previous chapter a total of ten hypotheses were developed in order to answer 

the three research questions. This chapter discusses the research methodology used to 

test the hypotheses. The structure of this chapter follows the main objectives and the 

hypotheses of this study. Section Two describes the development of the disclosure 

index of 317 information items, sample selection, and statistical procedures to assess 

the current level of disclosure of UAE Firms. Section Three examines the disclosure 

of UAE firms and the information needs of users. This section explores the survey 

method used, participants and sample selections, and outlines the scoring of the 

disclosure index. The statistical tests of the univariate analysis and multiple regression 

analysis as well as the dependent and independent variables are reported in Section 

Four. Finally, Section Five concludes the chapter. 

5.2 Assessing the Current Level of Disclosure of UAE Firms  

Several methods have been used in the literature to measure the extent and/or the 

quality of corporate disclosure, one of which is to count all the items (e.g., the number 

of words and numbers) disclosed in corporate annual reports. This approach, which 

was suggested by Copeland and Fredericks (1968), was based on a subjective 

procedure for grading disclosure as excellent, average or poor. This method was 

criticized because of its subjectivity in constructing and grading the index (Marston & 

Shrives 1991; Cooke 1989a) as well as the premise that there are repetitions of certain 
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numbers and words in annual reports for which counting data items is not a 

satisfactory solution. 

Another method of measuring disclosure is the disclosure index methodology which 

has been considered as a reliable and effective method of assessing the extent and the 

quality of disclosure in annual reports and is widely used by researchers. As Cooke 

and Wallace (1989) argued, financial disclosure is an abstract concept that cannot be 

measured directly; consequently, a suitable proxy, such as an index of disclosure, can 

be used to evaluate the extent of information disclosed by firms. Marston and Shrives 

(1991, p. 207) predicted the continued use of this method as follows ‘A research tool 

will not continue to be used if it produces poor results. The disclosure index has 

provided researchers with the expected answers to their hypotheses in many cases. If 

company information disclosure continues as a focus of research it is likely that the 

disclosure index will continue to be used’.  

While disclosure index methodology has some notable deficiencies (such as the 

subjectivity in either selecting the index items or in assigning weights to them), 

Ahmed and Courtis (1999), Botosan (1997), and Prencipe (2004) believe that this 

method is the most suitable way devised so far to test the extent of disclosure in 

annual reports.  

5.2.1 The Disclosure Index 

As mentioned previously, one objective of this study is to assess the extent of 

disclosure made by UAE firms in their annual reports. To the best knowledge of the 

writer, no research into such an objective and no such a scope has ever been 
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undertaken in the UAE context. To determine the extent of disclosure in the annual 

report, the first task is to develop an index of disclosure consisting of a list of 

information items that appear or could appear in annual reports. Researchers then 

either assign a weight of importance to each item (e.g., Botosan 1997; Hooks et al. 

2002; Naser & Nuseibeh 2003; Prencipe 2004) or leaving items without weight -un-

weighted index- (e.g., Wallace 1987; Cooke 1989a, 1992; Wallace et al. 1994; 

Archambault & Archambault 2003; Mirshekary & Saudagaran 2005; Alsaeed 2005). 

The weighted index is based on the ranking a corporate annual report user attaches to 

the disclosure item. Supporters of this approach believe that such a score reflects both 

the extent and importance of each disclosure item forming the index (Robbins & 

Austin 1986). 

The un-weighted index (equal weighting) is used with dichotomous scores, where 

zero is given for non-disclosure and one is given for disclosure of the item. Those 

who advocate the un-weighted index argue that, in addition to the subjectivity in 

assigning the weight, the weighting does not significantly alter results (Chow & 

Wong-Boren 1987; Wallace & Naser 1995; Cooke 1989a; Naser 1998). Also, several 

prior studies have argued that the results of the equal weighting procedures tend to be 

similar to those of other weighting systems (Firth 1980; Robbins & Austin 1986; 

Chow & Wong-Boren 1987; Zarzeski 1996; Prencipe 2004). Moreover, research 

evidence demonstrates that the equal weighting system is superior to the differential 

weighting system (Einhorn & Hogarth 1975; Owsus-Ansah 1998b).  

Accordingly, the un-weighted index approach is used in this research for the 

following reasons: first, to overcome the problem of subjectivity in assigning weights 

and to have an analysis independent of the perceptions of a particular user group. 
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Second, this research does not focus on one specific user-group but rather on different 

users of corporate annual reports. Third, this approach concentrates on the extent of 

disclosure rather than on a particular item (Abd-Elsalam & Weetman 2003). 

Therefore, each item of disclosure is considered equally important.7 

5.2.1.1 Selection of Information Items 

The most important step in constructing a disclosure index is the selection of 

information items that could be found in corporate annual reports. It should be noted 

that there is no consensus on the number and selection of items to be included in a 

disclosure index (Wallace et al. 1994; Al-Hussaini 2001). Also, the numbers of 

information items used in previous studies were different, which could be attributed to 

either the structure of the studies or to the fact that user-groups in more developed 

countries perceive the importance of those items differently from those in developing 

countries (Wallace 1993; Patel 2003; Ngangan et al. 2005).  

As Marston and Shrives (1991) noted the number of items that could be disclosed by 

a company is very large, if not infinite. Wallace (1988) also argued that there was no 

agreed criterion on which to select an item of information, and that to overcome the 

selection bias, an extensive list of disclosure items be developed. Accordingly, the 

number of items included in the scoring sheet in previous studies varied from a 

minimum of 17 items (Barrett 1976) to a maximum of 530 (Craig & Diga 1998).  

The disclosure index may include both mandatory and voluntary information items 

since both forms of disclosure result from social-system processes (Archambault & 

                                                 
7  This approach was also used by Spero (1979); Robins and Austin (1986); and Cooke (1989a, 1992). 
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Archambault 2003). Mandatory disclosure is required by statute, professional 

regulations and listing requirements of stock exchanges. The extent to which firms 

comply with legal and regulatory requirements depends on the strictness or laxity of 

the government, professional and other regulatory bodies (Marston & Shivers 1991). 

Voluntary disclosure on the other hand, in excess of the minimum, may arise where 

corporate perceptions of the benefits arising outweigh the costs (Gray & Roberts 

1989).   

In this research, the focus is on mandatory items because financial reporting and 

disclosure practice in the UAE is not well-organized and the status of free-market 

mechanisms that ensure voluntary disclosure is immature (Owsus-Ansah 1998a). 

Also, to avoid ‘penalizing’ a firm for not disclosing an item that does not apply to it, 

the list of items was based on the limited and specific requirements set by the UAE 

regulators, in addition to IFRS, with which all firms in the UAE claimed to comply.  

As explained earlier (see Section 2.5), it can therefore be concluded that the legal and 

regulatory frameworks for financial reporting in the UAE are limited in scope and are 

stipulated in broad terms. Given the limited disclosure requirements made by the 

UAE authorities, all public joint stock companies claim compliance with IFRS (based 

on their annual reports). Consequently, selection of items for inclusion in the index 

was based on the following criteria: 

• The item is mandated by UAE authorities, including ESCA;  

• The item is required by IFRS. 

The initial list of information items (index) consisted of 405 items, of which only six 

items were related to ESCA requirements. To ensure that a complete, relevant and 
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applicable information items list was included in the index, two control measures 

were adopted. First, the list was cross-checked with the disclosure checklists of three 

of the ‘big-four” accounting firms: KPMG, Ernst and Young and Deloitte. Second, 

the list was discussed with three senior external auditors working for three big 

auditing firms in the UAE (Deloitte, KPMG, and Talal Abu Ghazala). The purpose of 

this step was to refine the list and to determine the suitability of the items for firms 

operating in different sectors in the UAE.  

Based on these measures, 88 items were excluded as they related to 9 standards that 

were irrelevant or inapplicable to the UAE or their effective dates were post 20058. 

These standards were: IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS; IFRS 6 Exploration for 

and Evaluation of Mineral Assets; IFRS 7 Financial Instruments Disclosure; IFRS 8 

Operating Segments; IAS 12 Income Taxes; IAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by 

Retirement Benefit Plan; IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 

Economies; IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting; and IAS 39 Financial Instruments 

Recognition and Measurement (see Table 5.1 for the reasons for exclusion). The final 

list included a total of 317 items of information of which only 6 items related to 

ESCA (see Appendix 1). This final list was then pilot tested on 20 companies from 

different sectors to ensure that items peculiar to each selected sector were taken into 

account. 

 

 

                                                 
8 This research was based on annual reports of 2005. 
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Table 5.1: Excluded IAS & IFRS  

IFRS/IAS  Title Reasons for Exclusion 

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS All UAE firms claimed adoption of 
IFRS before 2004 

IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of 
Mineral Assets 

It is effective on January 2006 
onward  

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures It is effective on January 2007 
onward 

IFRS 8 Operating Segments It is effective on January 2009 
onward 

IAS 12 Income Taxes UAE firms pay no income tax 

IAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by 
Retirement Benefit Plan 

The UAE has its own benefits and 
retirement plan  

IAS 29 Financial Reporting in 
Hyperinflationary Economies 

Inflation has been relatively low 
(1.5% to 4%) over the past ten years 
(GCC 2006) 

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 
The objective of this research is to 
assess disclosure in corporate annual 
reports 

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement 

All disclosure requirements in IAS 39 
were covered in IAS 32 

5.2.2 Sample Selection 

Based on the constitution of the UAE, the Ministry of Economy is responsible for the 

orderly operation of the country’s economy. Companies Law No. 8/1984 is the main 

Act which oversees the incorporation, controlling, and managing of different types of 

firms9. All public stock joint firms have to lodge their annual reports to the Ministry. 

Therefore, the Companies Department at the Ministry of Economy was approached to 

provide copies of the 2005 annual reports of all public joint stock companies as this 

was the best and quickest way to obtain the required data.   

The year 2005 was selected as it was the most recent data available at the time of the 

request. A total of 153 public joint stock companies, listed and unlisted, were 

incorporated at the time of study. Seven firms were excluded from the sample as they 

                                                 
9 There are seven types of firms that may be incorporated in the UAE: general partnership; simple 
limited partnership; joint participation (venture); public joint stock company; private joint stock 
company; limited liability company; and partnership united with shares. 
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were incorporated in either 2005 or afterwards and had very little information in their 

annual reports. Another 33 firms were excluded because their annual reports were not 

available. Twenty of these 33 companies were solely owned by the UAE government, 

and while they had been registered as joint stock companies, their annual reports were 

not accessible. For the other 11 companies, annual reports were not available10 to the 

researcher, despite numerous efforts to obtain them. Hence, they were also excluded 

from the sample. Consequently, only 113 corporate annual reports were collected 

representing approximately 74% of the total population. Table 5.2 provides a 

summary of the total sample. 

 

 
10 Even though all companies must lodge their annual reports in Ministry of Economy, these companies 
have not done so.  



Table 5.2: Population and the Sample of Public Joint Stock Companies in the UAE 

 

Companies Annual Reports Available/Not Available 

Listed Unlisted 
Sector 

Listed  Unlisted Total 
Available 

Established 

late 2005 
Not Available Available 

Established 

Late 2005 
Not Available 

Total 

Available 
% 

Banking  22 3 25 22 0 0 3 0 0 25 100%  

Insurance 23 1 24 23 0 0 1 0 0 24 100%  

Services 36 32 68 34 2 0 0 4 28 34  50% 

Industrial 27 9 36 27 0 0 3 1 5 30 83%  

Total 108 45 153 106 2 0 7 5 33 113 74% 
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5.2.3 Statistical Procedures 

One of the methodological problems associated with the scoring procedures of the 

disclosure index is whether or not an item is applicable to a particular firm (Owsus-

Ansah 1998a). To overcome this problem and follow Cooke’s (1989a) 

recommendation, the entire annual report of every company was read first by the 

researcher to clearly understand the scope of the disclosure practice and to determine 

whether an undisclosed item was in fact inapplicable to that particular company. 

This procedure led to the creation of a relative index for each sample firm. The 

relative index, which includes information items a firm was expected to disclose, was 

adopted by several previous studies (e.g., Firth 1980; Wallace 1987; Babbie 1994; 

Ahmed & Nicholls 1994; Inchausti 1997; Owsus-Ansah 1998a). Consequently, the 

risk of “penalising” a firm for not disclosing an item, inapplicable to that firm, was 

significantly reduced.  

The next step was to apply the index to each firm using the dichotomous procedure by 

matching the firm’s annual report disclosures to the index. Following the unweighted 

index scoring scheme, an item scored one if it was disclosed and zero if it was not. 

Based on the calculated scores for each firm, the descriptive statistics were provided 

to draw a conclusion about the current level of disclosure in the UAE. 

The scores of the disclosure index for each firm were calculated by dividing the total 

scores by the maximum score (M) (based on the relative index of the firm), which was 

calculated as follows: 
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where,  

id  = expected item of disclosure 

n  = the number of items applicable to a firm, i.e. 317≤n  

The total disclosure score (TD) for a firm was calculated as follows: 

∑
=

=
M

i

diTD
1

 

where: 

id  =  1 if the item is disclosed  id

 0 if the item  is not disclosed id

M  =   maximum number of relevant disclosure score for each firm 

nM ≤  

The total disclosure index (TDI) for each firm was therefore calculated as: 

TDI = TD/M 

5.3 UAE Firms Disclosure and Information Need of Users 

The survey questionnaire (see Appendix 2) was used to explore whether or not annual 

reports published by UAE firms were relevant to their users and what items users 

perceived to be important. Questions raised in the survey instrument mainly built 

around the following themes: 

• What is the most important source of information to users? 

• Do corporate annual reports meet the needs of users? 

• What are the most important items that users are looking for in corporate 

annual reports? 
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This method of data collection was a highly structured one, in which each respondent 

was asked to answer a pre-formulated written set of questions. This approach is 

supported commonly employed by researchers (e.g., Tweedie & Whittington 1990; 

Bartlette & Chandler 1997; Al-Hussaini 2001; Naser & Nuseibeh 2003; Mirshekary & 

Saudagaran 2005). 

This method of survey has a number of advantages, including low cost and greater 

anonymity for respondents. However, its drawbacks have also been documented by 

Al-Hussaini (2001). Some of these drawbacks include low response rate, inflexibility, 

and the possibility of questions being misunderstood.  

5.3.1 Research Instrument 

Construction of the questionnaire for this study was based on extensive review of the 

literature and previous similar questionnaire surveys conducted in other countries, 

especially in the Gulf region (such as Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1995; 1996; Al-

Hussaini 2001; Ho & Wong 2001; Ngangan et al. 2005; and Mirshekary & 

Saudagaran 2005). Additional comments and feedback were obtained from UAE 

auditors and the supervisory team.  

As can be seen from Appendix 2, the structure of the questionnaire basically follows 

one of the main research questions mentioned previously. The questionnaire is 

divided into three sections. Section One is concerned with general information about 

respondents such as age, education, years of experience, and the category of user 

group in which the respondent classifies him/herself. Section Two aims to evaluate 

the current corporate reporting practices in the UAE from the perspective of 
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participants. Subjects were asked the extent to which they use corporate annual 

reports in their decision-making, their rating of importance for various sources of 

information, and the reason for using other sources of information.  

Participants were asked to identify issues that might affect their use of annual reports 

in the UAE. They were then asked to determine the extent to which they read the 

following seven sections of annual reports:  

• Management’s report; 
• Auditor’s report; 
• Statement of financial position (Balance Sheet); 
• Income statement; 
• Statement of changes in equity; 
• Statement of cash flows; 
• Notes to financial statements. 

Moreover, subjects were asked to determine the extent of the difficulty, reliability, 

and relevance of the information included in these sections. Finally, participants were 

asked to indicate the reasons for not using annual reports in their decision-making. 

Section Three collects information on participants’ perceptions of the level of 

importance for each of the selected information items in annual reports. In this section 

of the questionnaire, there is an information list that could be presented in annual 

reports issued by UAE firms. Respondents were asked to examine each information 

item and assign a weight (using the 5-point Likert scale) to it, reflecting its 

importance in their decision-making. The objective of this method was to develop an 

index, which contained items that were assumed to be important and necessary for 

most user-groups.  

Different methods have been adopted previously by researchers in selecting index 

items. Generally, methods of selection include a review of the relevant literature (e.g., 
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Chow & Wong-Boren 1987; Wallace et al. 1994; Al-Hussaini 2001). Some authors 

used a survey among a selected group (e.g., Firth 1980, Abu-Nassar 1993; Naser & 

Nuseibeh 2003) and others relied on the literature and/or the IFRS and legal 

requirements (e.g., Cooke 1989a, 1989b; Al-Mulhem 1997; Ashbaugh & Pincus 

2001).  

The selection of information items for inclusion in the survey was based on two 

criteria: the relevance of the items to developing countries, and whether these items 

had been used in previous studies (e.g., Belkaoui & Kahl 1978; Firth 1979a; Wallace 

1987; Cooke 1989c; Ngangan et al. 2005; Mirshekary & Saudagaran 2005), especially 

these conducted in the region such as Saudi Arabia, Jordan, and Kuwait, (Abdulsalam 

1985; Abu-Nassar 1993; Al-Mulhim 1997; Al-Hussaini 2001; Alsaeed 2005) to which 

the UAE has similar socio-economic and political systems. 

The initial list of items was based on a review of the relevant literature. One hundred 

and thirty two items were included in the initial list, which was discussed with three 

senior auditors from three large audit firms in the UAE to ensure the applicability of 

the items to the socio-economic environment of the UAE. This consultation process 

resulted in a reduction of the list to 84 information items. Table 5.3 exhibits the 

breakdown of these items.  

Table 5.3: Details of the Aggregate Disclosure Index 

Sections  
No. of 
Items Percentage 

1 Balance Sheet  9 11% 
2 Income Statement 13 15% 
3 Statement of Cash Flows 3 4% 
4 Statement of Changes in Owners’ Equity 8 10% 

5 Other Information Included in Annual 
Reports 51 61% 

Total  84 100% 
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A response of 1 means the item was not at all important and 5 means the item was 

very important. This method of scoring is consistent with previous studies (e.g., Firth 

1979a; McNally et al. 1982; Firer & Meth 1986; Wallace 1987; Al-Mulhem 1997; Al-

Hussaini 2001; and Ngangan et al. 2005). 

The final draft of the questionnaire was prepared and reviewed several times before it 

was translated into Arabic, the official language in the UAE. The questionnaire was 

then pilot-tested and distributed to a pilot group of different users11 (e.g., individual 

investors, institutional investors, bank credit officers, and brokers). Participants were 

asked to comment on the appropriateness of the questionnaire and its potential to be 

clearly understood. Positive feedback was received with a few number of comments 

and suggestions, which were considered and incorporated to develop the final 

questionnaire (see Appendix 2), which consequently was distributed to the selected 

sample.  

5.3.2 Assessing the Reliability of Research Instrument 

The reliability of the measurement indicates the extent to which the measure is free 

from random errors. The scale of measurement is considered reliable to the extent that 

it produces stable and consistent results (Abu-Nassar 1993). In other words, if a 

second test is carried out, using the same instrument in the same environment and 

conditions, the results of the second test should be the similar to the first one.  

The need for testing the reliability of the instrument has been stressed in the literature 

as an essential step before starting a survey (e.g., Douglas & Craig 1983; Al-Dmour 

                                                 
11 Will be discussed in section 5.3.3. 
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1992; Abu-Nassar 1993). Hence, in order to examine the reliability of internal 

consistency, Cronbach alpha technique was used (e.g., Judd et al. 1991; Abu-Nassar 

& Rutherford 1995). This test refers to the degree to which the items that make up the 

scale hang together. The cut-off level of significance of Cronbach’s coefficient alpha 

usually considered acceptable is 0.7 as suggested by Huck and Cormier (1996)12. In 

this study, the alpha value for all scales was above 0.7. This indicates that the scales, 

in general, have good internal consistency and reliability. 

5.3.3 Participants and Sample Selection 

While there is a wide range of potential user-groups who are interested in the 

information disclosed in corporate annual reports, previous research has shown that 

there is a lack of agreement among these user groups (e.g., Abu-Nassar 1993; Cooke 

1989a; Wallace 1989). Prior studies have used different user-groups to identify their 

information needs and ascertain their perception of the importance of information 

items. These include accountants and preparers (e.g., Chandra & Greenball 1977; 

Firth 1978; Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1995, 1996); investors and/or financial analysts 

(e.g., Adhikari & Tondkar 1992; Lang & Lundholm 1996; Zarzeski 1996; Boston 

1997); managers, academics, tax officials, auditors, and regulators (e.g., Wallace 

1988; Nicholls & Ahmed 1995; Abu–Nassar & Rutherford 1996; Ngangan et al. 

2005; Mirshekary & Saudagaran 2005). 

As one of the main objectives of this research is to explore whether UAE firms 

disclose what users need, it is essential that major external users are included in this 

study. Hence, the following targeted groups were selected for participation:  

                                                 
12 Sekaran (1984) proposed 0.6. 
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• Individual investors; 
• Institutional investors; 
• Governmental investors; 
• Government representatives; 
• Fund managers; 
• Bank credit officers; 
• Stock market brokers; 
• Professional accountants (auditors); 

Of the 512 questionnaires distributed, 404 were returned. Nine questionnaires were 

deemed as not usable as they were incomplete. Thus, the usable responses amounted 

to 395 representing a favourable response rate of 77% compared with earlier studies. 

The sample size and the response rate for each user-group are presented in Table 5.4, 

and briefly discussed in the following subsections. 

Table 5.4: Population and Sample Size of Participants 

Participants Population Sample Size Completed Response 
Rate 

Individual Investors 1,236,539 200 155 78% 
Institutional Investors 3,719 100 67 67% 
Governmental Investors 33 33 21 64% 
Government 
Representatives 6 6 6 100% 

Fund Managers 11 11 11 100% 
Bank Credit Officers 46 46 44 96% 
Stock Market Brokers 66 66 46 70% 

Professional Accountants 
(Auditors) 

536 50 45 90% 

Total  512 395 77% 

5.3.3.1 Individual Investors 

Individual investors, arguably the largest group of stakeholders in many securities 

markets, are individuals who are investing their money in corporate stocks (Al-

Mulhem 1997). Due to the fact that many individual investors are naïve about aspects 

of the securities market and do not possess adequate financial knowledge and 

experience, some researchers (e.g., Firth 1978; McNally et al. 1982; Ho & Wong 
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2001; Mirshekary & Saudagaran 2005) excluded this group from their studies. 

However, their inclusion in this research was regarded as important since individual 

investors represent the largest group of users of corporate annual reports in the UAE. 

Further, the focus of this study was to assess the need of major user-groups. Hence, 

the exclusion of individual investors was considered not justifiable.  

Individual investors were selected randomly from the trading rooms in three cities of 

the UAE (Abu Dhabi, Dubai, and Sharjah13). It was assumed that participants selected 

from these trading rooms would generally represent the population as most of the 

active investors were from these three big cities. Also, most of the active traders 

frequently visit these trading rooms. Selected participants were contacted personally 

to secure an acceptable response rate. 

The total number of individual investors was obtained from ADSM and DFM. There 

were 1,236,539 individual investors in both markets by the beginning of year 2006. 

Visits to these trading rooms occurred on different days of the week over a period of 6 

weeks (2 weeks per trading room).The questionnaires were distributed to individual 

investors who expressed a willingness to participate. A total of 200 investors were 

selected randomly (80 from Abu Dhabi, 80 from Dubai, and 40 from Sharjah) for 

participation. Of this total sample size, one hundred and fifty five questionnaires were 

usable for further analysis, resulting in a response rate of 78% (Table 5.4). 

 

 

                                                 
13 Abu Dhabi Securities Market (ADSM) and Dubai Financial Market (DFM). Sharjah does not have 
its own securities market, but it has a trading room which belongs to ADSM. 
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5.3.3.2 Institutional Investors 

Institutional investors14 in this research are firms with large portfolios invested in the 

UAE securities market. This group was chosen because institutional investors are 

considered to be more influential and knowledgeable users of the market than 

individual investors (Al-Hussaini 2001).The list of institutional investors was 

obtained from ADSM and DFM and the total population of this group was 3,719 

institutional investors at the beginning of 2006. Based on this population, one hundred 

senior15 staff working with these institutions in Abu Dhabi, Dubai, and Sharjah were 

randomly chosen and provided with the questionnaire. Only 67 out of 100 

questionnaires (or 67%) were completed and returned (Table 5.4). 

5.3.3.3 Governmental Investors 

Governmental investors are government agencies which invest in the UAE securities 

market. Government, through its constitutional authority, can demand more 

information within the firm in which they are a major shareholder. Also, government 

agencies tend to ask for more disclosure in order to ensure that good disclosure 

practice is maintained (Suwidan 1997). Mak and Eng (2003) therefore found a 

positive relationship between government ownership and the extent of disclosure.  

In the UAE, government is a major shareholder in some UAE firms (for example, the 

government owns 60% of the UAE Telecommunications Corporation-Etisalat) for 

several reasons. First, the private sector needs support, especially at the beginning 

stages of state development. Second, government aims to balance the commercial 

                                                 
14 Institutional investors in the UAE are different than fund managers. 
15 Senior staffs are those who hold managerial positions in the organizations they work for. 
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objectives of firms with other public interest goals (Mak & Li 2001). Finally, 

investment on the securities market provides sources of income to the federal 

government. Since government is involved in these activities, it has been decided to 

examine their views on corporate disclosure. 

From ADSM and DFM records, there were 33 governmental investors at the 

beginning of year 2006. Due to this small population, all of them were requested to 

take part in this research and the research instruments were sent to senior managers of 

theses agencies. Twenty one questionnaires (or 64%) were completed and usable for 

analysis. 

5.3.3.4 Government Representatives16 

As mentioned earlier, since 1980 the UAE had been considering the establishment of 

an official stock exchange that would control the securities market and have a lasting 

impact on the national economy. Government endeavours in this respect have put an 

end to the unorganized era (as explained in Chapter 2) of this financial industry in the 

UAE by the establishment of ESCA, ADSM, and DFM in year 2000.  

The UAE government aims to support disclosure of financial and non-financial 

information to enhance the efficiency of the UAE market. In the literature, Barrett 

(1977) and Gao (2008) reported a positive relationship between increased disclosure 

and the efficiency of national financial markets. Consequently, it was considered 

important to seek the opinions of government officials about various aspects of 

corporate disclosure. There are six entities which are responsible for organizing and 

                                                 
16 Government representatives are the same as government regulators in the UAE. 
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controlling the economy of the country. These entities are the Ministry of Economy, 

Ministry of Finance and Industry, CBUAE, ESCA, ADSM, and DFM. Six 

questionnaires were handed out and completed by senior staff at these organizations, 

resulting in a 100% response rate. 

5.3.3.5 Fund Managers 

A fund manager can be defined as a highly trained investment professional with a vast 

amount of investment experience and related formal education. Fund managers’ main 

objective is generally to maximize return on funds at the lowest risk possible through 

implementing various investment strategies and managing the day-to-day trades in a 

portfolio. Fund managers regularly analyse companies’ financial reports in order to 

arrive at appropriate investment decisions. (e.g., Lang & Lundholm 1996; Zarzeski 

1996; and Boston 1997). There were eleven known fund managers working in the 

UAE securities market at the time of this study and due to the small number of this 

population, all of them were included in the survey. A senior staff member of each of 

these eleven fund managers participated in the survey.  

5.3.3.6 Bank Credit Officers 

For the purpose of this study, bank credit officers have been defined as senior 

members of staff holding a managerial level and working in the credit department of 

various commercial banks in the UAE, and concerned with borrowers’ liquidity and 

their ability to meet their financial obligations. Consequently, bank credit officers are 

considered as one of the most important users of corporate annual reports (Al-

Hussaini 2001). There were 46 banks operating in the UAE at the beginning of 2006. 
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Through the Central Bank of the UAE, questionnaires were distributed to all these 

banks. Forty-four questionnaires (or 96%) were completed by these credit officers 

(Table 5.4). 

5.3.3.7 Stock Market Brokers 

A stock market broker is defined as ‘an entity that acts on behalf of an investor who 

wishes to execute orders’ (Fabozzi & Modigliani 2003) and is licensed by ESCA. Stock 

market brokers play an important role in the UAE securities market as investors 

cannot place orders to buy or sell securities except through licensed brokers. Although 

most of the licensed brokers are not allowed to offer financial advice and their role is 

confined only to execute investors’ orders, they actually provide such services. For 

quite some time now, brokers in the UAE have been complaining about a lack of 

disclosure and the non-transparency of the market. It is therefore important to include 

this user-group. A list of all 66 authorized brokers was obtained from the ESCA. A 

senior staff member from each broker firm was selected and participated in the 

survey. Forty six questionnaires were completed and usable, representing a response 

rate of 70% (Table 5.4).   

5.3.3.8 Professional Accountants (Auditors) 

External auditors have an important role in financial communities where users of 

financial statements rely on external auditors’ attestation (Chang 2000) of financial 

statements to make business-related decisions. Belkaoui (1991) presented evidence to 

show that professional accountants were important to their countries in order to 
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improve their financial reporting and disclosure. Consequently, it was essential to 

seek the opinion of this group about corporate annual reports in the UAE. 

Auditors in this research are those who are working in accounting firms or offices17. 

All external auditors must be licensed by the Ministry of Economy in order to practise 

in the UAE. The list of all licensed auditors was obtained from the Ministry. At the 

time of study, there were 536 licensed auditors from which 50 audit firms and offices 

were randomly selected and provided with the questionnaire either personally or by 

mail (including email).  Selected firms/offices were asked to assign one of their senior 

staff to participate in this survey. Of the whole sample, 45 (or 90%) were completed 

and returned. 

5.3.4 Scoring of the Disclosure Index 

Based on the questionnaire results, a disclosure index was developed (see Appendix 

3). The mean technique was used to determine whether or not an item was to be 

included in the index. Following the method used by Al-Mulhem (1997) and Al-

Hussaini (2001), an item was perceived as important if it scored: (a) an aggregate 

mean of 4 points or more out of a total of 5, or (b) an aggregate mean of less than 4 

points but at least 50% of participants assigned 4 points or higher to a particular 

disclosure item.  

The scoring sheet, consisting of 62 items, was applied to the annual reports of UAE 

firms. A disclosure score for each firm was then calculated using the dichotomous 

technique, with a score one if an item was disclosed and zero if otherwise.  

                                                 
17 According to UAE low, an accounting firm has more than one owner, while an accounting office has 
only one owner. 
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5.4 UAE Firms’ Characteristics and the Extent of Disclosure  

Based on a number of theoretical frameworks, there has been empirical work 

regarding the relationship between firm-specific characteristics and the extent of 

corporate disclosure such as agency theory, signalling theory, capital market theory 

and cost-benefit theory (Haniffa & Cooke 2002). While these characteristics may be 

classified into various categories, they are not mutually exclusive (as explained in 

Section 3.4 of Chapter 3). In this study, the characteristics of a company were divided 

into four categories (market-related, performance-related, structure-related, and 

corporate governance variables) to explain the relationship between company 

characteristics and their disclosure in the UAE. 

5.4.1 Dependent and Independent Variables  

The dependent variable, total disclosure index (TDI), for each firm was the disclosure 

made by the firm through its annual report and was obtained from the procedures 

explained in Section 5.2.3. 

Independent variables are firm characteristics and the selection of these variables was 

derived from previous studies (e.g., Lang & Lundholm 1993; Wallace et al. 1994; 

Naser & Khatib 2000; Owsus-Ansah 1998b; Wallace & Naser 1995; Haniffa & Cooke 

2002; Archambault & Archambault 2003; Mak & Eng 2003). Also, the variables were 

selected to see whether they met the following three preconditions:  

• The variable encompasses sound theoretical reasons for explaining the 

association between the variable and corporate disclosure; 
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• The variable should be relevant to the socio-economic environment of the 

UAE; and 

• Sufficient data about the variable was available. 

Based on these criteria, eight firm-specific variables were selected in this research: (1) 

industry type, (2) listing status, (3) profitability, represented by return on equity ratio -

ROE, (4) liquidity, (5) firm size, (6) foreign ownership, (7) composition of board of 

directors, and (8) audit committee. The theoretical and empirical supports for these 

variables were discussed in Section 4.4 of Chapter 4. Data for these variables was 

obtained from the annual reports of the selected firms, and from the annual guide of 

firms published by ESCA. Table 5.5 summarises firm-specific characteristics, their 

proxies and sources of information. 
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Table 5.5: Summary of the Operationalization of Independent Variables 

Independent 
Variable Hypothesis Expected 

Sign Proxy Sources of 
Information 

Market 
Variables:     

Industry Type H3-a + 

Dummy variable coded: 
Industry 1(Banking) = 1, 
otherwise = 0  
Industry 2 (Insurance) = 
1, otherwise = 0  
Industry 3 (Services) = 1, 
otherwise = 0 
Industry 4 (Industrial) = 1, 
otherwise = 0 

ESCA, ADSM, 
and DFM 
publications 

Listing Status H3-b + 
Dummy variable coded 1 
= listed,  
0 = unlisted 

ESCA, ADSM, 
and DFM 
publications 

Performance 
Variables:     

Profitability-
ROE H3-c + 

Return on Equity = 
earnings/total 
shareholders' equity 

Firms’ Annual 
reports 

Liquidity H3-d +/- Current assets/ current 
liabilities 

Firms’ Annual 
reports 

Structure 
Variables:     

Firm Size 
(Market 
Capitalization) 

H3-e + 
Number of shares at 
year-end date X market 
value per share 

ESCA, ADSM, 
and DFM 
publications & 
firms annual 
reports 
 

Foreign 
Ownership H3-f + 

Percentage of non-UAE 
national investors’ 
ownership 

ESCA, ADSM, 
and DFM 
publications & 
firms annual 
reports 

Corporate 
Governance 
Variables:    

 

Composition of 
B.O.D. H3-g +/- 

Proportion of outside 
directors to the total 
number of directors 

ESCA, ADSM, 
and DFM 
publications & 
firms annual 
reports 

Audit 
Committee H3-h + 

Dummy variables coded:    
1 = if a company has an 
audit committee, 0 = 
otherwise 

ESCA, ADSM, 
and DFM 
publications & 
firms annual 
reports 
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Market Variables 

Market variables include industry type and listing status. Firms in the UAE market are 

divided by ESCA into four sectors, namely, banking, insurance, service, and 

industrial. Each participating firm’s industry sector was captured by a set of dummy 

variables (Tarca 2004; Owsus-Ansah & Yeoh 2005; Al-Shammari 2005). The 

banking sector was represented by a dummy variable of ‘industry 1’, insurance sector 

by ‘industry 2’, service sector by ‘industry 3’, and industrial sector was represented 

by a dummy variable of ‘industry 4’.   

A firm’s listing status was based on whether it was listed on the UAE securities 

market. This variable has been empirically tested previously (i.e. Cooke 1989a; 

Wallace et al. 1994; Al-Mulhem 1997; Chau & Gray 2002). A dummy variable 

‘listing’ was used to capture the listing status, where 1 means that the firm is listed 

and zero represents otherwise. 

Performance Variables 

Following prior studies, profitability and liquidity were used as proxies for 

performance variables. Profitability was measured by the rate of return on equity 

(ROE), and liquidity was measured by the current ratio. Both variables have been 

found empirically to have a positive impact on the extent of disclosure (Wallace et al. 

1994; Wallace & Naser 1995; Street & Bryant 2000; Naser & Al-Khatib 2000; Street 

& Gray 2001; Naser et al. 2002; Glaum & Street 2003).  
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Structure Variables 

Structure variables include market size of a firm and foreign ownership. A firm’s 

market size was calculated by multiplying the firm’s market price per share by market 

capitalization at the end of the financial year. This measure was used as it represents a 

firm’s current market value (Wallace & Naser 1995; Glaum & Street 2003; Al-

Shammari 2005). In relation to foreign ownership, researchers have found empirically 

that foreign ownership is an important variable in explaining the extent of disclosure 

(e.g., Craswell & Taylor 1992; Hossain et al. 1994; Haniffa & Cooke 2002; Makhija 

& Patton 2004). In this study, foreign ownership was measured by the proportion of 

non-UAE national investors. The data of such ownership was obtained from ESCA, 

ADSM, and DFM monthly bulletins. 

Corporate Governance Variables 

As noted previously, corporate governance variables include the composition of the 

board of directors, and the existence of an audit committee. The composition of the 

board of directors has been found empirically to have a positive relationship with the 

extent of disclosure (Gibbins et al. 1990; Mak & Eng 2003; Chen & Jaggi 2000). In 

this study, composition of the board of directors was measured by the proportion of 

non-executive directors to the total number of directors.  

The presence of an audit committee has also been argued to have an influential role in 

the financial reporting process by Kreutzfeldt and Wallace (1986) and Abbott et al. 

(2004). A dummy variable was used to capture the existence of an audit committee in 
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a firm, where 1 indicated that the firm has an audit committee and zero represented 

otherwise. 

5.4.2 Statistical Tests  

Different statistical approaches and methodologies have been adopted in previous 

studies to test the relationship between the extent of disclosure and various firm-

specific variables. Earlier studies (e.g., Singhvi & Desai 1971; Buzby 1975; Stanga 

1976; Belkaoui & Kahl 1978; Buckland et al. 1998) used the matched-pair statistical 

procedures to test the difference between the mean disclosure indexes of two or more 

groups of sample firms. More recent studies, starting with Chow and Wong-Boren 

(1987), have used multiple regression procedure which varied among these studies.  

For instance, some researchers used dummy variable manipulation procedures within 

a stepwise multiple Ordinary Least Squares (OLS) regression analysis (e.g., Cooke 

1989a, 1989b; Haniffa & Cooke 2002), while others used rank regression procedures 

(e.g., Land & Lundholm 1993; Wallace et al. 1994; Naser 1998; Chen & Jaggi 2000; 

Chau & Gray 2002) or meta-analysis technique (Ahmed & Courtis 1999). Wallace et 

al. (1994), Haniffa and Cooke (2002), and Archambault and Archambault (2003) used 

two regression models: reduced regression and full regression to deal with the 

potential of collinearity. 

In this research, both the univariate and multiple regression analyses are used to test 

the relationship between the characteristics of UAE firms and the extent of the 

disclosure they made. 
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5.4.2.1 Univariate Analysis 

The univariate analysis aims to test the relationship between a single explanatory 

variable and the extent of disclosure. Two types of univariate analysis were 

conducted. The first was descriptive analysis which includes the mean and standard 

deviation. The second test was a correlation test which highlights the relationship 

between a single explanatory variable and the extent of disclosure by UAE firms. 

Since the univariate analysis does not allow determination of the relationship among 

independent variables, multiple regression analysis was also used. 

5.4.2.2 Multiple Regression Analysis 

Multiple regression analysis allows the employment of several explanatory variables 

simultaneously. It provides a more balanced viewpoint about the relative importance 

and contribution of each variable in explaining the variability of the dependent 

variable. Hence, multiple ordinary least square (OLS) regression was used. The 

dependent variable in this case is the disclosure made by each firm in its annual report 

and it was measured by the total disclosure index-TDI (see section 5.2.3). The 

independent variables were firm-specific variables (i.e. size, industry type, listing 

status, liquidity, foreign ownership, composition of the board of directors and audit 

committee) shown in Figure 4.2. The regression model is expressed as follows: 

TDI = ∝ + β1 indtypei + β2 indtypei + β3 indtypei + β4 indtype  + β5 listingi + β6 ROEi 

+ β7 liquidi + β8 marcapi + β9 foriegni + β10 boardi + β11 auditi +  ε 

where: 

TDI  = Total disclosure index (actual score awarded to each firm/maximum score)  
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∝  = Intercept 

indtype = Industry type (indtype1 = Banking;  indtype2 = Insurance;  indtype3 =    

Services; indtype4 = Industrial 

listing  = Listing status 

ROE  = Return on equity 

liquid  = Liquidity 

marcap = Market capitalization 

foreign  = Foreign ownership 

board  = Board composition 

Audit  = Audit committee. 

ε  = Error term 

β1, β2, β3, β4, β5, β6, β7, β8, β9, β10, β11 = slope coefficients of the model. 

5.5 Chapter Summary 

This chapter identifies the research methods and the statistical techniques used in 

testing the research hypotheses. An index consisting of 317 items of information was 

developed to assess the current level of disclosure made by UAE firms. The second 

method related to the use of a survey questionnaire to examine the perception of 

different types of users about corporate disclosure and whether firms in the UAE 

disclose the information needed by those different types of users. The rationale for 

using these two methods was discussed in the chapter. In addition, the development of 

the index, the design of the research instrument, pilot testing, and participants were 

described.  
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Finally, the use of the univariate and multiple regression techniques was explained 

and detailed in order to examine the relationship between UAE firms’ characteristics 

and the extent of their disclosure. Chapter 6 will report the results of the data analysis. 



Chapter Six 

Analysis of Results: Part 1 

6.1 Introduction: 

The previous chapter dealt with methodological procedures and approaches to 

examine the quantity and quality of disclosure made by UAE firms. This chapter 

focuses on the results of the methods used to answer the first two research questions. 

Results of the third question relating to the regression analysis are reported in the next 

chapter (Chapter 7). The chapter proceeds as follows: Section 6.2 reports the result of 

the current level of disclosure using a disclosure index of 317 items. Section 6.3 is 

about assessing the extent to which corporate annual reports of UAE companies 

satisfy the information needs of different types of users. A summary in Section 6.4 

completes this chapter. 

6.2 Assessing the Current Level of Corporate Disclosure in the UAE 

For this analysis (Table 6.1), a sample of 113 companies was drawn from the four 

major sectors in the U.A.E - banking and finance, industrial, insurance, and services. 

Using the disclosure index outlined in Chapter 5, the annual reports of these 

companies were carefully analysed. Dichotomous procedure was adopted to calculate 

the disclosure level for each firm. A score of (1) was allotted to an item if it is 

applicable and disclosed and (0) if otherwise.  
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Table 6.1: Details of Sample Firms by Sector 

Sector 
Number of 
Companies Percentage 

Banking and Finance 25 22% 
Industrial 30 27% 
Insurance 24 21% 
Services 34 30% 
Total 113 100% 

6.2.1 The Level of Disclosure of All Corporate UAE Firms 

Table 6.2 provides descriptive analysis of the overall corporate mandatory disclosure 

in the sample. The mean disclosure value was 0.57 with a standard deviation of 0.09. 

The disclosure scores of the sample companies range from a minimum of 0.23 to a 

maximum of 0.70. A closer look into the table reveals that none of the companies in 

the sample complied with all the disclosure requirements of the mandatory items. 

While the mean disclosure score is considered moderate, approximately 40% of the 

companies scored below the average. 

Table 6.2: Descriptive Analysis of Disclosure in the Sample Firms 

Sector N Mean Std. Deviation Minimum Maximum 
Banking 25 0.622 0.057 0.499 0.698 
Insurance 24 0.551 0.030 0.487 0.611 
Industrial 30 0.549 0.119 0.229 0.686 
Services 34 0.550 0.083 0.276 0.684 
Total 113 0.566 0.086 0.229 0.698 

Table 6.3 presents the frequency distribution of the disclosure scores of the companies 

in the sample. The maximum disclosure score is 0.70, which signifies that none of the 

sampled companies had a score above 0.70. Of the entire sample, 64% of the 

companies scored between 0.50 and 0.65 and 18% scored below 0.50. Of those 

companies which scored below 0.50, 4% scored between 0.20 and 0.35. It is also 

observed that 82% of the companies scored below 0.65.  

 127



Based on this analysis, it can be concluded that there is great variability in the extent 

of disclosure scores of the chosen companies. Only 18% of the companies in the 

sample disclosed between 0.65 and 0.70 of what was required under the UAE 

Securities Market regulations and the IFRS. It is evident from these results that even 

those companies with a high disclosure score did not comply with a considerable 

number of requirements. 

Table 6.3: Frequency Distribution of Mandatory Disclosure Scores of the Sample 

Companies 

Disclosure Score Range  Number of 
Companies

Proportion of 
Sample (%) 

Cumulative 
(%) 

Between 0.20 and 0.35 4 4 4 
Between 0.35 and 0.50 16 14 18 
Between 0.50 and 0.65 73 64 82 
Between 0.65 and 0.70 20 18 100 
Total 113 100  

There are several reasons for this low level of compliance to IFRS in developing 

countries like the UAE. First, one of the critical elements in the implementation of IFRS 

is the rigorous enforcement of standards. It is the responsibility of a number of 

parties/institutions such as banking and insurance supervisory authorities, capital market 

authorities and securities exchanges to ensure the enforcement of IFRS. These institutions 

play important roles in enforcing financial reporting requirements (UNCTD 2006)18. 

The low level of disclosure in the UAE may be explained on the ground that there is 

not in place an adequate legal framework which makes disclosures and compliance 

mandatory, as compared to the situation in developed countries wherein securities 

markets are efficient and the accounting profession, as well as the legal framework, is 

well organized. The lack of enforcement and monitoring contributes to the low level 

                                                 
18 United Nation Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTD). 
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of disclosure in the UAE. Although there are regulatory authorities such as the 

CBUAE, ESCA and the Ministry of Economy, these authorities lack effective 

monitoring mechanisms and enforcement powers on non-compliant companies. In its 

assessment the IMF (2007) also reported that the overall regulation of the markets is 

somewhat fragmented between several different governmental agencies, where ESCA 

regulates IPOs and secondary stock issues and the CBUAE regulates investment 

funds and investment advisers. Such situation undermines the monitoring process. 

Second, there are other technical reasons challenging the practical implementation of 

IFRS such as a shortage of qualified accountants and auditors (UNCTD 2006). The 

adoption of IFRS represents the need for significant knowledge and skills required by 

accountants and auditors, who need to be equipped with appropriate levels of expertise 

and training to perform audit work with skill and care, and with the ability to make sound 

judgements in providing professional services.  

 

The practical implementation process is dependent on such qualified professionals who 

are technically competent to interpret and implement IFRS. For example, some IFRS such 

as IAS 32 (Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation) and IAS 39 (Financial 

Instrument: Recognition and Measurements) are technically driven and require skilled 

and qualified staff to deal with them. However, developing countries lack a sufficient 

number of qualified auditors and accounting staff who are technically competent to 

implement the IFRS. 

The third factor to be considered is the training extended to the qualified accountants who 

are required to implement the standards. Without adequate time between the date when a 

decision is made to implement the standard and the actual date of implementation, it 

becomes increasingly difficult to train a sufficient number of accountants, who are able to 
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competently comprehend the requirements of the standards and apply them accordingly. 

Cost factors and the lack of readily available training materials and experts in the field are 

also constraints. A further complication is that available training materials are mainly in 

English and not readily usable due to language barriers in certain countries (UNCTD 

2006). Thus, companies in the UAE have yet to invest adequately in training and 

education to ensure that, as IFRS becomes a reality, confusion is dispelled.  

Fourth, frequent and voluminous changes made by the IASB to the existing IFRS make it 

difficult to keep pace with new standards and changes strain the available technical 

capacity (UNCTD 2006). In many cases, although an initial plan has been drawn up to 

comply with the requirements, changes pose a challenge and render available resources 

insufficient.  

Fifth, the implementation of IFRS involves increased financial reporting risk (Patel & 

Bach 2006). Companies have yet to come to terms with the enhancement of 

processes, systems and controls to ensure that IFRS can be implemented correctly to 

minimize financial reporting risks. One of the difficulties associated with the 

implementation of IFRS is how to decide on the amount of information provided and 

the trade-off between quantitative and qualitative information. 

Sixth, one of the significant effects of IFRS standards is the adoption of fair value 

(UNCTD 2006) accounting instead of historical cost accounting. Standards such as 

IAS 2, IAS 16, IAS 17, IAS 20, IAS 21, IAS 28, IAS 30, IAS 32, IAS 36, IAS 40, IFRS 

2, IFRS 3, and IFRS 4, all require the use of fair value to measure investments, financial 

instruments, inventory, assets and the like. The adoption of fair value accounting in the 

UAE is relatively difficult as it is not an easy task to ascertain the fair value of many 
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assets due to the absence of an active market. Also, the country actually lacks 

qualified valuers and professional actuaries.  

Seventh, the technical details and complexities (UNCTD 2006) of IFRS pose a 

challenge to its implementation and compliance. While IFRS require the disclosure of 

considerably more information, the data tends to be of a technical nature and can be 

difficult to understand for users of financial reports. With the number of potential 

disclosures required by IFRS, the standards represent a considerable amount of 

additional work.  

6.2.2 Levels of Disclosure by Sectors 

Of the four sections, the banking sector scores the highest in terms of the mean 

disclosure value (0.62) which is higher than the overall mean disclosure score (0.57) 

of all sample firms (Table 6.2). The minimum and the maximum disclosure scores for 

this sector are 0.50 and 0.70 respectively. While the UAE Central Bank has mandated 

all banks to adopt IFRS, Table 6.2 shows that none of the banks have complied with 

all the mandatory requirements set by the UAE securities market and IFRS. 

The Central Bank of the UAE plays an important role in monitoring and supervising 

the banking industry. This role has led to an improvement in the quality of services 

and performance of banks in the UAE. In 1999 the Central Bank issued a circular 

requiring all banks to adopt international accounting standards. The higher level of 

disclosure as compared to the other sectors can be attributed to the control and 

monitoring implemented by the Central Bank.  
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 Although the banking sector has scored the highest compared to other sectors, the 

findings suggest that not all information is disclosed in a way which fully satisfies the 

requirements set down by the IFRS and the UAE Securities market. Though the banks 

may comply with the requirements of the Central Bank, there is a still much to be 

achieved in respect of compliance with such requirements. For example, in the case of 

IFRS 30 (Disclosures in Financial Statements of Banks and Similar Financial 

Institutions), the mean disclosure score is 0.64 (Table 6.4), which emphasizes the fact 

that there is a considerable way to go to adhere to this specific requirement in totality.  

The insurance sector comes next with a mean disclosure value of 0.55 and a standard 

deviation of 0.03 (Table 6.2). The minimum and the maximum scores for the 

insurance sector are 0.49 and 0.61 respectively, which suggests that the scores are 

uniformly spread around the mean score. However, it is noted that the overall score 

for the insurance sector is moderate and this could be attributed to the fact that it is 

not highly regulated and the application of the IFRS is not yet imposed upon these 

companies.  

From Table 6.2 it can be observed that the industrial and services sectors scored 

slightly below the average. The mean disclosure values for the industrial and services 

sectors are almost the same (0.55) with a standard deviation of 0.119 and 0.083 

respectively. It is also important to note that there has been a big variance in the 

scoring pattern over the sample companies in these two sectors compared to the other 

sectors. The minimum scores are 0.23 for the industrial sector and 0.28 for the 

services sector, whereas the maximum scores are 0.69 and 0.68 respectively. As noted 

in Table 6.3, 18% of the sampled companies scored below 0.50 and the majority of 

these companies were from the industrial and the services sectors. 
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Table 6.4: Descriptive Analysis of Compliance with Each Requirement of the 

UAE Securities Market and IAS/IFRS 
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6.2.3 Compliance with each of the UAE Securities Market and IFRS Requirements 

As explained previously, compliance was measured after identifying the 317 disclosure 

items, of which 6 pertained to the UAE Securities Market, and the remainder relate to the 

disclosure requirements of IFRS. 

UAE Securities Market requirements:  

Table 6.4 shows that the mean disclosure value for UAE Securities Market 

requirements is 0.37, with a standard deviation of 0.18. While a minimum score of 

zero signifies that there were some companies totally non-compliant, the maximum 

disclosure score of 0.67 suggests that no company has complied with all the 

requirements. 

Almost all the companies failed to provide comparative figures for the two previous 

reporting years. This may be due to the fact that this requirement contradicts the 

requirements of the IFRS, which requires a comparison only with the figures for the 

immediate previous year. Providing figures for the two previous years is time-

consuming and costly since this may require re-classification of figures to facilitate 

comparison with the current year. 

It was observed that information about future activities and projects was not disclosed 

either partly because the companies did not have specific plans in place or they were 

hesitant to disclose such information so as not to lose the edge over their competitors. 

With respect to financial risk disclosure, it was noticed that most of the companies did 

not comply. This might be due to the fact that such disclosures require expertise in 
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assessing and quantifying risks, which is not readily available in the UAE market at 

present. 

IFRS:  

Table 6.4 reveals that the mean compliance value for IFRS is 0.47 with minimum and 

maximum values of 0.12 and 0.66 respectively. Hence, the compliance level with 

IFRS hence is considered low, and in order to explore the disclosure practices of UAE 

firms relating to these standards, the compliance with each IFRS could be regrouped 

based on the mean scores as reported in Table 6.5 below. 

Table 6.5: Mean Compliance Scores of IFRS 

IFRS Mean Compliance  
Scores 

IAS 1 ; 2 ; 18 ; 30 Between 0.61 and 0.73 
IAS 8 ; 10 ; 16 ; 21 ; 40 Between 0.50 and 0.60 
IAS 19 ; 24; 32 ; 33 ; 37 ; IFRS 2 ; 3 ; 4 ; 5 Between 0.40 and 0.50 
IAS 11 ; 14 ; 20 ; 23 ; 27 ; 31 ; 36 ; 38 Between 0.30 and 0.40 
IAS 17 ; 28 Below 0.30 

IAS 1, 2, 18 and 30 were the standards with which most firms complied. IAS 1, which 

deals with the general presentation of the financial statements, has the highest mean 

disclosure value of 0.73 (see Table 6.4) compared to that of other standards. However, 

a lack of disclosure information (either quantitative or qualitative), as required in the 

notes of accounts, contributes to the low compliance to this standard.  

This result is lower than a recent study by Al-Shammari (2005) in which he found that 

the average level of compliance for IAS 1 was 0.88 between 1996 and 2002 in GCC  

countries, including the UAE. However, it should be pointed out that the current IAS 

1 has many additional disclosure requirements, which have made compliance more 

difficult than that of the Al-Shammari (2005) study. 
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The mean disclosure values for IAS 2 and IAS 18 are 0.61 and 0.63 respectively. 

These two standards resulted in high compliance mean scores due to the simplicity of 

the requirements which made them easy to fulfil. Al-Shammari (2005) also reported a 

high mean disclosure value of 0.89 for IAS 18. 

The mean disclosure value of IAS 30 is 0.64. This standard specifies certain 

disclosures and classifications to be reported in the balance sheet and income 

statement of banks and financial institutions. Although banks have fared better in 

terms of compliance due to the fact that they are more regulated and monitored by the 

UAE Central Bank, several banks in the UAE failed to meet the requirements of the 

standard, such as fair values of each class of financial assets/liabilities, concentration 

of assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items, and specific disclosures for maturity 

of assets and liabilities. 

The mean compliance scores in the case of IAS 8, 10, 16, 21 and 40 ranged between 

0.50 and 0.60. In the case of IAS 8, which relates to the changes in the accounting 

policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors, the mean disclosure score was 

0.58. However, the compliance was considered only moderate since many companies 

did not disclose the amount and descriptive information to fully comply with the 

requirements.  

IAS 10 deals with events that take place after the balance sheet date and their 

financial effect. The mean disclosure score for this standard was 0.5619. In addition to 

the disclosure of events that take place after the balance sheet date, this standard also 

requires two simple disclosures: the date when the financial statements were 

                                                 
19 Al-Shammari (2005) reported the overall average disclosure score of 0.69 for IAS 10 for the years 
1996 to 2002.   
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authorized for release and who gave that authorization. Certain companies failed to 

provide even this simple piece of information.  

As regards IAS 16 (Property, Plant and Equipment), the mean disclosure score is 

0.58. Disclosing the gross carrying cost of assets, accumulated depreciation, 

additions, disposals, revaluation and impairment are easy to comply with. However, 

one of the reasons for the moderate disclosure score for this standard in the UAE is 

the lack of adequate disclosure regarding the commitments to acquire property, plant 

and equipment. In addition, it was observed that there was a lack of disclosure on the 

significant assumptions made and methods employed in estimating the fair value of 

the assets. 

The mean disclosure score for IAS 21 (The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange 

Rates) is 0.55, which is approximately similar to that of Al-Shammari (2005). The 

low level of compliance by UAE firms can be explained on the grounds that this 

standard is quite complicated and not easy to fulfil. For example, some sample 

companies faced difficulty in distinguishing between monetary and non-monetary 

items20. The difficulties in complying with the requirements of this standard were also 

evidenced in Street, Gray and Bryant (1999).  

IAS 40 deals with Investment property and spells out the requirements of two 

disclosure models – fair value model and the cost model. The methods and significant 

assumptions applied in determining the fair value of investment property seem to be a 

difficult task facing UAE firms in the absence of adequate means and a prevailing 

                                                 
20 Monetary items are units of currency held, and assets and liabilities to be received or paid in a fixed 
or determinable number of units of currency. 
  

 137



market to ascertain such fair values. However, where the cost model is adopted, the 

disclosures are comparatively easier to comply with and this has resulted in a fairly 

moderate disclosure score (0.51). 

In the case of IAS 19, 24, 32, 33, 37 and IFRS 2, 3, 4 and 5 the compliance could be 

considered low with mean disclosure values ranging from 0.40 to 0.50. IAS 19 

requires the disclosure of a liability when an employee has provided service in 

exchange for employee benefits to be paid in the future. The emphasis of this standard 

is to account for employee benefits on an accrual basis and not on cash or actual 

payment basis. This requires actuarial valuation to measure the obligations of a reporting 

entity. Detailed calculations tend to be difficult and a concerted effort in this regard is 

required to comply with the requirements of this standard. Consequently, the disclosure 

value is low where the mean disclosure score for this standard is 0.43.   

Considering the socio-economic features of the UAE, which has a small population 

and a number of family-owned business entities, IAS 24 (Related Parties) holds much 

significance especially in the industrial and services sectors. The compliance with this 

standard is low with a mean disclosure score of 0.42. IAS 24 requires all transactions 

with “close family members of a related party” to be disclosed. As noted in Haidar 

(2006), differences in culture and family connections make it more challenging for 

Middle East countries to adopt this standard. Indeed, most of the sample companies 

avoid disclosing information relating to transactions with related parties. While in 

most cases the total key managerial compensation packages were provided, there was 

no disclosure of any significant substance with connection to outstanding loan 

balances, guarantees, and provision for doubtful debts or write-off in respect of dues 

from related parties.  
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The mean disclosure value for IAS 32 (Financial instruments) is 0.46. This standard 

comprises many definitions, rules and exceptions with regard to financial instruments, 

their measurement and disclosure. The requirements of this standard are fairly 

exhaustive and complicated, involving disclosures about risk management and 

hedges, fair value of financial instruments, credit risk, defaults and breaches. Meeting 

this standard required a high degree of precision and a precise estimate of fair values.  

As the revised version (2003) of this standard was effective from 1st January 2005, 

the annual reports of the sample companies in the UAE were affected by this revised 

standard during the study period. 

IAS 33 requires the disclosure of earnings per share (EPS) in order to improve 

performance comparisons between different companies in the same period and 

between different accounting periods for the same entity. The mean disclosure score 

for this standard is 0.44, which is considered low compared to the score of 0.77 for 

the GCC countries as reported by Al-Shammari (2005). This may be due to the 

difference in the sample size between the two studies where only 9 companies from 

the UAE were included in Al-Shammari (2005). Also, longitudinal data (1996-2002) 

was used rather than the cross-sectional data used in the present study. While the 

basic EPS was disclosed in this study, there was a lack of disclosure in respect of 

instruments (including contingently issuable shares) that could potentially dilute basic 

earnings per share in the future. The low level of compliance may be due to the 

revision brought about by this standard in 2003. The new version requires more detail 

in terms of instruments (contingently issuable shares) which were not included in the 

calculation of diluted EPS. The standard requires companies to provide a description 

on potential ordinary share transactions occurring after the balance sheet date which 
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would have changed significantly the number of ordinary shares or potential ordinary 

shares outstanding at the end of the period. 

For IAS 37 (provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets, the mean 

disclosure score is 0.41. Generally, the sample firms provided quantitative 

information in various provisions. However, there was not much information 

disclosed by a number of the sample companies with regard to the description, nature, 

timing, uncertainties and assumptions for each class of provisions. 

The mean disclosure score for IFRS 2 is 47% with a standard deviation of 0.153. The 

minimum score is zero and the maximum is 0.67 which implies that there were 

companies which have not complied with this requirement. This standard requires 

disclosure about shared-based payments, which are transactions in which the entity 

receives or acquires goods or services either as consideration for its equity 

instruments or by incurring liabilities for amounts based on the price of the entity's 

shares or other equity instruments of the entity. 

However the lack of disclosure was found in respect of the following:  first, how the 

fair value of the goods or services received, or the fair value of the equity instruments 

granted during the period was determined. Second, the disclosure of the effect of the 

share-based payment transactions on the entity’s profit or loss for the period and on its 

financial position should be made. In the case of the first, certain companies disclose 

the method of determining the fair values whereas in the case of the second, the level 

of disclosure was low.  
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The mean disclosure score for this IFRS 3 is 42% with a standard deviation of 0.23. 

The minimum score is zero and the maximum is 0.83 which also implies that there 

were some totally non-compliant companies. Generally, most of the sample 

companies did not provide disclosure of the cost of combination with separate 

disclosure of the number and fair value of equity instruments issued and how fair 

value was determined. Also, no information about negative goodwill, if any, was 

recognized in the profit and loss account. Further, no details about the factors that 

contributed to the recognition of goodwill and information about the acquiree's 

revenue and profit or loss were provided. 

The compliance of IFRS 4, which applies specifically to the insurance sector, is 

considered low with a mean disclosure score of 0.43. This standard requires 

disclosures in respect of risk management objectives and policies, insurance risk (both 

before and after risk mitigation by reinsurance) as well as terms and conditions of 

insurance contracts that have a material effect on the amount, timing, and uncertainty 

of the insurer's future cash flows. It seems that most of the companies in the sample 

found it difficult to comply with the requirements of this standard since it was applied 

for the first time, applicable only from January 2005.  

IFRS 5 requires the results of discontinued operations to be presented as a single 

amount on the face of the income statement. The mean disclosure score for this IFRS 

is 45% with a standard deviation of 0.24. The minimum score is zero and the 

maximum is 0.83. It seems that UAE firms faced difficulties in complying with the 

requirements of this standard. For example, adequate description and explanation 

about assets classified as held for sale was not found or disclosed separately. 

Furthermore, in the case of the sale of assets, no description of facts and 
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circumstances surrounding the sale was provided. Moreover, it was observed that 

disclosure was lacking due to practical issues connected with the reclassification and 

adjustment of the amounts, which needed a considerable amount of effort in certain 

cases. 

The compliance with IAS 11, 14, 20, 23, 27, 31, 36 and 38 amongst the sample firms 

was considered very low, and in the case of IAS 17 and 28 was the lowest. IAS 11 

prescribes the accounting treatment of revenue and costs associated with construction 

contracts. The mean disclosure value was 0.32. Sample companies disclosed the 

revenue recognized and the value of contracts in progress. However, several 

companies did not disclose detailed information on the methods used to determine 

revenue, and the stage of completion, which were considered difficult and time-

consuming. Also, the adoption of this standard has a direct impact on the profitability 

of a company. 

The mean disclosure score for IAS 14 was 0.3821. This low level of compliance could 

be due to the practice that companies in the UAE did not generally disclose segment 

information, which was perceived as giving useful information to competitors but 

detrimental to the disclosing company. In addition, providing segmental information 

incurs costs in preparation, auditing and disseminating the required information. Thus, 

firms may become reluctant to publish such information in their annual reports.   

Consequently, it was widely observed that information on lines of business or the 

geographical area was not provided. Consequently segmental results, assets and 

liabilities of the various segments and information in respect of inter-segment 

                                                 
21 Compared to the overall compliance average of 0.46 in the GCC countries as reported by Al-
Shammari (2005). 
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transactions were not sufficiently available in the annual reports. In the banking and 

insurance sectors, however, information on lines of business was provided. This is 

because banks and insurance companies have specified lines of business. For 

example, insurance companies have life insurance, general insurance etc. 

The least complied with standard was IAS 17 (Leases), which has a mean disclosure 

score of 0.21. The low mean score could be attributed to the complex nature of 

required disclosure. Consequently, information on the present value of future lease 

payments and receivables, and contingent rents was not sufficiently provided by the 

sampled companies. It seems that classification of leases into financial and operating 

according to the definitions provided in the standard was one of the problems faced by 

UAE companies. 

IAS 20 deals with the accounting and disclosure of government grants and 

government assistance. The mean disclosure score for this standard is considered low 

at 0.32. In cases where the grants were in the form of land or property, the compliance 

was relatively easy since the cost or the fair value was provided. However in the case 

of income-related grants, it was found that companies did not adequately disclose the 

related expenditure as required by the standard. There was a lack of compliance in 

respect of disclosing the unfulfilled conditions and contingencies attached to 

recognized grants.  

The mean disclosure value for IAS 23 is 0.33. With regard to the treatment of 

borrowing costs, especially the amount capitalized during the period and the 

capitalization rate used, it was found that disclosure was not adequate. Also, 

information on amortization of ancillary costs, incurred in arrangement of borrowings, 
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was not adequately provided. UAE companies faced some potential difficulties in 

complying with the requirements of this standard. These included the determination of 

capitalized borrowing costs, date of capitalization and the cessation of capitalization 

following the conclusion of projects. In addition, firms were concerned that 

capitalization costs could result in the assets being overvalued and subsequently 

higher depreciation might affect their profitability in future. 

IAS 27 prescribes reporting requirements for consolidated financial statements. The 

mean disclosure score for this standard is 0.35, which is considered low. Generally, 

there was no detailed information in respect of the nature and extent of significant 

restrictions on transfer of funds, the nature of the relationship in case of investment 

through subsidiaries especially when the parent does not own more than half of the 

voting power in the subsidiaries. 

Adequate disclosures in respect of IAS 28 (Investments in Associates) and IAS 31 

(Joint Ventures) were not provided. The mean disclosure scores for these two 

standards were low at 0.28 and 0.36 respectively. Disclosure about the fair value of 

investments, the nature and extent of restrictions on the ability of associates to transfer 

funds to the investor, details of contingent liabilities and methods used to recognize 

interests in jointly controlled entities were in most cases not provided. The main 

reason for this low score may be due to the difficulties involved in complying with 

these requirements and to the social and cultural background of the UAE where a high 

sense of secrecy (Ho & Wong 2001) prevails. 

In the case of IAS 36 (Impairment of Assets), the mean disclosure score was 0.33, 

which could also be considered low. While quantitative information on losses was 
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generally provided, several companies in the sample did not comply with other 

requirements, including events and circumstances resulting from the impairment loss 

and detailed information about the estimates used to measure recoverable amounts.  

The mean disclosure value for IAS 38 (Intangible Assets) is 0.38. It was observed that 

UAE firms had not paid adequate attention to the accounting of intangible assets. 

Assets like goodwill, patents and copyrights are not quantified and appropriately 

disclosed in the financial statements. This may be due to a lack of the mechanism of 

an active market to determine the fair values of many intangible assets.  

In summary and based on the above findings, the disclosure level of the UAE firms 

sampled is considered low to moderate in terms of total sample firms (mean = 0.57), 

sector, and individual standards. Therefore, H1, which states that UAE firms are 

adequately disclosing the information items required by UAE statutory requirements 

and IFRS, is empirically rejected. 

These results are consistent with results in other developing countries where a low 

level of compliance with disclosure requirements has also been reported (e.g., 

Nigeria: Wallace 1988; Bangladesh: Ahmed & Nicholls 1994; Hong Kong: Wallace 

& Naser 1995; Tower et al. 1999; and Street & Gary 2001; Jordan: Solas 1994, Naser 

1998 and Suwaidan 1997; Zimbabwe: Owsus-Ansah 1998b; and Tanzania: Abayo et 

al. 1993). 

In comparison with similar studies involving the GCC countries, which share the 

same socio-economic features, the findings are also consistent with the results of a 
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number of studies. For example, a low level of disclosure was found in Kuwait22 

(Abdelrahim, Hewaidy & Mostafa 1997; and Abdelrahim & Mostafa 2000). Similar 

results were reported in Bahrain (Joshi & Al-Mudhaki 2001), and in Saudi Arabia 

(Al-Mulhim 1997). However, Al-Shammari (2005) reported a higher disclosure score 

(80%) for the UAE. As explained earlier, this might be due mainly to the different 

disclosure index used and to the small sample size where he included only 9 UAE 

firms. Also, the requirements as per the earlier IFRS (IAS) were not as complex as 

they were during 2005. For example IAS 1 (Presentation of Financial Statements) was 

issued in its current form in December 2003 to be applicable to accounting periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2005. In addition, IFRS with more and more 

emphasis on fair value have been introduced, which have made compliance tougher 

compared to earlier years. 

6.3 UAE Firms’ Disclosure and Users’ Needs for Information  

As mentioned earlier, corporate annual reports are considered the main vehicle which 

firms use to communicate information to external users. Given that annual reports 

should contain sufficient information on a firm’s profitability, liquidity, and future 

performance, investors, creditors, and other users of annual reports can be expected to 

use them to make sound economic decisions. In this study, the survey instrument was 

used to elicit the perceptions of external users about the usefulness of corporate 

annual reports issued by UAE firms. Therefore, this section is devoted to examining 

the information needs of users and the extent to which their needs have been satisfied 

by current corporate annual reports. 

                                                 
22 However, Al-Hussaini (2001) reported a high level of disclosure which might be due to the small 
number of the sample companies and to the small number of information items (27) used in the index. 
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The survey instrument used in this study was a questionnaire (see Appendix 2), 

comprising three sections: (1) demographic information on participants, (2) 

participants’ perception of the current corporate annual reports and their usefulness, 

and (3) participants’ perceptions of the importance of disclosure items that could be 

presented in annual reports issued by UAE firms. 

Eight user groups took part in this survey:  

• Individual investors; 
• Institutional investors; 
• Governmental investors; 
• Government representatives; 
• Fund managers; 
• Bank credit officers; 
• Stock market brokers; 
• Professional accountants/auditors; 

A total of 512 questionnaires were distributed to these participants. Of this sample, 

395 responses were deemed to be usable, resulting in a favourable response rate of 

77% (Table 5.4 in chapter 5). This high response rate, compared with other similar 

studies, could be justified on the ground that the randomly selected participants were 

contacted personally by the researcher to save time and to secure an acceptable 

response rate. Findings of this survey and the scrutiny23 test are reported in the 

following subsections. 

6.3.1 Demographic Profile of the Sample 

As users of corporate annual reports differ in their characteristics (including age, 

education and accounting experience), their needs for information and their ability to 

use and understand such accounting information, are expected to vary. Table 6.6 

                                                 
23 Scrutiny test is the examination of each annual report against the index of the 62 information items. 

 147



presents a comparison of gender, age, level of education, accounting qualifications 

and accounting experience of participants. It shows that due to the UAE social 

background, the sample was predominantly male (88.9%) with only 11.1% of the 

sample female. The sample as a whole can be considered well-educated, with 77% 

holding accounting and financial qualifications or having attended financial courses. 

In term of accounting and financial experience, 68.4% of the respondents had 

experience in accounting and finance. These outcomes were to be expected as the 

sample consisted of annual report users who were investors, fund managers, bank 

credit officers, stock brokers and accountants. 

Table 6.6: Personal Characteristics of the Study Sample 

Description % 
Male 88.9 
Female 11.1 
UAE-National 33.7 
Non-National 66.3 
Accounting & Financial 
Qualifications:  

• None 5.5 
• Attended Accounting and 

Financial Courses 
19.9 

 
• Holding accounting and 

financial qualifications 
57.1 

 
• Other 17.5 

No Accounting and Financial 
Experience 31.6 

Have Accounting and Financial 
Experience 68.4 

6.3.2 The Most Important Source of Information to Users 

The concept of disclosure covers a wide area and firms may use different sources to 

communicate and disclose their information. User-groups also have various purposes 

for using financial and non-financial information and thus may rely on different 
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sources of information. Hence the objective of this section of the study was to identify 

the different sources of information being used for making economic decisions.  

There have been several studies (Table 6.7) which examine the extent to which users 

rely on specific sources of information in their decision-making processes. The 

overall finding of these studies is that corporate annual reports are the most important 

source of information for external users (e.g., Anderson 1981; Most & Chang 1979; 

Abu-Nassar 1993; Anderson & Epstein 1995; Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1995, 1996; 

Ho & Wong 2001; Naser & Nuseibeh 2003; and Al-Shayeb 2003b, 2005).  

Given that corporate annual reports are issued once a year, external users may rely on 

other sources of information to keep updated on relevant and important news about 

company activities (Zeghal & Ahmed 1990). Based on literature, eight sources of 

information were identified. Participants were asked to determine the most important 

source of information for their decision-making.  
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Table 6.7: Users’ Ranking of the Importance of the Source of Information as 

Reported by Previous Studies. 

 
* Other Statements are not ranked as they include different sources such as trade journals, advice from 

investment services, and company personnel. 

Table 6.8 shows that corporate annual reports, with a mean value of 4.25, are the most 

important source of information. This is followed by stock market publications (mean 
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= 3.63) and contact with the company’s management (mean = 3.10). Advisory 

services by stock brokers, advice of friends, and tips and rumours were perceived as 

the least important sources of information. This finding is consistent with prior 

studies.  

Table 6.8: the Most Important Source of Information to Users 

Source of Information Mean Std. 
Deviation 

Corporate annual reports 4.25 0.838 
Stock market publications 3.63 0.967 
Contact with the company's management 3.10 1.366 
Newspapers and magazines 2.76 0.941 
Government publications 2.76 1.557 
Advisory services by a stock broker 2.71 1.093 
Advice of friends 2.27 1.037 
Tips and rumours 1.95 1.046 

In terms of the importance of annual reports in decision-making, the percentile 

analysis shows that, in total, about 80% of user-groups rate corporate annual reports 

either as a very important or extremely important source of information (Table 6.9). 

Further analysis was performed to identify whether there were significant differences 

among user-groups in their perception of the importance of different sources of 

information. Using Chi-square test, the results show statistically significant 

differences (H=670.554, P-value=0.00) in the perceived importance of different 

sources of information identified by the different user-groups. This result is also 

consistent with other similar previous studies (e.g., Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1996; 

Al-Shayeb 2003b; and Mirshekary & Saudagaran 2005). 
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Table 6.9: Importance of Corporate Annual Reports 

Importance of corporate annual reports 

Classify Yourself Not 
Important 

Slightly 
Important  

Moderately 
important  

Very 
important   

Extremely 
important   Total 

Individual Investor - 1% 31% 25% 43% 100% 
Institutional 
investor - 2% 17% 33% 48% 100% 

Bank credit officer - - 5% 24% 71% 100% 
Government  
representative - - 20.00% 40.00% 40.00% 100% 

Fund manager - -  46% 55% 100% 
Government  
investor - 7% 10% 40% 43% 100% 

Stock market 
broker 3% 4% 24% 41% 28% 100% 

Professional 
accountant/auditor - - 19% 31% 50% 100% 

Total 0.0% 2% 18% 32% 48% 100% 
Chi-Square = 670.55                  Sig. 0.00 

To ascertain the extent to which users use corporate annual reports in their decision-

making processes, respondents were asked to indicate whether or not they use such 

reports. Table 6.10 reveals that most participants (except individual investors) use 

corporate annual reports to make economic decisions. The output of a Kruskal-Wallis 

test indicates that there is a significant difference at 1% level in the frequency of 

usage of annual reports by different user-groups in their decision-making processes.  

Fund managers, followed by bank credit officers and government representatives 

make the greatest use of the reports. This usage can be explained on the ground that 

fund managers and bank credit officers are more concerned about long term 

investments, profitability, cash flows, and other ongoing concerns, which can be 

extracted from annual reports.  
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Table 6.10: Usage of Corporate Annual Reports in Decision Making Process 

User-Groups 
Using Corporate 
Annual Reports 

in Decision-
Making 

Total 

 No Yes  
Individual Investor 60.60% 39.40% 100.00%
Institutional Investor 22.20% 77.80% 100.00%
Bank Credit Officer 4.50% 95.50% 100.00%
Government Representative 16.70% 83.30% 100.00%
Fund Manager 0.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Government Investor 33.30% 66.70% 100.00%
Stock Market Broker 37.00% 63.00% 100.00%
Professional Accountant/Auditor 17.80% 82.20% 100.00%
Average 36.60% 63.40% 100.00%
Chi-Square = 23.367         Sig. = 0.001 

In addition, in developing countries like the UAE securities markets are generally less 

developed and in the absence of adequate and reliable information, corporate annual 

reports become one of the most significant sources of information. The largest usage 

by government representatives can be attributed to the fact that government needs 

financial and non-financial information to monitor market activities in order to ensure 

its efficiency (Barrett 1977; Kothari 2001). 

On the other hand, individual investors made the lowest usage of annual reports. This 

can be attributed mainly to the fact that most individual investors are traders who are 

short-term investors and rely heavily on technical analysis rather than fundamental 

analysis. This low level of usage can also be attributed to other possible factors, 

including the lack of the necessary financial and accounting backgrounds related to 

investment in securities markets, reliance on the work of other users, and access to 

other sources of information (Al-Shayeb 2003b).  

In general, it can be concluded that corporate annual reports are regarded as the most 

important source of information for users in the UAE, except for individual investors. 
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These findings are consistent with similar studies in developed countries (e.g., Lee & 

Tweedi 1975; Epstein & Pava 1993; Streuly 1994; Anderson & Epstein 1995). 

However, Eccles and Mavrinac (1995) and Ho and Wong (2001) found that corporate 

annual reports were ranked the third most important source of information after 

individual meetings and press releases in the United States.  

The reported importance of corporate annual reports is also consistent with results of 

the studies conducted in developing countries (e.g., Nicholls & Ahmed 1995; Ho & 

Wong 2001; Hooks et al. 2002), and other countries with a similar socio-economic 

environment to that of the UAE (e.g., Mattar 1988; Abdelsalam 1990; Abu-Nassar & 

Rutherford 1995, 1996; Basheikh & Page 2003; and Al-Shayeb 2005). Also, as in 

these countries, magazines, newspapers and broker advices were found to be less 

important sources of information in the UAE compared to that in developed countries 

(Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1996). This contrast could again be attributed to the 

difference in socio-economic environment between developed and developing 

countries.  

6.3.3 Do Corporate Annual Reports Meet the Needs of Users? 

To gain an insight into current corporate disclosure, participants were asked to 

indicate their perceptions of the sufficiency of existing corporate annual reports in 

serving their needs. As Table 6.11 shows, about 56% of users perceive that current 

corporate annual reports do not provide sufficient information. On the other hand 

about 42% consider the current level of disclosure sufficient. 
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Table 6.11: Sufficiency of Disclosure Level in Corporate Annual Reports 

Classify Yourself Sufficient 
information

Insufficient
information

Too much  
information  
than what I 

need 
Total 

Individual Investor 33.30% 61.90% 4.80% 100% 
Institutional investor 37.70% 60.40% 1.90% 100% 
Bank credit officer 36.60% 61% 2.40% 100% 
Government 
representative 40% 40% 20% 100% 

Fund manager 36.40% 63.60% 0% 100% 
Governmental 
investor 50% 50% 0% 100% 

Stock market broker 60% 40% 0% 100% 
Professional 
accountant/auditor 52.80% 47.20% 0% 100% 

 Total 41.90% 55.70% 2.40% 100% 
Nonparametric testa .515 

a The nonparametric p-value is a Kruskal Wallis  test. 

Participants ranked the sufficiency of current corporate disclosure differently. As 

expected, institutional investors, bank credit officers, and fund managers perceived 

the current corporate disclosure as insufficient. These groups rely heavily on 

corporate annual reports to make business decisions. On the other hand, stock market 

brokers considered current corporate disclosure sufficient. This might be explained on 

the grounds that until recently the UAE securities market was dominated by 

speculators rather than long-term investors. Thus, to carry out their duties in a 

speculative market, brokers mainly require a limited scope of information such as 

price-earnings ratio and stock yield, which are available or can be extracted from 

current corporate annual reports. 

Interestingly, professional accountants and auditors also perceive the information 

provided in these reports as sufficient. This might be attributed to avoiding criticism 

(of their own profession) as preparers or auditors for not providing sufficient 
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information in corporate annual reports. Similarly, government investors and 

representatives perceived current corporate annual reports as neither sufficient nor 

insufficient. This might be due to the accessibility to other sources of information that 

government enjoys. 

However, the most interesting finding is that individual investors, of whom the 

majority do not use corporate annual reports for their investments (see Table 6.10), 

consider current levels of disclosure insufficient. This means that the majority of 

individual investors rely on other sources of information because they are not satisfied 

with the disclosure level of current corporate annual reports.  

A Kruskal Wallis test was employed in Table 6.11 to determine the differences, if 

any, among user-groups in perceiving important items in the annual reports.  The 

results shows that there is no a statistically significant difference in recognizing the 

important items across the user-groups. The p-value is .515 which is more than the 

alpha of .05. Therefore, the results suggest that the user-groups perception of annual 

reports is homogeneous (i.e., the items were valued consistently) and their 

information needs are not met as mentioned above. In short, these empirical results 

reject the hypothesis (H2) which states that firms in the UAE adequately disclose 

information items perceived to be important by user-groups in their annual reports. 

These results suggest that current corporate disclosure in the UAE is still far from 

providing the majority of external users with the information they need, and 

improvements in both market structure and the corporate communication process are 

essential. These findings are somehow consistent with the results of similar studies 

conducted in the UAE by Al-Shayeb (2003b, 2005), who found that more than 50% of 
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the respondents perceived the amount of disclosure as insufficient and inadequate. 

The results are also consistent with findings reported in other countries such as Jordan 

(Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1996), New Zealand (Hooks 2002), and Hong Kong (Ho 

& Wong 2001, 2003). 

In order to understand problems facing user-groups in employing corporate annual 

reports, participants were asked to rank six potential problems in examining them. 

Table 6.12 provides a summary of these responses. Using the mean technique, a high 

proportion of participants showed concern about the delay in publishing annual 

reports (mean = 0.34). Lack of adequate information (mean = 0.29), lack of trust 

(mean = 0.18), and lack of unified accounting and reporting standards (mean = 0.17) 

were also reported as further problems facing users of corporate annual reports in the 

UAE.  

Bank credit officers, fund managers, institutional investors, and government investors 

were more concerned about these problems than other user-groups. This can be 

justified on the ground that these groups are long-term investors and they rely more 

on corporate annual reports in their business decisions than other user-groups 

Nevertheless, it can be concluded that all user-groups believed that delays in 

publishing annual reports, a lack of trust in the information provided, of access to 

financial reports, of unified financial and reporting standards, and finally, a lack of 

adequate information were the areas of most concern in the UAE.  

 

 



 

Table 6.12: Problems Affecting the Use of Corporate Annual Reports 

Classify yourself 
Problem 

in 
delaying

Problem 
in trust 

Problem in 
adequate 

information

Problem in 
having 
unified 

accounting 
and 

reporting 
standards 

Problem 
in 

having 
qualified 
auditors 

Problem 
in 

access 
to 

financial 
reports 

Other 
problems

Individual investor 0.19 0.13 0.17 0.10 0.05 0.07 0.03 
Institutional 
investor 0.54 0.22 0.42 0.19 0.10 0.24 0.01 

Bank credit officer 0.59 0.20 0.48 0.32 0.23 0.23 0.05 
Government 
representative 0.33 0.33 0.20 0.18 0.15 0.05 0.02 

Fund manager 0.55 0.36 0.73 0.55 0.27 0.09 0.09 
Governmental 
investor 0.33 0.14 0.38 0.10 0.14 0.10 0.00 

Stock market 
broker 0.26 0.24 0.17 0.07 0.04 0.17 0.07 

Professional 
accountant/auditor 0.38 0.20 0.33 0.24 0.16 0.24 0.02 

Total 0.34 0.18 0.29 0.17 0.1 0.15 0.03 
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These findings are consistent with other similar studies (e.g., Anderson & Epstein 

1995; Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1996; Basheikh & Page 2003; Mirshekary & 

Saudagaran 2005). For example, Abu-Nassar & Rutherford (1996) reported that a lack 

of credibility was the most important reason for not using corporate annual reports in 

Jordan. Similarly, a study conducted in Iran (Mirshekary & Saudagaran 2005) showed 

that delays in publishing annual reports, a lack of trust in information, and further a 

lack of adequate information were areas of concern to user-groups. These consistent 

results can be attributed to the similar socio-economic environments of the countries 

in the Middle East where the financial reporting environment is poorly regulated. 

Since one of the objectives of this study is to determine whether corporate annual 

reports meet user-groups needs, respondents were asked to indicate the degree of 

readability, difficulty, reliability, and relevance of the seven different sections of the 

corporate annual reports issued by UAE firms. Table 6.13 exhibits the mean scores of 

these seven sections based on participants’ perceptions.  

As a general rule corporate annual reports should be readable and understandable in 

order to be considered a major means of communication between companies and their 

interested external parties (Lee & Tweedie 1975). As can be seen from Table 6.13, the 

income statement and balance sheet were the most read24 sections. This could be due 

to the fact that these two statements were perceived by users to contain the most 

relevant (Abu-Nassar 1993) and understandable information in comparison with other 

sections of the corporate annual reports. Participants ranked the least read sections as 

the management’s and auditor’s reports.  

                                                 
24 Readability was used as measurement of importance in this study (Basheikh & Page 2003; Al-
Shayeb 2005). 
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The statement of cash flows, in this study, was ranked third contrary to the one 

reported by Al-Shayeb (2003b, 2005) who found it the least read section by all users 

in the UAE. This finding may be an indication of an improved level of awareness on 

the part of UAE user-groups. On the other hand, users in Saudi Arabia (Basheikh & 

Page 2003; Naser & Nuseibeh 2003) ranked the cash flow statement 1st or 2nd   while 

users in Jordan (Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1996) and users in Iran (Mirshekary & 

Saudagaran 2005) ranked the statement of cash flows as moderately read which in 

general is consistent with the current study, and due to similar socio-economic 

environmental conditions in these countries. 

Table 6.13: Sections of Corporate Annual Reports 

Section Readability Understandability Reliability Relevance 
Management's Report 3.54 3.92 3.28 3.25 
Auditor's Report 3.87 3.97 3.80 3.61 
Balance Sheet 4.39 4.08 3.74 3.85 
Income Statement 4.52 4.07 3.77 3.93 
Changes in Owners’ 
Equity Statement 4.00 3.97 3.69 3.65 
Cash Flow Statement 4.1 3.93 3.67 3.76 
Notes to Financial 
Statements 4.05 4.03 3.65 3.67 

Apart from the financial statements, users in developing countries seem to place 

considerable importance on the auditor’s report. This may be attributed to the general 

concern about the reliability of financial statements in these countries where the 

accounting profession is poorly regulated. Surprisingly, the auditor’s report took sixth 

place in this study, contradicting some similar studies in developing countries (e.g., 

Wallace 1988; Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1996; Al-Shayeb 2003b; Mirshekary & 

Saudagaran 2005). This contradiction may be due to the difference in studies in terms 

of methods used, sample size, user-groups, and the time frame of the studies. 

However, this finding is consistent with the result reported in the UAE by Al-Shayeb 
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(2005) who found that auditor’s report took fifth place out of eight sections of annual 

reports. This finding suggests a clear scope for further research on the use of auditor’s 

reports in the UAE. 

Contrary to the findings in developed countries (e.g., Lee & Tweedi 1981; Arnold & 

Moizer 1984; Day 1986), management’s report was among the least read sections by 

users in the UAE. This finding is consistent with other studies in developing countries 

(e.g., Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1996; Basheikh & Page 2003; Al-Shayeb 2003b, 

2005; Mirshekary & Saudagaran 2005). This could be attributed to the fact that not all 

annual reports in the UAE include the management’s report and in most cases it is 

considered as a general statement which does not include useful information for 

decision-making.  

It may be useful to put present results in context with those of some other country 

studies (Table 6.14). While users in Nigeria (Wallace 1988) rated the auditor’s report 

the most important section of the annual report, users in Bangladesh (Nicholls & 

Ahmed 1995), in Jordan (Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1996), in the UAE (Al-Shayeb 

2003b, 2005) and in Iran (Mirshekary & Saudagaran 2005), rated the income 

statement and the balance sheet the most important sections. This result might be 

explained on the ground that the income statement and balance sheet are more 

understandable statements and contain less technical information than other sections 

in annual reports such as the cash flows statement. 
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Table 6.14: Users’ Ranking of the Importance of Corporate Annual Report 

Sections in Previous Studies. 
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As for the level of difficulty in understanding different sections of an annual report, 

generally, the majority of the respondents considered all sections of the report to be 

moderately easy to understand. A closer look at Table 6.13 reveals that balance sheet, 

income statement, and notes to financial statements were the most easily understood 

sections, while management’s report, auditor’s report, changes in owners’ equity 

statement, and cash flow statement were perceived to be somewhat difficult sections 

to comprehend. This finding supports the readability result, reported previously, and 

might be attributed to the nature of the technical information reported, especially, in 

the owners’ equity statement and cash flows statement.  

The result of the degree to which corporate annual reports may be understood is, to 

some extent, consistent with previous studies in developing countries in which income 

statements and the balance sheets were found very easy to understand (e.g., Abu-

Nassar & Rutherford 1996; Al-Shayeb 2003b, 2005; Basheikh & Page 2003; 

Mirshekary & Saudagaran 2005). However, the auditor’s report was perceived, in this 

study, to be difficult to understand, contrary to what was reported by Abu-Nassar 

(1993) and Abu-Nassar and Rutherford (1996). This may be attributed to the fact that 

the accounting profession is more organized in Jordan where user-groups have more 

awareness and knowledge in dealing with such reports than in the UAE.  

Relevance and reliability are two essential features which corporate annual reports 

should have to enable their external users to make economic decisions (Abu-Nassar 

1993). In the current study, respondents were asked to indicate the level of relevance 

and reliability of the information contained in each of the seven sections of corporate 

annual reports issued by UAE firms. The results presented in Table 6.13 indicate that 

while participants considered the auditor’s report, balance sheet, and income 
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statement to be the most reliable sections, they ranked management’s report and notes 

to financial statements as the least reliable ones. 

In terms of relevance, Table 6.13 shows that respondents considered income 

statement, balance sheet, and cash flows statements to be more relevant to their needs 

than management’s report, auditor’s report, and the changes in owners’ equity 

statement. These findings are broadly consistent with those of previous studies (e.g., 

Buzby 1974; Firth 1979a, 1979b; Anderson 1981; Nicholls & Ahmed 1995; Ngangan, 

Saudagaran & Clarke 2005; Wallace 1987; Wallace 1988; Abdelsalam 1990; Abu-

Nassar & Rutherford 1996). They also support the earlier findings of this study that a 

lack of credibility and the nature of the technical information reported in each section 

of the annual reports were the most important factors affecting their usage.  

6.3.4 The Most Important Items Users are Looking For  

This section focuses on testing whether UAE firms disclose the most important items 

users in the UAE are seeking. In order to do so Section Three of the questionnaire was 

used to collect information on respondents’ perceptions of the level of importance of 

each of the selected information items in corporate annual reports. Respondents were 

asked to examine each of the 84 items (see Section 5.3.4 in Chapter Five) and to 

indicate the degree of importance they attached to each item in the context of financial 

information disclosure using a likert scale of 1 to 5 where 1 means not important and 

5 means extremely important. 

Based on participants’ perceptions and the mean technique, the final list comprised 62 

items which were divided into five subsections: 
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• Balance sheet - 9 items; 
• Income statement - 13 items; 
• Statement of cash flows - 3 items; 
• Statement of change in owners’ equity - 8 items; 
• Other information included in corporate annual reports - 29 items. 

The scoring sheet of 62 items perceived to be important for UAE user-groups was 

matched against the annual reports of 113 UAE firms. A disclosure score for each 

firm was calculated, using the dichotomous technique by scoring one if an item was 

disclosed and zero if otherwise, to examine whether UAE firms disclose what 

different users want or perceive to be important. Findings of this investigation are 

reported in the following subsections. 

6.3.4.1 The Overall Compliance with the 62 Information Items 

There have been a number of studies investigating the information needs of external 

users of corporate annual reports and the extent to which these needs have been 

satisfied by the actual disclosure practices of companies (e.g., Buzby 1974; Firth 

1979a, 1979b; Wallace 1987; Abu-Nassar & Rutherford 1996; Al-Shayeb 2003b, 

2005). Results of most of these studies have revealed that there is still a considerable 

gap between the actual disclosure and the expected level of disclosure indicated by 

users.  

Several reasons have been suggested in the literature for the shortfall of disclosure in 

corporate annual reports. One of the main reasons is that preparers of corporate annual 

reports are willing to provide users with information they need, but they may not be 

aware of the importance of some types of information for external users (Firth 1979a). 

Also, in the absence of mandatory requirements, firms have little incentive to disclose 
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additional information voluntarily to avoid providing valuable information to their 

competitors (Naser & Nuseibeh 2003). 

In this study, each of the 113 firms’ annual reports was extensively examined to 

identify whether each of the 62 disclosure items was disclosed by scoring one if an 

item was disclosed and zero if otherwise. Table 6.15 provides a summary of the 

results of the index scores as a percentage for the 113 companies. The percentage is 

the ratio of the total number of items disclosed by a company to the total number of 

items that the company is expected to disclose.  

Table 6.15 reveals that the overall level of disclosure by UAE firms seems to be low. 

An overall mean value of 0.61 was obtained for the entire sample firms. UAE 

companies appear to disclose only about 60% of the information needs of their users.  

In other words, UAE firms provide their users of corporate annual reports with 

slightly more than half of what they need.  

A further examination of Table 6.15 shows that the extent of disclosure of the 62 

information items varies widely within the firms in the sample. The mean values 

achieved ranked from 0.33 to 0.90 with a standard deviation of 0.11. This means that 

while there are some firms providing users with about 90% of what they need, there 

are other companies supplying only one third of what users are looking for. The low 

level of disclosure among industries might be due to the absence of specific disclosure 

requirements which mandate firms to provide users with the information they need.  
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Table 6.15: Overall Disclosure of the 62 Information Items by UAE Firms 

Sector N Mean Std. 
Deviation Minimum Maximum 

Banking 25 0.64 0.09 0.44 0.78 
Industrial 30 0.62 0.13 0.33 0.80 
Insurance 24 0.57 0.09 0.47 0.76 
Services 34 0.61 0.11 0.34 0.90 
Total 113 0.61 0.11 0.33 0.90 

Table 6.15 also reveals that the disclosure level of the 62 items among the banking, 

industrial, and services sectors are almost similar with mean values of 0.64, 0.62, and 

0.61 respectively. However, the mean value of the insurance sector was 0.57, which is 

slightly lower than the other three sectors. A closer look into Table 6.15 shows that 

disclosure also varies even within each sector. For example, disclosure in the banking 

sector ranged from 0.44 to 0.78 with standard deviation of 0.09. However, the range 

becomes wider with the services sector (from 0.34 to 0.90) with a standard deviation 

of 0.11 and industrial sector (from 0.33 to 0.80) with a standard deviation of 0.13. 

This finding reveals that there is a gap between the disclosure level and the need for 

information of users even within the most regulated banking sector.  

The frequency distribution of the level of disclosure of the 62 items among the 113 

firms reveals that only three firms (approximately 3%) disclose between zero to 20%, 

while 61 firms (54%) disclose between 60% and 96% (Table 6.16). As can be seen 

from this Table, the level of disclosure of what users need ranges between low to 

moderate among firms in the UAE on one hand, and it varies significantly on the 

other hand.  

 

 167



Table 6.16: Frequency Distribution of the 62 Items 

Disclosure Frequency Percent Cumulative Percent 

0-20% 3 2.7 2.7 
20-40% 5 4.4 7.1 
40-60% 44 38.9 46 
60-96% 61 54 100 
Total 113 100  

6.3.4.2 Disclosure of Each of the 62 Information Items 

To enhance understanding of the corporate disclosure of UAE firms in meeting their 

external users’ needs, it was decided that the compliance of disclosure for each of the 

62 items of information be examined. The results are summarized in Table 6.17 and 

an analysis of the disclosure index for each of the 113 companies revealed that the 

mean value of compliance with the index of the 62 information items among UAE 

firms varied from a low of zero to a high of 0.96.  

This means that while some information items were not disclosed at all by any firm, 

such as “rate of return required by the company on its projects” and “production 

capacity and actual output”, other items such as “net profit or loss for the year, 

comparative income statement for the previous year, profit or loss for the period, 

equity reserves, and comparative statement of cash flows of the previous year” were 

disclosed to a great extent (mean value = 0.96).  
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Table 6.17: Disclosure of the 62 Information Items 
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Looking at the level of disclosure among the five sections that formed the index 

(Table 6.18), one can see that the cash flows section has scored the highest mean 

value (0.87) followed by changes in owners’ equity section with a mean value of 0.86. 

This can be explained on the ground that these items are specific and can be obtained 

from what is disclosed in the balance sheet and income statement. The sections of 

income statement, balance sheet, and other information have come next, with mean 

values of 0.74, 0.69, and 0.42 respectively. Since neither IFRS nor UAE authorities 

have mandatory disclosure requirements for “Other Information”, it is no surprise to 

achieve a mean score of 0.42 for this section. 

Table 6.18: Descriptive of the Sections of the Annual Report 

Section N Mean Std. 
Deviation Minimum Maximum 

Balance Sheet 113 0.69 0.26 0.00 1.00 
Income Statement 113 0.74 0.21 0.00 1.00 
Cash Flow 
Statement 113 0.87 0.22 0.00 1.00 
Owners' Equity 
Statement 113 0.86 0.21 0.00 1.00 

Other Information 113 0.42 0.13 0.00 1.00 

A closer examination of the level of disclosure of each of the five sections (Table 

6.17) reveals that the disclosure level varies. For example in the balance sheet section, 

the most disclosed item was “total and break down of shareholders’ equity” with a 

mean value of 0.92. On the other hand, the lowest mean value was 0.20 for 

“commitments for long-term leases”. This may be due to the fact that owners’ equity 

items are stipulated and reviewed by the Ministry of Economy. The low level of 

disclosure of the commitment for long-term leases may be explained on the grounds 

that this item is technically difficult to apply and/or disclose by preparers.     
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As to the other statements (income statement and changes in owners’ equity), the lack 

of disclosure seems to be in areas that may affect the competitive advantage of the 

firm as well as those areas which involve high costs in terms of data collection, 

processing, auditing, and technical expertise. Examples of these disclosure items 

include: ‘gain or loss of writing down to net realizable value of inventory and fixed 

assets’ and ‘effect of changes in accounting policies or correction of errors’. 

The lowest disclosed items were from the section titled “Other Information Included 

in Annual Report” where the mean value and standard deviation for the whole section 

were 0.42 and 0.13 respectively. The lowest mean values were for items “production 

capacity and actual output”, “rate of return required by the company on its projects”, 

and “projection of future financial highlights for next 3-5 years”, with mean value of 

zero, zero, and 0.01 respectively. On the other hand, the highest mean values were for 

items “auditors’ report” (0.95), “increase and decrease of fixed assets” (0.94), and 

“disclosure of basis of accounting” (0.94).  

Given that the disclosure of information items in this section is not mandatory, such a 

low level of disclosure is expected. Further examination of this section shows that 

these disclosure items mainly related to financial performance of the company and 

future forecasts, which include both financial and non-financial information, such as 

description of lines of business and information on the competitive position of the 

company.  

Current corporate disclosure does not provide long-term performance information. 

Thus, UAE users look forward to having information which helps them to establish a 

long-term investment plan for a company. However, the majority of the sampled 
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companies did not present any substantial discussion of factors that may impact on 

their future performance or make general comments on the expected direction of 

changes in their future earnings or competitive market advantage. 

These findings are, to a great extent, consistent with previous studies (e.g., Abu-

Nassar 1993; Ho & Wong 2001; Hooks et al. 2002; Nasser & Nuseibeh 2003). For 

example, Ho and Wong (2001) reported that firms in Hong Kong were reluctant to 

provide information of a predictive and strategic nature such as earnings forecasts. 

They justified the failure to provide such information as the difficulty to ensure the 

accuracy of financial or quantitative predictions, which may result in litigation if the 

final results deviate from the forecast amount. Similarly, Hooks et al. (2002) reported 

that disclosure of performance measures is poor among New Zealand companies 

sampled. Also, Naser and Nuseibeh (2003) found that although Saudi firms disclosed 

more than the minimum information required by law, the level of voluntary disclosure 

(mainly, performance related items) was relatively low.  

One of the major comments one can make is that many information items, which user-

groups believe to be essential, are not being adequately disclosed. Almost all firms 

present limited amounts of information especially items related to performance 

measures such as production capacity and actual output, information on the 

competitive position of the company, and key financial ratios. Inconsistency and 

failure to report items makes the comparability between companies almost impossible. 

This in turn undermines the usefulness of corporate annual reports to user-groups.  
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6.4 Chapter Summary 

This chapter provides a comprehensive analysis of various descriptive statistics. The 

general finding is that the overall corporate disclosure level in the UAE is considered 

low to moderate, with only 57% of the 317 items included in the index disclosed and 

approximately 40% of the companies scoring below the average. From a sector-wise 

perspective, the banking sector scores the highest in terms of the mean disclosure 

value (62%). However none of the banks have totally complied with all mandatory 

requirements. Insurance, services, and industrial sectors come next with almost equal 

mean values (0.55).  

In terms of the compliance with UAE Securities Market requirements, the average 

score was 37%, and there was either total or partial lack of compliance among firms 

in the sample. The compliance with IFRS was slightly higher with an average of 47%. 

The standards gaining the most compliance were IAS 1,2,18, and 30 with mean 

disclosure scores range from 61% to 73%. On the other hand, the least compliance 

was with IAS 17 and 28 where mean scores were below 30% 

With regard to whether corporate annual reports of UAE firms meet the users’ need, 

consistent with results of previous studies, users in the UAE considered corporate 

annual reports as the most important source of information. However, results suggest 

that the current corporate disclosure in the UAE does not provide sufficient 

information and that it is still far from meeting the information need of most users.  

Participants considered the income statement, balance sheet, and cash flow statement 

to be the most important and relevant sections, and that the management’s and 
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auditor’s reports as the least important. They also nominated several areas of 

concerns, including delays in the availability of annual reports, the lack of 

creditability of financial information, and the non-accessibility of financial reports. 

In terms of the compliance with 62 information items that users perceive as important, 

the overall level of disclosure is also low, with only 61% meeting what users need.  

The next chapter will report the results of the impact of particular characteristics of 

companies on the extent of disclosure in the UAE using regression analysis. 



Chapter Seven 

Analysis of Results: Part 2 

7.1 Introduction 

The extent of disclosure and its relationship with firms’ characteristics has been, 

understandably, subject to investigation in accounting literature. As discussed in chapter 

4, eights variables were selected to assess their impact on the total disclosure index 

(TDI). These eight variables were two market variables (industry type and listing status), 

two performance variables (profitability-ROE and liquidity), two structure variables 

(market capitalization and foreign ownership), and two corporate governance variables 

(composition of board of directors and existence of audit committee).  

The purpose of this chapter is to examine the relationship between the extent of 

disclosure in corporate annual reports and the above mentioned eight variables applied to 

companies. This chapter consists of five sections. The Second Section is about the 

descriptive analysis while the Third and the Fourth Sections describe results of the 

univariate and regression analysis respectively. Discussion of the effect of each 

independent variable is presented in Section Five, and Section Six concludes the chapter.  

7.2 Descriptive Analysis 

Table 7.1 provides descriptive statistics for the dependent variable and the explanatory 

variables. In general, the extent of corporate disclosure varies from 23% to 70%. The 

 175



overall disclosure mean value is 57% with standard deviation of 9%, reflecting a low to 

moderate level of disclosure among the 113 sample firms. 

Table 7.1: Descriptive Statistics of the Dependent & Independent Variables 

Variables N Mean Std. 
Deviation Minimum Maximum

Total Disclosure 113 0.57 0.09 0.23 0.70 
Listing Status 113 0.94 0.24 0.00 1.00 
Net Income/Owner Equity 
(ROE) for 2005 113 0.21 0.13 - 0.01 0.55 
Liquidity (current assets/current 
liabilities) 113 3.85 8.66 0.39 86.33 

Market Capitalization (million 
dirham) 113 7894 17836 20 133811 

Foreign Ownership 113 0.26 0.32 0.00 100.00 
% of outside directors 113 0.93 0.10 0.60 100.00 
Audit Committee 113 0.53 0.50 0.00 1.00 
Banks 25 0.22 0.42 0.00 1.00 
Industrial 30 0.27 0.45 0.00 1.00 
Insurance 24 0.21 0.41 0.00 1.00 
Services 34 0.30 0.46 0.00 1.00 

An examination of Table 7.1 shows that 94% of the sample companies are listed on the 

UAE securities market and the return on equity (ROE) mean value for the 113 companies 

is 21%. The overall liquidity (current ratio) is 3.85 times which is well above the rule of 

thumb of 2:1. The mean value of foreign ownership among the firms is 26% while non-

executive directors across the sampled boards are about 93%. Fifty-three percent of the 

firms have audit committees which indicate that corporate governance is not well 

practised and that further enforcement is needed from UAE authorities. The mean values 

of the four sectors reflect the proportion of each sector in the sample companies.  
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7.3 Univariate Analysis 

To assess the relationship between the total disclosure index (TDI) and the firms’ 

variables, Pearson Product-Moment correlation matrix was used to examine the 

correlation between the dependent variable (TDI) and each of the independent variables 

(industry type, listing, ROE, liquidity, market capitalization, foreign ownership, 

composition of board of directors, and audit committee) used in this study. 

7.3.1 Correlation 

Pearson Product-Moment correlation matrix for the dependent and independent variables 

is presented in Table 7.2. The statistical results show that significant positive 

relationships were found to exist between the extent of disclosure and banking industry (r 

= 0.347) and listing status variables (r = 0.288) at P < 0.01 level. These results support 

hypotheses H3-a, which hypothesized that there is a significant relationship between 

corporate disclosure and industry type, and H3-b, which states that there is a significant 

relationship between corporate disclosure and listing status. However, no significant 

correlation was found between other industry types and the extent of disclosure.  

On the other hand, the relationship between the extent of corporate disclosure and some 

other independent variables was negative and not significantly correlated. Return-On-

Equity (r = -0.074, P = 0.434) and liquidity (r = -0.001, P = 0.992) appear to be negative 

but not influentially correlated with the extent of disclosure. The most interesting result is 

that size measured by market capitalization was found to be negative but not significantly 

correlated with corporate disclosure (r = -0.028, P = 0.772).  

 177



 178

Similarly, the relationship between the extent of disclosure and foreign ownership (r = 

0.079, P = 0.408), composition of board of directors (r = 0.107, P = 0.258), and audit 

committee (r = 0.111, P = 0.241) was found to be positive but also not significantly 

correlated. These results do not appear to support hypotheses H3-f, H3-g, and H3-h which 

hypothesized that firms with foreign ownership, an increased proportion of non-executive 

directors, and an audit committee disclose more information than other firms in the UAE.  

 

 



Table 7.2: Correlation Matrix 

Correlations

1 .288** -.074 -.001 -.028 .079 .107 .111 .347** -.115 -.091 -.122
.002 .434 .992 .772 .408 .258 .241 .000 .224 .339 .200

113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113
.288** 1 .198* .042 .110 .143 .053 .053 -.128 -.095 .044 .169
.002 .035 .661 .245 .130 .578 .579 .175 .317 .646 .074
113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113

-.074 .198* 1 -.142 .056 -.064 -.139 .107 -.030 -.184 .291** -.055
.434 .035 .132 .559 .499 .142 .259 .751 .051 .002 .565

113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113

-.001 .042 -.142 1 -.044 .090 -.002 -.015 -.136 -.020 -.049 .186*
.992 .661 .132 .643 .343 .982 .877 .152 .837 .605 .049
113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113

-.028 .110 .056 -.044 1 .019 -.033 .282** .197* -.169 -.186* .150
.772 .245 .559 .643 .839 .729 .003 .036 .074 .048 .113
113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113

.079 .143 -.064 .090 .019 1 -.127 -.044 -.183 .103 -.270** .306**

.408 .130 .499 .343 .839 .179 .647 .053 .276 .004 .001
113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113

.107 .053 -.139 -.002 -.033 -.127 1 .067 .082 .000 .087 -.152

.258 .578 .142 .982 .729 .179 .484 .387 .999 .359 .108
113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113

.111 .053 .107 -.015 .282** -.044 .067 1 .287** -.238* -.119 .075

.241 .579 .259 .877 .003 .647 .484 .002 .011 .210 .428
113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113

.347** -.128 -.030 -.136 .197* -.183 .082 .287** 1 -.320** -.277** -.350**

.000 .175 .751 .152 .036 .053 .387 .002 .001 .003 .000
113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113

-.115 -.095 -.184 -.020 -.169 .103 .000 -.238* -.320** 1 -.312** -.394**
.224 .317 .051 .837 .074 .276 .999 .011 .001 .001 .000
113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113

-.091 .044 .291** -.049 -.186* -.270** .087 -.119 -.277** -.312** 1 -.341**
.339 .646 .002 .605 .048 .004 .359 .210 .003 .001 .000
113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113

-.122 .169 -.055 .186* .150 .306** -.152 .075 -.350** -.394** -.341** 1
.200 .074 .565 .049 .113 .001 .108 .428 .000 .000 .000
113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113 113

Pearson Correlation
Sig. (2-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (2-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (2-tailed)
N

Pearson Correlation
Sig. (2-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (2-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (2-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (2-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (2-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (2-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (2-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (2-tailed)
N
Pearson Correlation
Sig. (2-tailed)
N

Total Disclosure

Listing Status

Net Income/Owner Equity
(ROE) for 2005

Liquidity (current
assets/current liabilities)

Market Capitalization

Foreign Ownership

% of outside directors

Audit Committee

Banks

Industrial

Insurance

Services

Total
Disclosure Listing Status

Net
Income/

Owner Equity
(ROE) for

2005

Liquidity
(current

assets/curre
nt liabilities)

Market
Capitalization

Foreign
Ownership

% of outside
directors

Audit
Committee Banks Industrial Insurance Services

Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).**. 

Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).*.  
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7.4 Multiple Regression Analysis  

The second test used in this study was multivariate analysis which allows the 

investigation of the relationship between the extent of disclosure and company 

characteristics. It provides a more balanced viewpoint about the relative importance 

and contribution of each variable in explaining the variability of the dependent 

variable. Ordinary least square (OLS) regression was considered to be a useful 

technique to assess the amount of variance explained in the dependent variable by a 

number of firm’s variables. 

As mentioned in Chapter 3, using regression analysis in disclosure studies started with 

Chow and Wong-Boren (1987) and was followed by other researchers who have used 

different regression approaches. A rank OLS regression was first recommended by 

Iman and Conover (1979) and Conover and Iman (1981) and then used by Lang and 

Lunholm (1993), followed by Wallace et al. (1994) and Wallace and Naser (1995). 

This approach was proposed to deal with the problem when the theoretically correct 

form of the relation between the disclosure indexes and independent firm variables is 

not known. The ranked OLS regression is simply conducted by transforming variables 

into ranked scored for all sample companies. Prior studies of this nature found that the 

results from ranked regressions were broadly similar to the original regressions 

(Wallace et al. 1994; Owusu-Ansah 1998b; Naser et al. 2002; Ali et al. 2004; Al-

Shammari 2005). In addition, ranked transformed data may reduce the levels of 

reported significance (Wallace et al. 1994). 

Previous studies reported that no procedure is best over the other and no one model 

fits all cases. Cooke (1998) suggests that the suitable regression model is dependent 
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on the structure of data and that multiple approaches are advisable to ensure the 

results are robust across methods. Accordingly, it was decided to use unranked OLS 

regression in this study. 

The dependent variable in this case is the disclosure made by each firm in its 

corporate annual report, and it was measured by the total disclosure index (TDI) as 

explained in Chapter Five, (Section 5.2.3). The independent variables were the 

variables mentioned in Chapter 4 (industry type, listing, ROE, liquidity, market 

capitalization, foreign ownership, composition of board of directors, and audit 

committee).  

Table 7.3 presents the research hypotheses (see Chapter Four) and the predicted signs 

of the coefficients (β) for each explanatory variable associated with each hypothesis. 

Table 7.3: Research Hypotheses and Predicted Signs of the Coefficients 

Research Hypotheses Predicted Sign of β 

H3-a: Industry Type + 

H3-b: Listing Status + 

H3-c: Profitability (ROE) + 

H3-d: Liquidity +/- 

H3-e: Market Capitalization + 

H3-f: Foreign Ownership + 

H3-g:: Composition of BOD +/- 

H3-h:: Audit Committee + 
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7.4.1 Normality and Multi-Collinearity among the Variables 

Before the regression analysis is undertaken, it is essential that certain assumptions, 

underlying its use, are not significantly violated. These assumptions include normality 

and multi-collinearity. Several types of investigations were pursued to test the 

normality of the data. Scatter-plots and histograms were applied for each of the 

constructed variables. Normality tests based on skewness, kurtosis, and Shapiro-Wilk 

were also conducted. The investigations revealed that all variables, to an acceptable 

extent, are normally distributed and no violations to the underlying assumptions were 

observed.  

One of the problems in conducting any multiple regression analysis is that there may 

be multi-collinearity between explanatory variables. Multi-collinearity is the situation 

where two or more of the independent variables are highly correlated. This correlation 

can have damaging effects (Al-Saeed 2005) on the results of multiple regression 

analysis, and makes it difficult to identify the effects of each explanatory variable on 

the dependent variable (Cooke 1998; Naser 1998).  

To assess possible collinearity between the explanatory variables, there are two 

methods which have been used in previous research (e.g., Wallace et al. 1994; Cooke 

1998; Naser 1998; Haniffa & Cooke 2002 & Glaum & Street 2003). The first method 

is the correlation matrix which is a powerful tool for getting a rough idea of the 

relationship between predictors. However, the correlation matrix is only designed to 

detect collinearity between two variables. Such relationship does not offer insight into 

the potential level of multi-collinearity among all the variables (Naser et al. 2002). 
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The second method is to look at the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) for each 

explanatory variable. 

Collinearity becomes a serious problem if its coefficient is greater than 0.8 (Gujarati 

2003) or the VIF of independent variable exceeds 10 (Neter et al. 1989; Kennedy 

1992; Owsus-Ansah 1998b; Wallace et al. 1994; Naser 1998; Naser & Al-Khatib 

2000). Following prior studies, the issue of potential collinearity between explanatory 

variables was examined. Table 7.2 provides an illustration of the correlation matrix 

for the independent variables considered in the study. Upon examination of the 

correlation matrix, it appears that correlation among the independent variables is not 

high and very acceptable as the largest correlation coefficient is (-0.394) between 

services and industrial variables. In term of the VIF statistics, Table 7.4 shows that the 

VIF ranging from 1.07 to 1.78, which is acceptable in controlling potential problems 

of collinearity. Thus, collinearity, in this case, does not seem to be a real problem in 

explaining the regression results. 

Table 7.4: VIF Statistics 

Variable VIF Tolerance 
= 1/VIF 

Insurance 1.78 0.56 
Banks 1.62 0.62 
Industrial 1.56 0.64 
ROE 1.24 0.81 
Audit Committee 1.21 0.82 
Foreign Ownership 1.21 0.82 
Market Capitalization 1.17 0.85 
Listing 1.13 0.89 
Non-Executive 
Directors 1.09 0.92 
Liquidity 1.07 0.94 
Mean VIF 1.31  
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7.4.2 OLS Regression with Log Transformation  

This section describes the results of running the ordinary least square (OLS) 

regression with log transformation analysis with all companies’ variables using SPSS. 

All variables were entered into the model simultaneously. The purpose is to test 

whether the specified independent firms’ variables contribute significantly to the 

prediction of the disclosure level made by firms in the UAE. Results of the multiple 

regression analysis of the association between company characteristics and the level 

of disclosure in the annual reports of sample companies are presented in Table 7.5. 

One of the main problems that confront researchers using the OLS regression is when 

the dependent variable is constrained to range between zero and one. The estimation 

of the regression model can, however, lie outside this range. This is because the 

standard OLS presumes an unconstrained dependent variable. Hence, the standard 

OLS estimates may be unreliable (Hanushek & Jackson 1977; Ahmed & Nicholls 

1994; Greene 2003). Consequently, the suggestion to transform the dependent 

variable was adopted (e.g., Hanushek & Jackson 1977; Wallace e. al. 1994; Ahmed & 

Nicholls 1994; Fox 1997; Inchausti 1997; Naser & Al-Khatib 2000; Greene 2003 

Makhija & Patton 2004; Al-Shaimmari 2005).  

This approach also has an advantage in that such transformation might result in 

normally distributed errors (Cooke 1998). The transformation was done by taking the 

logarithm of the total disclosure index for each firm. Then, the transformed total 

disclosure index (TTDI) was regressed against the 8 specified firm’s variables by 

applying OLS regression procedure. The regression model is expressed as follows: 
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TTDI = ∝ + β1 indtypei + β2 indtypei + β3 indtypei + β4 indtype  + β5 listingi + β6 ROEi 

+ β7 liquidi + β8 marcapi + β9 foriegni + β10 boardi + β11 auditi +  ε 

where: 

TTDI  = Transformed Total disclosure index (actual score awarded to each      

firm/maximum score)  

∝  = Intercept 

indtype = Industry type (indtype1 = Banking;  indtype2 = Insurance; indtype3  =   

Services; indtype4  = Industrial) 

listing  = Listing status 

ROE  = Return on equity 

liquid  = Liquidity 

marcap = Market capitalization 

foreign  = Foreign ownership 

board  = Board composition 

Audit  = Audit committee. 

ε  = Error term 

β1, β2, β3, β4, β5, β6, β7, β8, β9, β10, β11 = slope coefficients of the model. 

Results of the multiple regression analysis of the association between company 

variables and the extent of disclosure in the annual reports of the sample companies 

are shown in Table 7.5. As can be seen from this table, the coefficient of 

determination R2  is equal to 33% and the adjusted R2 is equal to 26% where the P–

value < 0 .01 and the F test statistics (10, 102) = 4.95. These results show that 

approximately 26% of the variation in disclosure level scores between the companies 

can be explained by the eight independent variables included in the model. According 
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to Anderson et al. (1993), and Abd-Elsalam and Weetman (2003), an explanatory 

power of 20% is considered useful in social science research. 

Table 7.5: Summary of the Results of OLS Regression with Log Transformation 

Variable β t Sig. t VIF 
Listing 0.3268 5.03 0.000 1.13 
ROE -0.1650 -1.34 0.183 1.24 
Liquidity 0.0004 0.23 0.820 1.07 
Market Capitalization -1.8500 -2.06 0.042 1.17 
Foreign Ownership 0.0850 1.65 0.102 1.21 
Non-Executive 
Directors 0.0622 0.41 0.685 1.09 

Audit Committee 0.0174 0.53 0.594 1.21 
Banks 0.1939 4.28 0.000 1.62 
Industrial 0.0055 0.13 0.896 1.56 
Insurance 0.0502 1.04 0.299 1.78 
Constant -0.9863 -6.43 0.000 - 
R2 = 0.3268     
Adj. R2 = 0.2608     
F (10, 102) = 4.95     
Sig. F = 0.0000     
Mean VIF = 1.31     

The underlying assumptions of the suggested regression model were tested and 

diagnostics checking was performed. For the assumption of normality, Shapiro-Wilk 

test showed that the residuals are normally distributed at 1% level but the normality is 

barely rejected at 5% level (P = 0.047). Also, residuals from the regression model 

were plotted against the fitted values of disclosure and against each explanatory 

variable to determine whether the error terms of the model had constant variances. A 

visual inspection of the distribution of residuals showed no signs of heteroscedasticity 

as shown in Figure 7.1. The assumption of constant variance (homoskedasticity) is 

roughly plausible in the model. Because the data used in the model are cross-

sectional, the independence assumption is irrelevant. The residuals plot (Figure 7.1) 

also does not show any potential outliers. 
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Thus, the regression assumptions are met which indicates that the model is valid and 

reliable. 

Figure 7.1: Residuals Observations 

 

7.5 The Effect of Each Independent Variable 

Industry Type 

The model indicates that the banking sector is highly significant at a (1%) level with a 

positive coefficient and t statistics of 4.28 (Table 7.5). Using the service type industry 

as a reference category, there is a significant difference in disclosure level between 

banks and service companies. However, there are no significant differences between 

the service sector and the other two sectors (insurance and industrial sectors).  

As mentioned previously, companies in the UAE are classified into four sectors: 

banking, insurance, industrial, and services. By far the most organized sector in the 
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UAE is the banking sector which is overseen by the CBUAE. Unlike the other sectors, 

this sector has clear regulatory requirements issued by CBUAE to comply with IFRS. 

Therefore, hypothesis H3-a which states that there is a significant association between 

the type of industry and the extent of disclosure is empirically supported. 

Previous studies reported mixed results. While some researchers reported positive and 

significant association of industry type with corporate disclosures (e.g., Wallace & 

Naser 1995 in Hong Kong; Cooke 1992 in Japan; Haniffa & Cooke 2002 in Malaysia; 

Street & Bryant 2000 in US; Street  & Gray 2001 in 32 countries; Hope 2003a, b in 

Singapore; Al-Shammari 2005 in GCC Countries; Camfferman & Cooke 2002 in UK 

and Netherlands), others did not find such association (e.g., Wallace et al. 1994 and 

Inchausti 1997 in Spain; Alsaeed 2005 in Saudi Arabi; Naser et al. 2002 in Jordan; 

Owsus-Ansah 1998b in Zimbabwe; Tan & Tower 1999 in Singapore and Australia; 

Glaum & Steet 2003 in Germany; and Makhija & Patton 2004 in Czech).  

Listing status 

Table 7.5 also shows that listing status is highly significant at (1%) level with (t = 

5.03, P = 0.000). This means that listed firms have higher levels of disclosure than 

unlisted firms. This is supported by the argument that listed firms are exposed to more 

disclosure rules and regulations issued by the UAE securities market. Therefore, the 

hypothesis H3-b which states that firms listed in the UAE securities market disclose 

more information than unlisted firms is empirically supported.  

Unlike unlisted firms, listed companies are by far more regulated and monitored by 

ESCA and the securities market. However, compliance with disclosure of information 
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items required by both ESCA and IFRS is not comprehensive. The issue in the UAE 

seems to be more related to the absence of enforcement and the lack of an effective 

monitoring mechanism. Compared with other similar studies, these findings are 

consistent with what was reported by Firth (1979b) in UK, Cooke (1989a) in Sweden, 

Cooke (1991) in Japan, Wallace et al. (1994) in Spain, Street and Bryant (2000) in 

US, Glaum and Street (2003) in Germany, Dumontier and Raffournier (1998) in 

Switzerland, and Leung and Horwitz (2004) in Hong Kong. 

Return-On-Equity 

Profitability, as measured by return on equity (ROE) in this study, was found not to be 

a significant factor in explaining variations on the extent of disclosure in the UAE. 

The coefficient was negative and not significant (t = -1.34, P = 0.183). Thus, 

hypothesis H3-c which states that firms on the UAE securities market with higher 

return on equity disclose more information in their annual reports than firms with 

lower return on equity is also rejected. Al-Sharmmari (2005) as well reported a 

negative insignificant association between ROE and corporate disclosure in GCC 

counties. 

A possible explanation for this result is that in the absence of mandatory disclosure 

requirements, firms in the UAE do not want to provide additional details which will 

have to be continued in coming years (Wallace & Naser 1995; Graham et al. 2005). 

Also, the investment environment in the UAE is not yet well established where 

profitability is considered as an indicator of an investment quality (Prencipe 2004) 

and management with higher profitability has an incentive to disclose more 
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information to the market to signal its performance (Cooke 1989a, 1989b; Wallace et 

al. 1994; Suwaidan 1997).   

Previous studies have also provided mixed results. While some researchers found that 

profitability was a main predictor of greater disclosure (e.g., Owsus-Ansah 1998b in 

Zimbabwe; Naser 1998 in Jordan; Haniffa & Cooke 2002 in Malaysia; Chen & Jaggi 

2000, and Hope 2003a, b in Hong Kong; Ali et al. 2004 in Pakistan), others found no 

such association (e.g., Alsaeed 2005 in Saudi Arabia; Eng & Mak 2003 in Singapore; 

Prencipe 2004 in Italy; Wallace & Naser 1995 in Honk Kong; Street & Bryant 2000 

in US; Makhija & Patton 2004 in Czech). Such inconsistency confirms that the 

relationship between profitability and the extent of disclosure is a complex one. 

Liquidity 

In this study, liquidity was measured by current ratio and found not significantly 

associated (t = 0.23, P = 0.820) with the level of disclosure in the sample companies 

in the UAE at (5%) level. So firms with neither low current ratio nor with high current 

ratio seem to disclose more information than others. Hence, hypothesis H3-d, which 

states that firms on the UAE securities market with high liquidity (current ratio) tend 

to disclose more information in their annual reports than firms with low liquidity, is 

rejected. 

The justification for disclosing more information to alleviate the fear of stakeholders 

(Wallace et al. 1994; Naser et al. 2002) about a going concern does not seem valid in 

the UAE. Also, those firms with a strong financial position25 disclose more 

                                                 
25 Firms with high current ratio were assumed to have a stronger financial position (Wallace et al. 1994; 
Naser et al. 2002). 
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information is not supported by the current results. Also, this result contradicts the 

established signal theory argument that management from high profitability and 

liquidity ratio firms has incentive to disclose more information (Cooke 1989a, 1989b; 

Wallace et al. 1994; Suwaidan 1997). 

One of the explanations for not disclosing adequate information is that UAE firms 

have a high current ratio on average (mean = 3.85) which may expose them to the 

criticism of having “idle resources”. It was realized that these firms had excessive 

surplus cash which is kept as deposits in banks instead of utilizing such resources in 

more productive projects according to their stated plans. This finding is in line with 

what was reported by Alsaeed (2005) in Saudi Arabia, Wallace and Naser (1995) and 

Chen and Jaggi (2000) in Hong Kong, Owsus-Ansah (1998b), in Zimbabwe, Al-

Shammari (2005) in GCC countries, and Owsus-Ansah and Yeoh (2005) in New 

Zealand. However, it contradicts what was reported by Wallace et al. (1994) in Spain, 

Naser et al. (2002) in Jordan, and Camfferman and Cooke (2002) in Netherlands 

where a positive association was found between liquidity and the extent of disclosure. 

Firm Size 

Table 7.5 also shows that the market capitalization variable has a negative but 

significant association (t = -2.06, P-value < 0.05) with the extent of disclosure in the 

UAE. This finding means that UAE firms with large market capitalization tend to 

disclose less information than firms with smaller market capitalization and hence, 

hypothesis H3-e which states that firms on the UAE securities market with a large 

market capitalization tend to disclose more information than firms with small market 

capitalization is empirically rejected. 
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Although a few instances of prior research have found no association between the 

level of disclosure and a firm’s size (e.g., Ahmed & Nicholls 1994 in Bangladesh; 

Wallace & Naser 1995 in Hong Kong; Glaum & Street 2003 in Germany; Makhija & 

Patton 2004 in Czech), most of the previous studies reported a significant positive 

association between these two variables (e.g., Naser 1998, and Naser et al. 2002 in 

Jordan; Owsus-Ansah 1998b in Zimbabwe; Dumontier & Raffournier 1998 in 

Switzerland; Haniffa & Cooke 2002 in Malaysia; Eng & Mak 2003 in Singapore; 

Alsaeed 2005 in Saudi Arabia; Archambault & Archambault 2003 in 33 countries; 

and Al-Shammari 2005 in Kuwait). Several justifications have been reported in the 

literature for this association as explained in Chapters 3.  

While the contrary evidence provided in this study may be a surprise to some 

researchers, it is consistent with findings reported in Wallace and Naser (1995) and 

Ahmed and Nicholls (1994). This result can also be explained as follows: first, due to 

their unique social and political influences, UAE firms with large market 

capitalization have the ability to avoid reporting enforcement, if any. This plausible 

explanation has been supported by discussion with two senior auditors from two large 

UAE accounting firms. These senior auditors explained that social and political 

influences are major factors affecting disclosure in the UAE. Second, high 

government/institutional ownership may also contribute to this result. For example, 

one of the largest UAE firms, Etisalat, is 60% owned by the UAE government. These 

substantial shareholders have access to management to obtain financial information 

rather that relying on corporate annual reports. Third, management of large market 

capitalization firms generally are reluctant to provide information in order to avoid 

accountability and criticisms for not achieving their stated plans and objectives. 

Finally, the accounting profession in the UAE is not well organized yet, and ESCA 
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lacks proper mechanisms to ascertain whether or not UAE firms (mainly large firms) 

are fully complying with the requirements of disclosure set by UAE authorities and 

IFRS. 

Foreign Ownership 

As for the other structure variable, the model reported that the foreign ownership 

variable (t = 1.65, P = 0.102) does not have a significant impact on the extent of 

corporate disclosure. Hence, hypothesis H3-f, which states that UAE firms with a 

proportion of foreign ownership disclose more information than do UAE firms 

without such ownership, is empirically rejected.  

This finding is not surprising since foreign ownership is not allowed in all sectors in 

the UAE. For example, banking and insurance sector ownership is confined to UAE 

nationals only and foreign ownership percentage is limited up to 49% in all other 

sectors. This finding is consistent with prior research (e.g., Wallace & Naser 1995 in 

Hong Kong; Alsaeed 2005 in Saudi Arabia; Glaum & Street 2003 in Germany). 

However, this result contradicts other studies where foreign share ownership was 

found to be positively associated with corporate disclosure (e.g., Haniffa & Cooke 

2002 in Malaysia; Al-Shammari 2005 in Kuwait). 

Non-Executive Directors 

The non-Executive directors variable was found to be not significantly associated (t = 

0.41, P = 0.685) with the extent of disclosure in the UAE. One possible explanation 

for this finding is that corporate governance is considered a new discipline in the 

UAE. Indeed ESCA issued guidelines on corporate governance to public joint stock 
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companies only at the beginning of 2007. Hence, no significant influential role of 

non-executive directors may be expected for better corporate disclosure until 

corporate governance is fully implemented. Thus, hypothesis H3-g, which states that 

there is a positive association between the proportion of outside directors (non-

executives) and the level of disclosure made by UAE firms in their annual reports, is 

not supported. 

The finding of this study is consistent with what was reported by Haniff and Cooke 

(2002) in Malaysia, Eng and Mak (2003) in Singapore, Klein (2002) in the US, and 

Gao and Zhaung (2006) in Hong Kong. However, positive association was found 

between the two variables in the US by Beasley (1996) and Beasley et al. (2000), and 

in various 37 countries by Jaggi and Low (2000). Similar positive association was 

also reported in Hong Kong by Chen and Jaggi (2000) and Peasnell et al. (2001) in 

UK. 

 Audit Committee 

Despite the fact that the existence of an audit committee enhances financial reporting 

quality (Abbott et al. 2004; Beasley et al. 2005) the finding of this study does not lend 

support to such a notion. In fact, the present study shows no significant impact (t = 

0.53, P = 0.594) on the extent of corporate disclosure among the sample companies 

and accordingly hypothesis H3-h which states that there is a positive association 

between the existence of an audit committee and the level of financial disclosure 

made by UAE firms in their annual reports, is also empirically rejected. 
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 This finding, similar to the other corporate governance variable result - non-executive 

directors, may be explained on the ground that corporate governance is considered as 

a new concept to UAE firms and the awareness of the role of the audit committee in 

supervising matters related to quality and credibility of financial reporting is still not 

well established.  

This finding is, to some extent, consistent with what was reported in the US by Klein 

(2002), who found a negative relationship between financial reporting and the 

existence of an independent audit committee. However, Klein used abnormal accruals 

as a proxy for financial reporting, which might not represent all aspects of disclosures 

of the firms in the sample. On the other hand, this finding conflicts with many other 

studies which found that the existence of audit committees positively influences the 

quality of corporate disclosure such as McMullen (1996), Beasley et al. (2000), and 

McDaniel et al. (2002) in US; Peasnell et al. (2001), Song and Windram (2004), 

Turley and Zaman (2004), and Mangena and Pike (2005), in UK. 

7.6 Chapter Summary  

This chapter analyses the possible impacts of the eight specific company variables on 

the extent of disclosure by UAE firms. The descriptive analysis revealed that the 

overall mean value of disclosure in the UAE is 57%, reflecting a low to moderate 

level of disclosure. In terms of univariate analysis, positive correlations were found 

between the extent of disclosure and listing status and the banking sector at (1%) 

level. The relationship between the extent of disclosure and foreign ownership, non-

executive directors, and the existence of an audit committee was found to be positive 

but not significant at (5%) level. On the other hand, the correlation between the extent 
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of corporate disclosure and ROE, and market capitalization was negative and not 

significant even at (5%) level. 

As far as regression analysis applied, results showed that listing and industry type 

(banking sector) variables were positively and significantly associated with the extent 

of disclosure of the sample companies at (1%) level. Also, findings revealed that 

market capitalization was significant but with a negative coefficient at (5%) level. 

With regard to the other variables, the model showed that these variables did not seem 

to be the main determinants of variations in the extent of disclosure of the sample 

companies.  

The following chapter (Chapter 8) provides a summary of the whole study.



Chapter Eight 

Conclusions, Implications, Recommendations, and Potential Further 

Research 

8.1 Overview of the Thesis  

The focus of this study is upon corporate disclosure of information in the annual 

reports of UAE firms. Specifically, the major objectives of this study are to: assess the 

current level of corporate disclosure in annual reports of UAE firms; examine whether 

or not UAE firms comply with the mandatory information items stipulated by UAE 

authorities and IFRS in their annual reports; investigate whether or not UAE firms 

disclose what different user-groups need; and test the significance of the relationship 

between a number of firms’ characteristics and the level of disclosure in their annual 

reports. On the basis of these objectives, ten hypotheses were developed (see Chapter 

Four). 

The purpose of this chapter is to summarize the thesis and to report its main results 

which are presented in Section 8.2. Section 8.3 outlines implications of findings and 

recommendations. Limitations of this study are discussed in Section 8.4. The chapter 

concludes with suggestions for potential future research. 

8.2 Summary of Results  

8.2.1 Assessing the Current Level of Disclosure in the UAE 

To accomplish the objectives mentioned previously, this study employed a disclosure 

index methodology through which the extent of disclosure on corporate annual reports 
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was evaluated. To measure the level of compliance with the requirements of the UAE 

securities market and IFRS, an un-weighted index, comprising 317 information items, 

was constructed. The index was then matched with the 2005 annual report of each of 

the firms in the sample using dichotomous procedure by scoring one if an item was 

disclosed and zero if otherwise. Accordingly, the total disclosure index (TDI) for each 

firm was computed as a percentage of the actual number of items disclosed by the 

company relative to the maximum number of items applicable to it. 

Results revealed that the average disclosure level of the 113 sample companies was 

57% with a minimum of 23% and approximately 40% of the companies scoring 

below the average. The maximum disclosure score across all companies was 70% 

which indicates that none of the firms in the sample complied with all the disclosure 

requirements of the mandatory items. Further examination showed that 82% of the 

companies scored below 65%. Only 18% of the companies in the sample disclosed 

between 65% and 70% of what is required under the UAE Securities Market 

regulations and the IFRS.  

These results signify that the overall disclosure level of UAE firms through their 

annual reports ranged between low to moderate, and even those companies with a 

high disclosure score did not comply with a considerable number of requirements. 

These findings also suggest that there is a great deal of variation in the disclosure 

level of sample firms. These results imply that there is significant scope for additional 

disclosure in the annual reports of firms in the UAE. 

From the industry perspective, results showed that disclosure varied among the four 

sectors. While the banking sector scored the highest level of compliance with 
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mandatory requirements (62%), other sectors (insurance, industrial, and services) 

scored below the average (57%). The high banking sector score can be attributed to 

control and monitoring mechanisms established by the UAE Central Bank. However, 

none of the banks have complied with all the mandatory requirements set by UAE 

securities market and IFRS. 

The low level of disclosure in the other three sectors can be attributed to the fact that 

these sectors are not highly regulated and that the application of the IFRS is not yet 

imposed upon these companies. This finding illustrates the importance of having 

monitoring and enforcement mechanisms in developing countries like the UAE to 

secure a higher level of disclosure in companies’ annual reports. 

In terms of the compliance with each of the UAE securities market requirements, 

results showed that while the average disclosure score for UAE Securities Market 

requirements is 37% with a maximum disclosure score of 67% and minimum score of 

zero which indicates that there were some companies which were totally non-

compliant. Almost all companies failed to provide comparative figures for the two 

previous years. Also, information about future activities and financial risks were not 

provided by most of the sample firms.  

With respect to compliance with IFRS, the average level of compliance is considered 

low where the average was 47% with minimum and maximum scores of 12% and 

66% respectively. The level of compliance varied across the standards. While the IAS 

1, 2, 18 and 30 were the standards with which most firms complied with, IAS 17 and 

28 showed the lowest compliance rate. A possible explanation for the variance in 
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compliance between these two groups of standards is that the former are less difficult 
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to implement when compared with the latter which deal with more complicated 

proprietary costs. Compliance with IFRS also varied across industry groups where the 

banking and financial institutions scored more highly than firms in other sectors. This 

was expected as the banking sector is more regulated.  

Apart from the absence of monitoring and enforcement mechanisms, UAE firms seem 

to face several difficulties in complying with IFRS. These difficulties include: a 

shortage of qualified accountants and auditors, a lack of adequate training programs, 

difficulties in keeping pace with voluminous changes made by existing IFRS, 

technical details and complexity of IFRS, and finally, the adoption of fair value 

accounting. 

The overall conclusion that can be drawn from these findings is that disclosure level 

in the UAE is considered low to moderate. Hence, H1, which states that UAE firms 

adequately disclose the items stipulated by UAE statutory requirements and IFRS in 

their annual reports, is rejected. Also, the results reveal that non-compliance was 

evidenced and widespread across the four sectors. This finding is consistent with 

other reported results in developing countries where a lack of adequate legal 

frameworks and qualified accountants and auditors was also identified.  

8.2.2 Disclosure by UAE Firms and Users’ Needs of Information 

To investigate whether or not UAE firms disclose in their annual reports what 

different users need, eight user-groups: Individual investors, institutional investors, 
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governmental investors, government representatives, fund managers, bank credit 

officers, stock market brokers, and professional accountants/auditors were 

approached.  

Results indicated that all user-groups view an annual report as the most important 

source of information, followed by stock market publications and contact with the 

company’s management, advisory services by stock brokers, and advice of friends. 

Tips and rumours were ranked the least important sources of information. Fund 

managers were the greatest users of annual reports as they were more concerned about 

long-term investment. Not surprisingly, results showed that individual investors used 

annual reports least. This is because most of these investors are short-term investors 

and rely heavily on technical analysis rather than fundamental analysis. The role of 

corporate annual reports found in this study is consistent with previous research in 

both developed and developing countries. 

With regard to whether or not corporate annual reports meet the needs of different 

user-groups, the overall result indicates that about 56% of users perceived the current 

level of disclosure was not sufficient. This finding reflects the dissatisfaction 

expressed by UAE user-groups, mainly by institutional investors, bank credit officers, 

and fund managers who rely more heavily on corporate annual reports to make 

economic decisions than other user-groups. Consistent with similar results in other 

developing countries, the overall conclusion is that the current level of corporate 

disclosure in the UAE is still far from meeting the information needs of the majority 

of external users. Accordingly, H2, which states that UAE firms adequately disclose 

the perceived important items of user groups in their annual reports, is empirically 

rejected. 
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As far as the various sections of the annual reports are concerned, all user-groups 

considered that the income statement, balance sheet, and cash flow statement are the 

most important, easy to follow, reliable, and relevant sections of the annual report. 

These findings to a large extent are consistent with results obtained from other 

developed and developing countries. However, the surprising result was related to the 

auditor’s report which was ranked as the second least important section, contradicting 

similar studies in developing countries.  

In respect of disclosure of the 62 information items which user-groups perceived as 

important for their decision-making, the analysis showed that the level of disclosure 

seemed to be low with an overall average of 61%. The extent of disclosure varied 

widely within the sample firms (between 33% and 90%). While the disclosure level of 

the banking sector was the highest (64%), the insurance sector scored the lowest 

(57%) and industrial and services sector scores were almost the same (62% and 61% 

respectively). This finding showed that there is a gap between the disclosure level and 

users’ information needs even within the most regulated sector of banking. 

In terms of disclosure of each of the 62 information items, results revealed that the 

mean value varied from a low of zero to a high of 96%. Disclosure of items related to 

cash flows, owners’ equity statement, and income statements was higher than 

disclosure of balance sheet items and “Other Information” items. Most of the sample 

companies failed to disclose adequate information related to “Other Information” 

items either partially or totally. For example, almost all UAE firms did not disclose 

information relating to long-term performance and future forecasts such as rate of 

return required by the company on its projects and forecast of future financial 

performance for the next 3-5 years. 
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8.2.3 UAE Firms’ Characteristics and the Extent of Disclosure 

Eight hypotheses were established to examine the relationship between a number of 

explanatory variables (namely: type of industry, listing status, return on equity, 

liquidity, market capitalization, foreign ownership, non-executive directors, and audit 

committee) and the extent of disclosure in corporate annual reports. These hypotheses 

were tested using univariate and regression analysis. Results of the univariate analysis 

identified industry type (banking sector) and listing status variables to be significantly 

and positively associated with the extent of disclosure at (P <0.01) level. In contrast, 

the other variables were found not significant with either positive or negative 

coefficients. 

In the regression analysis, the log transformation of the dependent variable was used 

following the suggestion reported in previous similar studies (e.g., Hanushek & 

Jackson 1977; Wallace e. al. 1994; Fox 1997; Cooke 1998; Naser & Al-Khatib 2000; 

Greene 2003). The results with R2 equal to 26% at (P < 0.01) showed that listing 

status and industry type (banking sector) were significantly and positively associated 

with corporate disclosure at (1%) level. This finding can be explained on the grounds 

that listed firms are exposed to more disclosure requirements stipulated by the UAE 

securities market. Similarly, unlike the others, the banking sector is the most regulated 

sector by the Central Bank of the UAE. 

The results also showed that market capitalization was significant at (5%) but with a 

negative coefficient. This result provides reversing evidence and is inconsistent with 

H3-e, which states that UAE firms with a large market capitalization tend to disclose 

more information than firms with small market capitalization. This can be attributed 
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to the fact that firms with large market capitalization have more social and political 

influences to avoid compliance with mandatory disclosure requirements. 

Table 8.1 provides a summary of the research hypotheses under both univariate and 

OLS multiple regression analysis. The major conclusion that can be drawn from the 

regression analysis is that the industry type, listing status and the size of the company 

(market capitalization) are the most powerful explanatory variables when related to 

the variation in mandatory disclosure among UAE firms. 

Table 8.1: Summary of the Results of Univariate & Regression Analysis 

Research Hypotheses Expected 
Sign 

Univariate 
Analysis 

OLS 
Regression  

H3-a: Industry Type + Supported * Supported * 
H3-b: Listing Status + Supported * Supported * 

H3-c: Profitability (ROE) + Not 
Supported 

Not 
Supported 

H3-d: Liquidity +/- Not 
Supported 

Not 
Supported 

H3-e: Market Capitalization + Not 
Supported Supported ** 

H3-f: Foreign Ownership + Not 
Supported 

Not 
Supported 

H3-g: Composition of BOD +/- Not 
Supported 

Not 
Supported 

H3-h: Audit Committee + Not 
Supported 

Not 
Supported 

*       Sig. at 0.01    
**     Sig. at 0.05 with       
        negative coefficient    

8.3 Implications and Recommendations of the Study 

Although findings of this study are specific to the UAE, results of this research are 

relevant to other countries in the region with similar socio-economic environments. 

Conclusions drawn from this study may be of interest to policy makers and regulators 

who want to improve corporate financial disclosure in their countries. The findings of 
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this study are also likely to have some benefits to researchers and users of annual 

reports in other parts of the world. 

As mentioned previously, UAE firms provide limited amounts of information in their 

annual reports which generally do not meet the expectation of different types of users. 

The implication of this conclusion is that the limited amount of information provided 

in corporate annual reports, and variations in disclosure between companies 

(especially within the same sector), create inconsistency which may mislead users of 

these reports. Also, such a situation precludes users from making comparisons 

between firms for better economic decisions. Consequently, it is the responsibility of 

the regulatory authorities in the UAE to take corrective actions to rectify this state of 

affairs.  

The results of this study have extended the understanding of firms’ characteristics that 

help to explain the variability in disclosures among the four sectors. In this study, the 

extent of disclosure has been found to be significantly associated with listing status, 

industry type, and size of firm. This finding not only provides support to previous 

studies, but also is of relevance to concerned UAE authorities who want to understand 

corporate disclosure in this country. A possible policy implication of this finding may 

be that unlisted as well as large firms need better attention from the regulatory 

authorities. Consequently, UAE authorities need to evaluate the efficacy of the 

regulatory requirements and also to introduce more effective monitoring and 

enforcement mechanisms. 

The study findings should also be of interest to UAE user-groups. Given that firms 

with small market capitalization, banking sector firms, and listed firms on the UAE 
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securities market disclose more information in their annual reports, user-groups 

should be prudent when dealing with large and unlisted firms and may have to 

consider different sources of information other than these latter firms’ annual reports. 

Despite the level of non-compliance, this study also found that external auditors in the 

UAE had provided unqualified reports without mentioning any departure from 

compliance with mandatory requirements of the UAE securities market or IFRS. This 

raises a question about the quality of auditing practices in this country and requires 

more attention from the authorities concerned. 

Furthermore, results of this research provide evidence that UAE firms are not 

adequately complying with the mandatory disclosure requirements set forth either by 

UAE authorities or IFRS. However, as Craig and Diga (1996, p. 249) warned “unless 

the responsible government agency takes the necessary steps to ensure compliance, it 

would be difficult to improve the quality of national financial reporting’. Accordingly, 

it is recommended that in order to increase the extent of disclosure, the authorities in 

the UAE should strengthen monitoring and enforcement mechanisms. To ensure 

effective monitoring and enforcements mechanisms, several methods may be 

suggested.  

First, specific accounting and reporting standards need to be developed for all sectors 

to ensure that the choice of accounting standards is not left to the discretion of a 

company board of directors and auditors (Naser1998). As the world is moving toward 

the harmonization of accounting standards that is IFRS, UAE authorities do not need 

to reinvent the wheel by having their own standards. However, a careful study of the 
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IFRS to ensure its suitability26 for each sector is essential and thus, the ambiguity of 

not having specific reporting standards is removed. Also, UAE authorities should 

direct priority attention to users’ needs and require disclosure of information items 

perceived as important by different user-groups in addition to IFRS requirements. By 

doing so, UAE authorities may come up with a list of disclosure items, including both 

IFRS requirements and information items perceived by users to be important.  

Second, an obligation to comply with the “predetermined” accounting and reporting 

standards should be imposed on UAE firms as well as on auditors. User-groups still 

face major obstacles in global equity valuations due to complex accounting 

differences between countries (Morgan Stanley Dean Witter 1998–1999). Although 

there is a long history of debate in accounting over the relative merits of uniformity 

and flexibility, no resolution has been reached (e.g., Dye & Verrecchia, 1995; Basu et 

al. 1998; Roberts & Salter 1999). According to Hope (2004), flexibility allows 

management to more accurately reflect the firm’s performance through its financial 

reports. However, flexibility could also make it more difficult to compare firms cross-

sectionally and inter-temporally, and may also make it easier for management to 

distort reality in reporting performance. Hence, enforcement of accounting and 

reporting standards encourages management to follow the prescribed rules (Hope 

2004). 

Third, to ensure compliance with reporting requirements, a surveillance unit (Al-

Mulhem 1997) needs to be established. This unit should monitor reporting practices 

                                                 
26 Some standards are not applicable to the UAE such as IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’, and IAS 26 
‘Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plan’ as the UAE is a tax free country and has its 
own retirement and pension plan. Also, with a lack of active markets, UAE firms face difficulties to 
report fair values as it required by some IFRS (e.g., IFRS 2 3, and 4). UAE authorities may provide 
some guidelines to facilitate dealing with such situation. 
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and be empowered to formulate detailed guidelines of disclosure requirements as well 

as to take suitable punitive measures against non-compliant firms.  

Fourth, the availability of qualified auditors is essential to provide quality services 

and to ensure compliance with stipulated reporting requirements. Thus, the auditing 

profession needs more attention from UAE authorities to ensure that not only 

qualified auditors are licensed but also complying with auditing standards.  

Fifth, current legal actions should be amended in favour of stronger measures, and in 

the case a firm’s management or an auditor being found to be negligent, punitive 

action should be taken. Such action might include fines, suspension, or cancellation of 

licenses to practice. 

Currently the UAE Accountants and Auditors Association (AAA) has no authority to 

regulate the profession in the country. Cooperation between government authorities 

and this accounting body is crucial in order to regulate financial reporting effectively 

(Craig & Diga 1996). Consequently, UAE authorities should give more responsibility 

and support to AAA which can play an important role in terms of increasing 

awareness among its members about disclosure requirements as well as ensuring that 

only qualified auditors are licensed.  

8.4 Limitations 

This study provides some insights into the extent of disclosure in the UAE. However, 

the findings of this study should be interpreted with care as several limitations are 

associated with this kind of research. The first limitation relates to the use of the 

chosen index to measure the extent of disclosure. Although disclosure index is 
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considered the most suitable methodology to test the extent of disclosure (Marston & 

Shrives 1991; Botosan 1997; Prencipe 2004), the interpretation of these results is 

constrained by the validity and reliability of the disclosure index used in the study. 

The level of corporate disclosure may be affected by the subjective selection of items 

for information disclosure. While the disclosure items included in the index were 

carefully selected, these may not fully encompass all possible items that need to be 

included in the assessment of corporate reporting practices. Wallace and Naser (1995) 

pointed out that the results of using a disclosure index may be different if the number 

of items was increased or another set of disclosure items were examined. Also, the 

evaluation process was limited to mandatory items only as it was not possible to 

include voluntary disclosure items (due to subjectivity). Consequently, using a 

disclosure index with non-mandatory items may reveal quite different results from the 

present study. 

The subjectivity problem inherent in scoring the annual reports of the sample 

companies may not be completely eliminated and hence, there is an unavoidable 

subjectivity in the scoring process (Owsus-Ansah 1998b). Consequently, the 

comprehensiveness of corporate disclosures may not have been fully and/or properly 

captured by the disclosure index used in the study.  

While this study attempted to include most explanatory variables that are theoretically 

and empirically justified, it is likely that some other variables might be omitted. On 

the other hand, some variables, such as qualifications of audit committee members, 

could not be included in the study as information was not available at the time of 

research.  
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Another limitation of this study is that it examined disclosures at a point-in-time, that 

is the 2005 corporate annual reports. As disclosure evolves over time (Al-Mulhim 

1997), and information requirements may change accordingly, findings of this study 

may only be generalised for this point-in-time.  

A further limitation is in relation to the source of information used as a proxy for 

corporate disclosure. As noted previously, there are several sources of information 

(such as newspaper reports) which may be utilised by user-groups in making their 

decisions. The annual report of a company is only one source of information that may 

be used to communicate with its users. Although the results indicate that user-groups 

regard annual reports as their most important source of information, it is possible that 

users also seek to employ other sources of information for their economic decisions.  

This study also has not considered the problem of information overload. Some studies 

found that disclosure of excessive detail might adversely affect the process of decision 

making, as much as if too little information is disclosed (e.g., Steele 1983; Radin 

2007; Epstein 2007). Also in any questionnaire survey there is a “free rider” problem 

where participants ask for more information which they do not pay for. Also, 

providing such information is not a cost-free process. The costs of disclosing 

information include costs of collecting and processing, disseminating, auditing, 

potential litigation, and costs of analysis and interpretation (Page 1984; Owsus-Ansah 

1998a).  

Finally, issues related to the use of the survey research methodology should not be 

ignored. The sample size used in the study may not represent the larger population of 

UAE user-groups. Also, the level of education, experience and background in 
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accounting and finance of participants may not be representative. Hence, results of 

this study may not be able to be generalised. Furthermore, despite the response rate of 

this study (77%) being considered acceptable compared with similar studies (i.e. Abu-

Nassar & Rutherford 1996 (48.4%); Al-Mulhem 1997 (31.4%); Mirshekary & 

Saudagaran 2005 (49%); Ngangan et al. 2005 (43.8%)), an element of non-response 

bias may still exist. However, as noted by Courtis (1992), a complete elimination of 

this bias is never certain. 

8.5 Possible Further research 

As the economy of the UAE advances through time, more research is needed in future 

in order to gain further understanding of corporate disclosure in future. The current 

study examined the relationship between mandatory disclosure and certain company 

characteristics in a single period. Further research might attempt to extend this 

examination to include two or more periods such as before and after the establishment 

of the official securities market or a comparative study of firms before and after they 

are listed.  

Reporting practices and increased disclosure have been found to have a positive 

association with efficient securities markets (Barrett 1977; kothari 2001; Gao 2008). 

Further research may be undertaken to examine the relationship between disclosure 

practices and the efficiency of the UAE securities market in order to assist the 

government in its strategy to improve the market and boost the UAE economy. Thus, 

further research on assessing the efficiency of the UAE securities market should be 

useful to both the UAE authorities and user-groups.  
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In examining the explanatory power of certain company characteristics, it is possible 

that other variables, which may have an impact on the extent of disclosure in the 

UAE, have not been included in this study. Consequently, future research may 

investigate the effect of other variables, such as the qualifications of audit committee 

members and cultural factors, on the level of disclosure. Moreover, as the government 

moves towards the privatization of government-owned companies a future research 

project may examine the impact of privatization on the disclosure behaviour of such 

companies. 

Another possible future research avenue relates to the role of auditor’s reports in the 

economic decision-making process of users. As noted in Chapter Six, participants in 

this study ranked the auditor’s report as the sixth most important source of 

information. This finding is inconsistent with previous studies, especially in 

developing countries. 

As noted previously, a lack of enforcement was the main factor affecting the extent of 

disclosure in the UAE. It has been suggested that political, economic, and socio-

cultural factors affect the strength of enforcement and the level of disclosure with 

mandatory requirements (Saudagaran 2004). Consequently, future research may 

investigate such factors as they may have an impact on the continuing extent of 

disclosure in the UAE. 



Appendix 1: Mandatory Disclosure Items in the UAE 
 

Standard Disclosure Requirements Applicable Disclosed 

UAE Securities Market 
Requirements 

1.     Annual Report to be submitted within three 
months of the closing of the financial year.    

  2.     Financial Statements (Balance Sheet, Income 
statements, and statement of cash flows) for the 
year in addition to the comparative figures for 
the preceding two years. 

 
  

  3.     Board of Directors Report (Financial summary 
about the firm )    

  4.     Price Earnings Ratio    

  5.     Description about the Future Activities and 
Projects     

  6.     Financial Risks and the firm policies to deal 
with such risks.    

IAS 1- Presentation of General 
Purpose  

7.     Complete set of financial statements should 
include:    

of Financial Statements  a.        Balance sheet    
  b.        Income statement     

c.        Statement of changes in equity     
d.        Cash flow statement     
e.        Explanatory notes     

      
Minimum items on the face of the Balances Sheet 

[IAS 1.68] :     

8.     Comparative prior-period information;    
9.     Consistency of presentation;    
10.  Breakdown of assets and liabilities in order of 

their liquidity;    

11.  Breakdown of Fixed assets into main categories 
(property, plant and equipment);    

12.  investment property;     

To ensure comparability both with the entity's 
financial statements of previous periods and 
with the financial statements of other entities. 
IAS 1 sets out the overall framework and 
responsibilities for the presentation of 
financial statements, guidelines for their 
structure and minimum requirements for the 
content of the financial statements. Standards 
for recognizing, measuring, and disclosing 
specific transactions are addressed in other 
Standards and Interpretations. 

13.  intangible assets;     
  14.  financial assets (excluding amounts shown under 

(15), (17) and (18));     

  15.  investments accounted for using the equity 
method;     

  16.  inventories and its sub classification (i.e. 
finished goods, materials);     

  17.  trade, prepayments  and other receivables;     
  18.  cash and cash equivalents;     
  19.  trade and other payables;     
  20.  provisions and its classification (i.e., employee 

benefit costs and others);    

  21.  financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown 
under (19) and (20));     

  22.  minority interest, presented within equity; and     
  23.  issued capital and reserves attributable to equity 

holders;     

  24.  Gross amount due from/to customers for 
contract work as an asset/ liability;    

  Minimum items on the face of the income 
statement:    

  25.  Comparative prior-period information;    
  26.  Consistency of presentation;    
  27. revenues;     
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  28. finance costs;    
  29. share of the profit or loss of associates and joint 

ventures accounted for using the equity method;     

  30. a single amount comprising the total of (i) the 
post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations 
and (ii) the post-tax gain or loss recognized on 
the disposal of the assets or disposal group(s) 
constituting the discontinued operation; and; 

 

  

  31. write-downs of inventories to net realizable value 
or of property, plant and equipment to 
recoverable amount, as well as reversals of such 
write-downs; 

 
  

  32. profit or loss attributed to minority interest and 
equity holders of the parent;    

  33. Profit or loss;     
  34. Basic and diluted earnings per share for profit or 

loss;    

  Minimum items on the face of the statement of 
changes in equity:    

  35.  profit or loss for the period;    
  36.  each item of income and expense for the period 

that is recognized directly in equity, and the 
total of those items; 

 
  

  37.  total income and expense for the period 
(calculated as the sum of (34) and (35)), 
showing separately the total amounts 
attributable to equity holders of the parent and to 
minority interest; and 

 

  

  38.  The effects of changes in accounting policies 
and corrections of errors recognized in 
accordance with IAS 8; 

 
  

  39.  Capital transactions with owners;    
  40.  the balance of accumulated profits at the 

beginning and at the end of the period, and the 
movements for the period; 

 
  

  41.  Reconciliation between the carrying amount of 
each class of equity capital, share premium, 
retained earnings, and each reserve at the 
beginning and at the end of the period, 
disclosing each movement.  

 

  

  Minimum items on the face of the statement of 
cash flows:    

  42.  Comparative prior-period information;    
  43.  Consistency of presentation;    
  44.  cash flows during the period classified as 

operating, investing, and financing activities;    

  45.  cash flows relating to extraordinary items should 
be classified as operating, investing or financing 
as appropriate and should be separately 
disclosed; 

 
  

  46.  aggregate cash flows relating to acquisitions and 
disposals of subsidiaries and other business units 
should be presented separately and classified as 
investing activities, with specified additional 
disclosures; 

 
  

  47.  the amount of cash and cash equivalents held by 
the enterprise that is not available for use by the 
group should be disclosed, together with a 
commentary by management. 

 
  

  48.  The net cash flows attributable to the operating, 
investing, and financing activities of a 
discontinued operation shall be separately 
presented on the face of the cash flow statement 
or disclosed in the notes. [IFRS 5.33] 

 
  

  Notes to financial statements:    
  49.  The basis of preparation of the financial 

statements and a statement of compliance with 
IFRS; 
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  50.  Going concern    
  51.  Accrual basis of accounting    
  52.  the reporting enterprise;    
  53.  whether the statements are for the enterprise or 

for a group;    

  54.  the date or period covered;    
  55.  the presentation currency    
  56.  the level of precision (thousands, million, etc.);    
  57.  Supporting information for items presented on 

the face of the balance sheet, income statement, 
statement of changes in equity, and cash flow 
statement, in the order in which each statement 
and each line item is presented;  

 
  

  58.  Summary of significant accounting policies 
applied, including the measurements basis used 
in preparing the financial statements; 

 
  

  59.  contingent liabilities and unrecognized 
contractual commitments; and     

  60.  Non-financial disclosures, such as the entity's 
financial risk management objectives and 
policies; 

 
  

  61.  the key assumptions concerning the future, and 
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the balance sheet date; 

 
  

  62.  Bases of accounting estimates;    
  63. domicile of the enterprise;     
  64. country of incorporation;     
  65. address of registered office or principal place of 

business;     

  66. description of the enterprise's operations and 
principal activities;     

  67. Name of its parent and the ultimate parent if it is 
part of a group;    

  68. number of shares authorized and issued and the 
par value per share;    

  69. reconciliation of the number of shares 
outstanding at the beginning and end of the year;    

  70. rights, preferences, and restrictions on capital;    
  71. Treasury shares;    
  72. description of the nature and purpose of each 

reserve;    

  73. restructurings of the activities of an entity;    
  74. disposals of items of property, plant and 

equipment;    

  75. disposals of investments;     
  76. discontinuing operations;    
  77. litigation settlements; and    
  78. reversals of provisions;    
  79. Expenses should be analysed either by nature 

(raw materials, staffing costs, depreciation, etc.) 
or by function (cost of sales, selling, 
administrative, etc.); But in all cases 
depreciation, amortization and staff costs should 
be disclosed; 

 

  

  80. basic and diluted earnings per share for 
discontinued operations;    

  81.  components of cash and cash equivalents;    
  82. the effect of exchange rate of changes on cash 

and cash equivalents;    

  83. The amount of dividends recognized as 
distributions to equity holders during the period, 
and the related amount per share;  
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  84. The amount of dividends proposed or declared 
before the financial statements were authorized 
for issue; 

 
  

  85.  any departure from a particular requirement of 
an IFRS and any financial impact;    

  86.  For each class of fixed and intangible assets 
disclose: the measurement bases, depreciation or 
amortization methods/rates, useful life, and 
gross carrying amount with accumulated 
depreciation/amortization; 

 
  

  87.  accounting policy with respect to the 
capitalization or expensing of borrowing costs;    

  Notes for banks only (in addition to above):    
  88. Bases of recognition of the principal types of 

income;    

  89. the valuation of investment and dealing 
securities;    

  90. the basis for the determination of impairment 
losses on loans and advances and for writing off 
uncollectible loans and advances; 

 
  

  91. the basis for the determination of chargers for 
general banking risks and the accounting 
treatment of such charges; 

 
  

  92. any significant concentrations of assets and off-
balance sheet items in terms of geographic 
areas, customers or industry groups or risk; 

 
  

  93. significant net foreign currency exposures;    
  94. proportions of retained earnings set aside for 

general banking risks;    

  95. amount of secured liabilities and the nature and 
carrying amount of the assets pledged as 
security; 

 
  

IAS 2 - Inventory 96. accounting policy for inventories; [IAS 2036]    
97. carrying amount of any inventories carried at fair 

value         less costs to sell;     
98. amount of any write-down of inventories 

recognized as an expense in the period;     
99. amount of any reversal of a write-down to NRV 

and the circumstances that led to such reversal;     
100. carrying amount of inventories pledged as 

security for liabilities;    

It provides guidance for determining the cost 
of inventories and for subsequently 
recognizing an expense, including any write-
down to net realizable value. It also provides 
guidance on the cost formulas that are used to 
assign costs to inventories. Inventories are 
required to be stated at the lower of cost and 
net realizable value. The LIFO formula, which 
had been allowed prior to the 2003 revision of 
IAS 2, is no longer allowed. 101. Cost of inventories recognized as expense (cost 

of goods sold).    
IAS 7 - Cash Flow Statement  Requirements are included in IAS 1    
The objective of IAS 7 is to require the 
presentation of information about the 
historical changes in cash and cash 
equivalents of an enterprise by means of a 
cash flow statement which classifies cash 
flows during the period according to 
operating, investing and financing activities.  

  

 

  
IAS 8 - Accounting Polices, 
Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors 

Disclosures Relating to Changes in Accounting 
Policies: [IAS   8.28]  

  
  102.  the title, nature of the standard, and 

interpretation causing the change;     
The objective of IAS 8 is to prescribe the 
basis for changing in accounting polices, 
estimates and errors,  

103.  for the current period and each prior period 
presented, to the extent practicable, the amount 
of the adjustment;  

 
  

 104.  basic and diluted earnings per share;     
   Disclosures Relating to Changes in Accounting 

Estimate: [IAS 8.39-40]    
  105.  the nature and amount of a change in an 

accounting estimate that has an effect in the 
current period or is expected to have an effect in 
future periods;  
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   Disclosures Relating to Prior Period Errors: 
[IAS 8.49]     

  106.  the nature and the amount of correction of the 
prior period error;     

  107.  for basic and diluted earnings per share;     
  108.  The amount of the correction at the beginning 

of the earliest prior period presented for each 
financial statement line item. 

 
  

IAS 10 - Event After the 
Balance Sheet Date.  

109.  the nature of the event and an estimate of its 
financial effect or a statement that a reasonable 
estimate of the effect cannot be made; [IAS 
10.21] 

 
  

The objective of IAS 8 is to prescribe the 
basis for treatment of events after the balance 
sheet date such as: 

110.  A company should update disclosures that 
relate to conditions that existed at the balance 
sheet date to reflect any new information that it 
receives after the balance sheet date about those 
conditions;[IAS 10.19] 

 

  
legal resolution 

Impairment of an asset 

Acquiring or selling an asset before the F S 
date 

111.  Companies must disclose the date when the 
financial statements were authorized for issue 
and who gave that authorization. [IAS 10.17]  

  
Discover of error or misstatement.      
IAS 11 - Construction 
Contracts 

112.  amount of contract revenue recognized; [IAS 
11.39(a)]   

  
113.  method used to determine revenue; [IAS 

11.39(b)]     
The objective of IAS 11 is to prescribe the 
accounting treatment of revenue and costs 
associated with construction contracts.  114.  method used to determine stage of completion; 

[IAS 11.39(c)] and     
  for contracts in progress at balance sheet date: 

[IAS 11.40]    
  115. a.  aggregate costs incurred and recognized 

profit;    
  116. b.  amount of advances received;    
  117. c.  Amount of retentions.     
IAS 14 118.  types of products and services included in each 

reported business segment [IAS 14.81];      
Segment Reporting 119.  sales revenue (distinguishing between external 

and inter-segment) [IAS 14.51-67];     
  120.  result (profit or loss);     

121.  assets;     
122.  the basis of inter-segment pricing;     
123.  liabilities;     
124.  capital additions;     
125.  depreciation;     
126.  non-cash expenses other than depreciation; and     

The objective of IAS 14 (Revised 1997) is to 
establish principles for reporting financial 
information by line of business and by 
geographical area for which returns and risks 
can separately be identifiable. The enterprise's 
reportable segments are its business and 
geographical segments for which a majority of 
their revenue is earned from sales to external 
customers and for which [IAS 14.35]: 

127.  Equity method income.     
1.  Revenue is 10% or more of the total 

revenue, external and internal, of all 
segments; or  

128.  Reconciliation between information reported 
for segments and consolidated information. At a 
minimum: [IAS 14.67]  

 
  

2.  Segment result, is 10% or more the 
combined result of all segments; or  

•    segment revenue should be reconciled to 
consolidated revenue     

3.  Assets are 10% or more of the total assets 
of all segments.  

•    segment result should be reconciled to a 
comparable measure of consolidated operating 
profit or loss and consolidated net profit or loss  

 
  

  •    segment assets should be reconciled to enterprise 
assets     

  •    segment liabilities should be reconciled to 
enterprise liabilities    

IAS 16 - Property Plant and 
Equipment 

For each class of property, plant, and equipment, 
disclose: [IAS 16.73]   

  
The objective of IAS 16 is to prescribe the 

accounting treatment for property, plant, and 
129.  gross carrying amount and accumulated 

depreciation and impairment losses;     
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130.  reconciliation of the carrying amount at the 
beginning and the end of the period, showing:     

equipment. The principal issues are the timing 
of recognition of assets, the determination of 
their carrying amounts, and the depreciation 
charges to be recognised in relation to them.  

a.        additions;     
  b.        disposals;     
IAS 16 permits two accounting models:  c.        acquisitions through business combinations;     

d.        revaluation increases;     •       Cost Model. The asset is carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. [IAS 16.30]  

e.        impairment losses;     
f.         reversals of impairment losses;     
g.        depreciation;     

•       Revaluation Model. The asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, being its fair value at 
the date of revaluation less subsequent 
depreciation, provided that fair value can be 
measured reliably. [IAS 16.31]  

h.        net foreign exchange differences on 
translation;     

i.         other movements.     
131.  restrictions on title;     

IAS 16 does not apply to biological assets 
related to agricultural activity (see IAS 41) or 
mineral rights and mineral reserves such as 
oil, natural gas and similar non-regenerative 
resources, 

132.  expenditures to construct property, plant, and 
equipment during the period;     

  133.  Commitments to acquire property, plant, and 
equipment.     

  134.  Compensation from third parties for items of 
property, plant, and equipment that were 
impaired, lost or given up that is included in 
profit or loss.  

 
  

  If property, plant, and equipment is stated at 
revalued amounts, certain additional 
disclosures are required: [IAS 16.77] 

 
  

  135.  the effective date of the revaluation;     
  136.  whether an independent valuer was involved;     
  137.  the methods and significant assumptions used 

in estimating fair values;     
  138.  the extent to which fair values were determined 

directly by reference to observable prices in an 
active market or recent market transactions on 
arm's length terms or were estimated using other 
valuation techniques;  

 

  
  139.  the carrying amount that would have been 

recognized had the assets been carried under the 
cost model;  

 
  

  140.  The revaluation surplus, including changes 
during the period and distribution restrictions.     

IAS 17 Leases Disclosure: Lessees - Operating Lease [IAS 17.35]    
141.  amounts of minimum lease payments at 

balance sheet date under non-cancellable 
operating leases for:  

 
  

a.        the next year;     

The objective of IAS 17 (Revised 1997) is to 
prescribe, for lessees and lessors, the 
appropriate accounting policies and 
disclosures to apply in relation to finance and 
operating leases.  b.        years 2 through 5 combined;     
  c.        beyond five years;     
However, IAS 17 does not apply as the basis 
of measurement for the following leased 
assets:  

142.  total future minimum sublease income under 
non-cancellable subleases;   

  
143.  lease and sublease payments recognized in 

income for the period;     
1.  Property held by a lessee that is accounted 
for as investment property for which the 
lessee uses the fair value model set out in IAS 
40.  

144.  contingent rent recognized as an expense; and     
2.  Investment property provided by lessors 
under operating leases (see IAS 40).  
3.  Biological assets held by lessees under 
finance leases (see IAS 41).  

145.  General description of significant leasing 
arrangements, including contingent rent 
provisions, renewal or purchase options, and 
restrictions imposed on dividends, borrowings, 
or further leasing.  

 

  
4.  Biological assets provided by lessors under 
operating leases (see IAS 41).  

In case of finance lease (Lessees): 
   

  146.  total future minimum sublease income under 
non-cancellable subleases;     

  147.  Contingent rent recognised as an expense.    
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  Disclosure: Lessors - Finance Lease [IAS 17.47]     
  148  reconciliation between gross investment in the 

lease and the present value of minimum lease 
payments;  

 
  

  149.  Gross investment and present value of 
minimum lease payments receivable for: the 
next year, year 2 through 5 combined, and 
beyond five years. 

 
  

  150.  unearned finance income;     
  151.  unguaranteed residual values;     
  152.  accumulated allowance for uncollectible lease 

payments receivable;     
  153.  contingent rent recognized in income; and     
  154.  General description of significant leasing 

arrangements.     
  Disclosure: Lessors - Operating Lease [IAS 17.56]    
  155.  Amounts of minimum lease payments at 

balance sheet date under non-cancellable 
operating leases in the aggregate and for: the 
next year, year 2 through 5 combined, and 
beyond five years. 

 

  
  156.  contingent rent recognized as in income; and     
  157.  General description of significant leasing 

arrangements.     
IAS 18  Revenues 158.  accounting policy for recognizing revenue; 

[IAS 18.35]    
159.  amount of each of the following types of 

revenue:     
The objective of IAS 18 is to prescribe the 
accounting treatment for revenues arising 
from certain types of transactions and events.  • sale of goods     

• rendering of services     Revenue should be measured at the fair value 
of consideration received /receivable 

• interest     
  • royalties     
  • dividends     
  • Within each of the above categories, the amount of 

revenue from exchanges of goods or services.    
IAS 19  Employee Benefits 
The objective of IAS 19 (Revised 1998) is to 
prescribe the accounting and disclosure for 
employee benefits (that is, all forms of 
consideration given by an enterprise in 
exchange for service rendered by employees). 
The principle underlying all of the detailed 
requirements of the Standard is that the cost of 
providing employee benefits should be 
recognized in the period in which the benefit 
is earned by the employee, rather than when it 
is paid or payable. 

160.  Disclose a liability when an employee has 
provided service in exchange for employee 
benefits to be paid in the future.  

 

  
IAS 20 - Government Grants 161.  Accounting policy adopted for grants, 

including method of balance sheet presentation; 
[IAS 20.39]   

 
  

The objective of IAS 20 is to prescribe the 
accounting for, and disclosure of, government 
grants and other forms of government 
assistance. 

162.  Nature and extent of grants recognised in the 
financial statements (related either to income as 
credit or deduction of related expenses or related 
to assets at fair value); 

 
  

• Recognize government grants only when 
there is reasonable assurance that the entity 
will comply with the conditions attached to 
the grants, and the grants will be received. 

163.  Unfulfilled conditions and contingencies 
attaching to recognised grants. 

 
  

• Grants should not be credited directly to 
equity, but should be recognized in profit and 
loss over the periods necessary to match them 
with the related costs. 

  

 
  

• Income related grants may either be 
presented as a credit in the income statement 
or deduction in reporting the related expense. 
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IAS 21 - Effect of Changes in 
Foreign Exchange Rates 

164.  The amount of exchange differences 
recognised in profit or loss (excluding 
differences arising on financial instruments 
measured at fair value through profit or loss in 
accordance with IAS 39). [IAS 21.52]  

 

  
165.  Net exchange differences classified in a 

separate component of equity and a 
reconciliation of the amount of such exchange 
differences at the beginning and end of the 
period. [IAS 21.52]  

 

  

The objective of IAS  21is to prescribe how to 
include foreign currency transactions and 
foreign operations in the financial statements 
of an entity and how to translate financial 
statements into a presentation currency. The 
principal issues are which exchange rate(s) to 
use and how to report the effects of changes in 
exchange rates in the financial statements. 

166.  When the presentation currency is different 
from the functional currency, disclose that fact 
together with the functional currency and the 
reason for using a different presentation 
currency. [IAS 21.53]  

 

  
  167.  A change in the functional currency of either 

the reporting entity or a significant foreign 
operation and the reason therefore. [IAS 21.54]  

 
  

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs 168.  The accounting policy adopted; [IAS 23.29]    
The objective of IAS 23 is to prescribe the 
accounting treatment for borrowing costs.  

169.  Amount of borrowing cost capitalized during 
the period;     

Borrowing costs include 170.  Capitalization rate used.     
•  Interest on bank overdrafts and borrowings,      
•  Amortization of discounts or premiums on 
borrowings, 

     
•   Amortization of ancillary costs incurred in 
the arrangement of borrowings,  

     
•  finance charges on finance leases and 
exchange differences on foreign currency 
borrowings where they are regarded as an 
adjustment to interest costs. 

  
 

  
IAS 24 Related Parties 171.  the name of its parent and subsidiaries; [IAS 

24.12]    
172.  Disclose key management personnel 

compensation in total and for each of the 
following categories: [IAS 24.16]  

 
  

173.  short-term, long-term employee benefits, and ; 
post-employment benefits; [IAS 24.16]    

The objective of IAS 24 is to ensure that an 
entity's financial statements contain the 
disclosures necessary to draw attention to the 
possibility that its financial position and profit 
or loss may have been affected by the 
existence of related parties and by transactions 
and outstanding balances with such parties. 174.  termination benefits; and     
  175.  equity compensation benefits (stock options);     

176.  The amount of the transactions with related 
parties and the outstanding balances including 
terms, conditions, guarantees, and provisions for 
doubtful debts; [IAS 24.17-18]  

 
  

•  Related parties are parties that control or 
have significant influence over the reporting 
entity (including parent companies, owners 
and their families, major investors, key 
management personnel) and parties that are 
controlled or significantly influenced by the 
reporting entity. 

177.  Expense recognised during the period in 
respect of bad or doubtful debts due from related 
parties.  

 
  

IAS 27 Consolidate Financial 
Statements 

178.  the nature of the relationship between the 
parent and a subsidiary when the parent does not 
own, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, 
more than half of the voting power; [IAS 27.40]  

 
  

IAS 27 has the twin objectives of setting 
standards to be applied:  

179.  the reasons why the ownership, directly or 
indirectly through subsidiaries, of more than 
half of the voting or potential voting power of 
an investee does not constitute control;  

 
  

•    in the preparation and presentation of 
consolidated financial statements for a group 
of entities under the control of a parent; and  

180.  the reporting date of the financial statements of 
a subsidiary when such financial statements are 
used to prepare consolidated financial 
statements and are as of a reporting date or for a 
period that is different from that of the parent, 
and the reason for using a different reporting 
date or period; and  

 

  
•    In accounting for investments in 
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities, and 
associates when an entity elects, or is required 
by local regulations, to present separate (non-
consolidated) financial statements.  

181.  The nature and extent of any significant 
restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to 
transfer funds to the parent in the form of cash 
dividends or to repay loans or advances.  
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IAS 28 Investment in 
Associates 

182.  fair value of investments in associates for 
which there are published price quotations; [IAS 
28.37] 

 
  

183.  summarized financial information of 
associates, including the aggregated amounts of 
assets, liabilities, revenues, and profit or loss;  

 
  

•    IAS 28 applies to all investments in which 
an investor has significant influence but not 
control or joint control except for investments 
held by a venture capital organisation, mutual 
fund, unit trust, and similar entity that (by 
election or requirement) are accounted for as 
under IAS 39 at fair value with fair value 
changes recognised in profit or loss. [IAS 
28.1] 

184.  explanations when investments of less than 
20% are accounted for by the equity method or 
when investments of more than 20% are not 
accounted for by the equity method;  

 

  
•    Holding of 20% or more of the voting 
power (directly or through subsidiaries) will 
indicate significant influence unless it can be 
clearly demonstrated otherwise. 

185.  use of a reporting date of the financial 
statements of an associate that is different from 
that of the investor;   

  
•    Equity method investments must be 
classified as non-current assets. [IAS 28.38]  

186.  nature and extent of any significant restrictions 
on the ability of associates to transfer funds to 
the investor in the form of cash dividends, or 
repayment of loans or advances;  

 
  

 187.  unrecognized share of losses of an associate, 
both for the period and cumulatively, if an 
investor has discontinued recognition of its 
share of losses of an associate;  

 
  

  188.  Investor's share of the contingent liabilities of 
an associate incurred jointly with other 
investors; and  

 
  

  189.  Contingent liabilities that arise because the 
investor is severally liable for all or part of the 
liabilities of the associate.  

 
  

IAS 30 Balance Sheet:    
Disclosure Standards for 
Banks 

  Assets Section: 
 

  
  190. a.     Cash and balances with the central bank;    

191. b.     Treasury bills;    
192. c.     Securities held for dealing purposes;    
193. d.     Placements and advances to other banks;    
194. e.     Money market placements;    
195. f.      Loans and advances to customers;    
196. g.     Investment securities;    
  Liabilities Section:    
197. a.     Deposits from other banks;    
198. b.     Money market deposits;    

The objective of IAS 30 is to prescribe 
appropriate presentation and disclosure 
standards for banks and similar financial 
institutions (hereafter called 'banks'), which 
supplement the requirements of other 
Standards. The intention is to provide users 
with appropriate information to assist them in 
evaluating the financial position and 
performance of banks and to enable them to 
obtain a better understanding of the special 
characteristics of the operations of banks. 

199. c.     Amounts owed to other depositors;    
  200. d.     Certificates of deposits;    
  201. e.     Promissory notes and other liabilities;    
  202. f.      Other borrowed funds.    
  203.  A bank's balance sheet should group assets and 

liabilities by nature and list them in liquidity 
sequence. 

 
  

  204.  A bank must disclose the fair values of each 
class of its financial assets and financial 
liabilities as required by IAS 32 and IAS 39. 
[IAS 30.24]. 

 
  

  205.  specific contingencies and commitments 
(including off-balance sheet items) requiring 
disclosure [IAS 30.26]  

 
  

  206.  specified disclosures for the maturity of assets 
and liabilities [IAS 30.30]     

  207.  concentrations of assets, liabilities and off-
balance sheet items [IAS 30.40]     

  208.  losses on loans and advances [IAS 30.43]     
  209.  Assets pledged as security [IAS 30.53].     
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  Income Statement:    
  210.  A bank's income statement should group 

income and expenses by nature. [IAS 30.9]    
    A bank's income statement or notes should report 

the following specific amounts: [IAS 30.10]:     
  211 • interest income     
  212• interest expense     
  213 • dividend income     
  214 • fee and commission income     
  215 • fee and commission expense     
  216 • net gains/losses from securities dealing     
  217 • net gains/losses from investment securities     
  218 • net gains/losses from foreign currency dealing     
  219 • other operating income     
  220 • loan losses     
  221 • general administrative expenses     
  222 • other operating expenses.     
IAS 31 Joint Venture 223.  Information about contingent liabilities relating 

to its interest in a joint venture. [IAS 31.54]     
224.  Information about commitments relating to its 

interests in joint ventures. [IAS 31.55]     
IAS 31 applies to accounting for all interests 
in joint ventures and the reporting of joint 
venture assets, liabilities, income, and 
expenses in the financial statements of 
venturers and investors, regardless of the 
structures or forms under which the joint 
venture activities take place,  

225.  A listing and description of interests in 
significant joint ventures and the proportion of 
ownership interest held in jointly controlled 
entities. The aggregate amounts of each of 
current assets, long-term assets, current 
liabilities, long-term liabilities, income, and 
expenses related to its interests in joint ventures 
need to be disclosed. [IAS 31.56]  

 

  
226.  The method it uses to recognise its interests in 

jointly controlled entities. [IAS 31.57]     
Joint venture: A contractual arrangement 
whereby two or more parties undertake an 
economic activity that is subject to joint 
control.  

     
Venturer: A party to a joint venture and has 
joint control over that joint venture.  

     
Investor in a joint venture: A party to a joint 
venture and does not have joint control over 
that joint venture.  

  
 

  
IAS 32 Financial 
Instruments 

  Disclosures about Risk Management and 
Hedges:   

  
The stated objective of IAS 32 is to enhance 
financial statement users' understanding of the 
significance of financial instruments to an 
entity's financial position, performance, and 
cash flows.  

227.  Describe the entity's financial risk management 
objectives and policies; [IAS 32.56]: 

 

  
Financial instrument: A contract that gives 
rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of 
another entity.  

228.  Disclose the following separately for 
designated fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, 
and hedges of a net investment in a foreign 
operation (those terms are defined in IAS 39): 
[IAS 32.58] 

 

  
Financial asset: Any asset that is:  229 •    a description of the hedge;     
•    cash;  230 •    a description of the financial instruments 

designated as hedging instruments and their fair 
values at the balance sheet date;  

 
  

•    an equity instrument of another entity;  231 •    the nature of the risks being hedged; and     
•    a contractual right to receive cash or an 
asset or to exchange an asset or liability with 
another entity. 

232 •    for cash flow hedges, the periods in which 
the cash flows are expected to occur, when they 
are expected to enter into the determination of 
profit or loss, and a description of any forecast 
transaction for which hedge accounting had 
previously been used but which is no longer 
expected to occur.  

 

  
Note: When IAS 32 and IAS 39 were revised 
in 2003, all of the disclosures about financial 

233.  the amount that was so recognized in equity 
during the period; [IAS 32.59]    
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instruments that had been in old IAS 39 were 
moved to IAS 32, so IAS 32 now includes all 
financial instruments disclosure requirements.  

233.  the amount that was removed from equity and 
included in profit or loss for the period; and   

  
  234.  the amount that was removed from equity 

during the period and included in the initial 
measurement of the acquisition cost or other 
carrying amount of a non-financial asset or non- 
financial liability in a hedged highly probable 
forecast transaction.  

 

  
  Disclosures about the Terms and Conditions of 

Financial Instruments:    
  235.  information about the extent and nature of the 

financial instruments, including significant 
terms and conditions that may affect the amount, 
timing and certainty of future cash flows; and  

 
  

  236.  The accounting policies and methods adopted, 
including the criteria for recognition and the 
basis of measurement applied [IAS 32.60]. 

 
  

  Disclosures about Interest Rate Risk:    
  237.   For each class of financial assets and financial 

liabilities, disclose information about exposure 
to interest rate risk, including contractual 
repricing or maturity dates and effective interest 
rates, when applicable. [IAS 32.67]  

 

  
   Disclosures about Credit Risk:     
  238.  For each class of financial assets and other 

credit exposures, disclose information about 
exposure to credit risk, including: the amount 
that best represents its maximum credit risk 
exposure at the balance sheet date and 
significant concentrations of credit risk. [IAS 
32.76] 

 

  
  Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial 

Instruments     
  239.  Disclose the fair value of each class of 

financial assets and financial liabilities. [IAS 
32.86]  

 
  

  240.  The methods and significant assumptions 
applied in determining fair values of financial 
assets and financial liabilities. [IAS 32.92] 

 
  

  241.  Whether fair values of financial assets and 
financial liabilities are determined directly, in 
full or in part, by reference to published price 
quotations in an active market or are estimated 
using a valuation technique.  

 

  
  242.  the total amount of the change in fair value 

estimated using a valuation technique that was 
recognized in profit or loss during the period.  

 
  

  Disclosures about Collateral:     
  243.  The carrying amount of financial assets 

pledged as collateral and any material terms and 
conditions relating to assets pledged as 
collateral. [IAS 32.94] 

 
  

  244.  Information about collateral that the entity has 
received and is permitted to sell or repledge.     

  Disclosures about Financial Assets and Liabilities 
at Fair Value through Profit or Loss:     

  245.  are classified as held for trading; and     
  246.   the amount of change in its fair value that is 

not attributable to changes in a benchmark 
interest rate (such as LIBOR); and 

 
  

  247.   the difference between its carrying amount and 
the amount the entity would be contractually 
required to pay at maturity to the holder of the 
obligation. [IAS 32.94] 

 
  

  Disclosures about Reclassifications:     
  248.  Disclose the reason for any reclassification of a 

financial asset as one measured at cost or 
amortised cost rather than at fair value. [IAS 32.94]  
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  Disclosures about Impairment :    
  249.  Disclose the nature and amount of any 

impairment loss recognised in profit or loss for a 
financial asset, separately for each significant 
class of financial asset. [IAS 32.94]  

 
  

  Disclosures about Defaults and Breaches:     
  250.  Disclose details and amounts relating to any 

defaults of principal, interest, sinking fund, or 
redemption provisions during the period on 
loans payable recognized as at the balance sheet 
date, and any other breaches during the period 
of loan agreements when those breaches can 
permit the lender to demand repayment. [IAS 
32.94]  

 

  
IAS 33 Earnings Per Share 251.  The amounts used as the numerators in 

calculating basic and diluted EPS, and a 
reconciliation of those amounts to profit or loss 
attributable to the parent entity for the period.  

 
  

252.  The weighted average number of ordinary 
shares used as the denominator in calculating 
basic and diluted EPS, and a reconciliation of 
these denominators to each other.  

 
  

The objective of IAS 33 is to prescribe 
principles for the determination and 
presentation of earnings per share (EPS) 
amounts in order to improve performance 
comparisons between different enterprises in 
the same period and between different 
accounting periods for the same enterprise. 

253.  Instruments (including contingently issuable 
shares) that could potentially dilute basic 
earnings per share in the future, but were not 
included in the calculation of diluted EPS 
because they are anti-dilutive for the period(s) 
presented.  

 

  
Applies to publicly traded entities, entities in 
the process of issuing such shares, and any 
other entity voluntarily presenting EPS. 
Dilution is a reduction in EPS or an increase 
in loss per share on the assumption that 
convertible instruments are converted that 
options or warrants are exercised, or that 
ordinary shares are issued when specified 
conditions are met. 

254.  A description of those ordinary share 
transactions or potential ordinary share 
transactions that occur after the balance sheet 
date and that would have changed significantly 
the number of ordinary shares or potential 
ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the 
period if those transactions had occurred before 
the end of the reporting period. Examples 
include issues and redemptions of ordinary 
shares, warrants and options, conversions, and 
exercises.  

 

  
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets Disclosure by class of assets and by segment: [IAS 

36.126-129]     
The objective of IAS 36 is to ensure that 
assets are carried at no more than their 
recoverable amount, and to define how 
recoverable amount is calculated. 

255.  Impairment losses recognized/reversed in the 
income statement;  

  
This standard applies to all assets except  256.  amount, events and circumstances resulting in 

the impairment loss;    
- inventories 257.  Detailed information about the estimates used 

to measure recoverable amounts.    
- assets arising from construction contracts      
- deferred tax assets      
- assets arising from employee benefits      
- financial assets      
- investment property measured at fair value 
and  

     
- biological assets related to agricultural 
activity 

     
       
Impairment loss to be recognized when the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 

  
 

  
IAS 37  Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets 

258.  Reconciliation for each class of provision: [IAS 
37.84] 

 
  

  •    Opening balance     
  •    Additions     
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•    Used (amounts charged against the provision)     
•    Released (reversed)     
•    Unwinding of the discount     
•    Closing balance     

The objective of IAS 37 is to ensure that 
appropriate recognition criteria and 
measurement bases are applied to provisions, 
contingent liabilities and contingent assets and 
that sufficient information is disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements to enable 
users to understand their nature, timing and 
amount.  

  For each class of provision, a brief description of: 
[IAS 37.85]      

  259 •    Nature    
  260 •    Timing     
  261 •    Uncertainties     
  262 •    Assumptions     
  263 •    Reimbursement     
       
IAS 38 Intangible Assets   For each class of intangible asset, disclose:    

264 •    useful life or amortization rate     
265 •    amortization method     

The objective of IAS 38 is to prescribe the 
accounting treatment for intangible assets that 
are not dealt with specifically in another IAS.  

266 •    gross carrying amount     
267 •    accumulated amortization and impairment 

losses     
The Standard requires an enterprise to 
recognize an intangible asset, whether 
purchased or self-created,  if: 268 •    line items in the income statement in which 

amortization is included     
-  It is probable that the future economic 
benefits that are attributable to the asset will 
flow to the entity; and 

269 •    basis for determining that an intangible has 
an indefinite life   

  
-  The cost of the asset can be measured 
reliably. 

270 •    description and carrying amount of 
individually material intangible assets     

The Standard also specifies how to measure 
the carrying amount of intangible assets and 
requires certain disclosures regarding 
intangible assets. 

271 •    certain special disclosures about intangible 
assets acquired by way of government grants   

  
  272 •    information about intangible assets whose 

title is restricted     
  273 •    commitments to acquire intangible assets    
  274.  Reconciliation of the carrying amount at the 

beginning and the end of the period showing:     
  •     additions (business combinations separately)     
  •     assets held for sale     
  •     retirements and other disposals     
  •     revaluations     
  •     impairments     
  •     reversals of impairments     
  •     amortization     
  •     foreign exchange differences     
  275.  In case of revaluation, disclose date, book 

value and revaluation, and assumptions used.    
  276.  the amount of research and development 

expenditure recognized as an expense in the 
current period [IAS 38.126]  

 
  

IAS 40 Investment Property For both Fair Value Model and Cost Model [IAS 
40.75]     

277.  whether the fair value or the cost model is 
used;     

Investment property is property (land or a 
building or part of a building or both) held (by 
the owner or by the lessee under a finance 
lease) to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both. [IAS 40.5]  

278.  The classification and the criteria to distinguish 
investment property from owner-occupied 
property and from property held for sale.  

 
  

Examples of investment property: [IAS 40.8]  279.  The methods and significant assumptions 
applied in determining the fair value of 
investment property.  

 
  

•    Land held for long-term capital 
appreciation  

280.  if the valuation is based on a qualified 
independent valuer;     
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•    Land held for undecided future use  281.  the amounts recognized in profit or loss for:     
•    Building leased out under an operating 
lease  

•    rental income from investment property;     
•    Vacant building held to be leased out 
under an operating lease  

•    direct operating expenses (including repairs and 
maintenance) arising from investment property    

Disclosure-Two models  282.  Restrictions on the investment property or the 
remittance of income and proceeds of disposal.     

•     Fair Value Model 283.  Contractual obligations to purchase, construct, 
or develop investment property or for repairs, 
maintenance or enhancements.  

 
  

•     Cost Model Additional Disclosures for the Fair Value Model 
[IAS 40.76]     

 284.  A reconciliation between the carrying amounts 
of investment property at the beginning and end 
of the period, showing additions, disposals, fair 
value adjustments, net foreign exchange 
differences, transfers to and from inventories 
and owner-occupied property, and other 
changes.  

 

  
 Additional Disclosures for the Cost Model [IAS 

40.79]     
  285.  The depreciation methods used and useful life.    
  286.  the gross carrying amount and the accumulated 

depreciation (aggregated with accumulated 
impairment losses) at the beginning and end of 
the period; 

 
  

  287.  The fair value of investment property. If the 
fair value of an item of investment property 
cannot be measured reliably, additional 
disclosures are required. 

 
  

IAS 41 Agricultural 
Activities 

 Disclosure requirements in IAS 41 include:  
 

  
  288.  carrying amount and description of biological 

assets [IAS 41.39];    
289.   fair value of agricultural produce harvested 

during the period [IAS 41.40-48];    
The objective of IAS 41 is to establish 
standards of accounting for agricultural 
activity -- the management of the biological 
transformation of biological assets (living 
plants and animals) into agricultural produce 
(harvested product of the enterprise's 
biological assets).  

290.   information about biological assets whose title 
is restricted or that are pledged as security [IAS 
41.49];  

  
Biological assets: living animals and plants. 
[IAS 41.5]  

291.  commitments for development or acquisition of 
biological assets [IAS 41.49] ;    

Agricultural produce: the harvested product 
from biological assets. [IAS 41.5]  

292.  methods and assumptions for determining fair 
value [IAS 41.47];    

293.  reconciliation of changes in the carrying 
amount of biological assets, showing separately 
changes in value, purchases, sales, harvesting, 
business combinations, and foreign exchange 
differences [IAS 41.50]  

 

  

Point of sale costs: Commissions to brokers 
and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and 
commodity exchanges, and transfer taxes. 
Point of sale costs does not include transport 
and other costs necessary to get assets to a 
market (though. [IAS 41.14] commodity, there 
is no 'measurement reliability' exception for 
produce. [IAS 41.13]  

294.  If fair value cannot be measured reliably, 
additional required disclosures include: [IAS 
41.54-55]; 

 
  

  295.  Useful lives, depreciation method and 
depreciation rates.    

       
IFRS 2 Share-Based 
Payments 

296.  the nature and extent of share-based payment 
arrangements that existed during the period;   

  
297.  how the fair value of the goods or services 

received, or the fair value of the equity 
instruments granted, during the period was 
determined; and  

 
  

This standard is about shared-based payments, 
which is a transaction in which the entity 
receives or acquires goods or services either 
as consideration for its equity instruments or 
by incurring liabilities for amounts based on 
the price of the entity's shares or other equity 
instruments of the entity. 

298.  the effect of share-based payment transactions 
on the entity’s profit or loss for the period and 
on its financial position 

 
  

The concept of share-based payments is 
broader than employee share options.  
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All share-based payment transactions must be 
recognized in the financial statements, using a 
fair value measurement basis. An expense is 
recognized when the goods or services 
received are consumed. 

  

 

  
There are two exemptions to the general scope 
principle: issuance of shares in a business 
combination should be accounted for under 
IFRS 3 Business Combinations and Financial 
Instruments IAS 32. 

  

 

  
IFRS 3 Business 
Combination 

299.  Acquisition date, names and descriptions of the 
combining entities or businesses [IFRS 3.67];  

  
300.  Percentage of voting equity instruments 

acquired,     
This standard is related to definition of 
business combination which is a business 
combination that is bringing together separate 
entities or businesses into one reporting entity 

301.  Cost of the combination (with separate 
disclosure of the number and fair values of 
equity instruments issued and how fair values 
were determined),  

 
  

Scope exclusions. IFRS 3 applies to all 
business combinations except:  

302.  Amounts recognised at the acquisition date for 
each class of the acquiree's assets, liabilities, and 
contingent liabilities, and, unless impracticable, 
the carrying amounts of each of those classes, 
determined in accordance with IFRS, 
immediately before the combination,  

 

  
•    combinations of entities under common 
control,  

303.  Amount of any negative goodwill recognised in 
profit or loss ;    

•    combinations of mutual entities,  304.  Details about the factors that contributed to 
recognition of goodwill,    

•    combinations by contract without 
exchange of ownership interest, and 

305.   Amount of the acquiree's profit or loss since 
the acquisition date included in the acquirer's 
profit or loss for the period, unless 
impracticable; 

 
  

•    Formations of joint ventures.  306.  Revenue and profit and loss of the combined 
entity for the period as though the acquisition 
date for all business;  

 
  

IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts 307.  Accounting policies for insurance contracts;    
IFRS 4 applies to virtually all insurance 
contracts (including reinsurance contracts) 
that an entity issues and to reinsurance 
contracts that it holds.  

308.  The recognized assets, liabilities, income, 
expense, and cash flows arising from insurance 
contracts;  

  
An insurance contract is a "contract under 
which one party (the insurer) accepts 
significant insurance risk from another party 
(the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate 
the policyholder if a specified uncertain future 
event (the insured event) adversely affects the 
policyholder." 

309.  Information about the assumptions that have 
the greatest effect on the measurement of assets, 
liabilities, income, and expense including, if 
practicable, quantified disclosure of those 
assumptions; 

 

  
  310.   Reconciliations of changes in insurance 

liabilities, reinsurance assets, and, if any, related 
deferred acquisition costs; 

 
  

  311.   Risk management objectives and policies;    
  312.  Those terms and conditions of insurance 

contracts that have a material effect on the 
amount, timing, and uncertainty of the insurer's 
future cash flows; 

 
  

  313.  Information about insurance risk (both before 
and after risk mitigation by reinsurance).     

IFRS 5 - Non-Current Assets 
Held For Sale and 
Discontinued Operations  

314.  Non-current assets, their liabilities, and the 
assets of a disposal group classified as held for 
sale must be disclosed separately from other 
assets in the balance sheet.  

 
  

315.  a description of the nature of assets held and 
the facts and circumstances surrounding the 
sale. 

 
  

IFRS 5 replaces IAS 35 discontinued 
operations. It is about the timing of the 
classification on when the discontinued 
operation satisfies the criteria to be classified 
as held for sale. IFRS 5 requires the results of 
discontinued operations to be presented as a 
single amount on the face of the income 
statement.  

316.  Adjustments made in the current period to 
amounts disclosed as a discontinued operation in 
prior periods must be separately disclosed. 
[IFRS 5.35]  
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  317.  If an entity ceases to classify a component as 
held for sale, the results of that component 
previously presented in discontinued operations 
must be reclassified and included in income 
from continuing operations for all periods 
presented. [IFRS 5.36]  

 

  
  TOTAL    



Appendix 2: The Survey Instrument 
 
 
 
 
Corporate Financial Disclosure in Emerging Markets: the Case of 

the UAE 
 

 

Who is conducting the research Abdulkareem Alzarouni (Student Researcher) 
Dr. Mohammad Tahir (Chief Investigator) 
Professor Allan Hodgson (Chief External Investigator) 
Dr. Khaled Aljifri (Member of the Research Team) 
Professor Ng (Member of the Research Team) 
School (s) / Centre (s): Griffith Business School 
Contact Phone: +97150-6422289 
Contact Email: alzarouni98@hotmail.com 

 

Why is the research being conducted? 
 
The objective of this questionnaire is to collect data for a PhD project about the UAE 
firms. The purpose of conducting this project is to assess the current level of financial 
disclosure made by UAE firms and to find out the factors that are responsible for 
variations in the level of disclosure among UAE firms. The outcomes of this study will 
help to have a full picture of the current level of disclosure and to identify some methods 
to improve such disclosure to benefit all users of financial reports in the UAE. 
 
What will you be asked to do? 
 
You will be asked a number of questions that you need to answer according to your 
experience with the current corporate annual reports issued by UAE firms. Mainly the 
questions are built around the following themes: 

• What is the main source of information you use in your decision making? 
• Do corporate annual reports issued by UAE firms meet the needs of users? 
• What are the most important items of information that you are looking for? 

 
The basis on which participants will be selected or screened 
 
This questionnaire is based on a random selection of participants. There are different 
types of users such as: individual investors, institutional investors, bank loan officers 
…etc. A number of participants from each group are randomly selected. For example, for 
individual investors, a number of investors will be selected using the investor numbers 
allocated by the UAE securities market. 
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The expected benefits of the research 
 
It is expected that the outcomes of this research will improve the extent and the quality of 
financial disclosure, which in turn will enhance the efficiency of the UAE securities 
market. The overall results will benefit all type of users and ultimately the economy of the 
country. 
 
Risks to you 
 
There is no risk involved in your participation in this questionnaire. The questionnaire is 
mainly about the disclosure in corporate annual reports issued by UAE firms. These 
reports are publicized on yearly basis and these are considered to be in the public domain. 
Therefore, no confidential information is required. 
 
Your confidentiality 
 
The conduct of this research will not involve the access and / or use of your identified 
personal information. The information collected is confidential and will not be 
disclosed to third parties without your consent, except to meet government, legal or 
other regulatory authority requirements.  A de-identified copy of this data may be 
used for other research purposes.  However, your anonymity will at all times be 
safeguarded. Data will be coded, and the data and identifying code will be stored 
separately.   
 
Your participation is voluntary 
 
Your participation is totally voluntary and you do not need to answer any question that 
you do not feel comfortable with. We can assure you that your participation will not have 
any negative impact on your work and your relationship with other parties.  
 
Mechanism for distribution and return 
 
You have been selected randomly and most of the questionnaires have been sent either by 
mail or by direct contact. The completed questionnaire could be handed over or sent back 
to the researcher using the enclosed prepaid postage envelop.  
 
Questions / further information 
 
For additional information and clarification, participants may contact the researcher 
whose name is listed above. 
 
The ethical conduct of this research 
 
Griffith University conducts research in accordance with the National Statement on 
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Ethical Conduct in Research Involving Humans.  If potential participants have any 
concerns or complaints about the ethical conduct of the research project they should 
contact the Manager, Research Ethics on 3875 5585 or research-ethics@griffith.edu.au. 
 
Feedback to you 
 
A summary of the analysis will be offered to interested participants. 
 
Privacy statement 
 
No personal information will be elicited in this questionnaire. 
 
Expressing consent 
 
By completing and sending this questionnaire you acknowledge your consent to 
participate in the research.  Please detach this sheet and retain it for your later reference. 
 
This questionnaire comprises three sections: 

 
• Section one: Respondent’s information. 
• Section two: Evaluation of the current corporate reporting practices in the 

UAE. 
• Section three: About assigning weights to the information items that may 

appear in corporate annual reports. 
 

This questionnaire is the copy right of the researcher. Hence quoting from it is not 
permitted without prior permission from the researcher. 
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Section 1: General Information  
(This section seeks general information about survey respondent)  
 

 
Contact telephone number: 

 
Name:    
 

 
1.  

 
 
 

 
Sex:    

 Male 
 Female 

 
2.  

 
 
 

Nationality:    
 UAE 
 Other 

 
3.  

 
 
Accounting and financial qualifications (please tick the appropriate one) 

 
4. 

 Holding accounting and financial   
      qualifications (please specify ……....)

 Other (please specify……………...) 

 None 
 

 Attended accounting and finance 
courses 

 
 
 

 
 
Accounting and financial experience:  

 
5. 

 I have ……… years of experience  
  

 No experience 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Where do you classify yourself in the following groups: 

 
6. 

 Fund manager  
 Governmental investor 
 Stock market broker 
 Professional accountant/auditor     

 Individual investor 
 Institutional investor 
 Bank credit officer 
 Government representative 
 Other classification (please specify     

       …………………………………..) 
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Section 2:  
(This section aims to evaluate the current corporate reporting practices in the UAE) 
 

In general, do you use corporate annual reports in your decision making? 1. 
 No (please go to question # 8)  

 
 Yes (please go to question # 2 and 
continue till question # 7) 

 
 
 

 
In making a decision about a company, what ranking of importance would you give to 
the following sources of financial information? (please circle your score)  
 (Please indicate the relative importance of each possible reason by circling the 
appropriate number on the scale):   
              1= Not important                        2= Slightly important           3= Moderately 
important   
             4= Very important                       5= Extremely important   
 

2. 

Extremely 
Important  

    Not 
Important 

 

a. Corporate annual reports  1 2 3 4 5 
b. Advisory services by a broker 1 2 3 4 5 
c. Newspapers and magazines   1 2 3 4 5 
d. Tips and rumours 1 2 3 4 5 
e. Contact with the company's management 1 2 3 4 5 
f. Advice of friends 1 2 3 4 5 
g. Stock market publications 1 2 3 4 5 
h. Government publications 1 2 3 4 5 
i. Other sources (please specify):      
………………………………………………. 1 2 3 4 5 
………………………………………………. 1 2 3 4 5 

 
Why and to what extent do you use other sources of information in addition to 
corporate annual reports? 
(Please specify the relative degree of extent of usage by circling the appropriate 
number on the following scale)  
A- Never  B- To a slight extent   C- To a moderately extent    D- To a high extent 
E- To an extreme extent  

3. 

E  A  
  a. Because it provides me with new 
information 1 2 3 4 5 

b. Because it provides me with better 
information than that provided by corporate 
annual reports 

1 2 3 4 5 

c. Because it is issued by neutral party 1 2 3 4 5 
d. Because it contains information not provided 

in corporate annual reports    1 2 3 4 5 

e. Because it provides me with a summary of 
all companies  1 2 3 4 5 

f. Other reasons (please specify 
……………………………………………) 1 2 3 4 5 
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In general, to what extent do you use corporate annual reports as a basis in your 
investment decisions? 

4. 

 To a great extent  
 To a very great extent 

  

 Not at all 
 To a slight extent 
 To a moderate extent 

 
 
 

 
In general, what problems affect your use of corporate annual reports in the UAE? 5. 

 Lack of qualified auditors 
 Lack of access to financial reports 
 Other (please specify) 

………………………. 
…………………………………………
………… 

 Delay in publication of corporate 
annual reports 

 Lack of trust in information provided 
 Lack of adequate information 
 Lack of unified accounting and 
reporting          standards 

 
 
 

 
You will find hereunder seven sections of corporate annual reports. To what extent 
do you read these sections? Also, to what extent do you think the difficulty, the 
reliability, and the relevance of the information included in these sections relates to 
your decision making? 

6. 

 
(Please specify the relative degree, by circling the appropriate number on the 
following scale): 
Readability:  1= Do not read at all    5= Read it thoroughly   
Difficulty: 1= Very difficult to understand  5=Very Easy to understand   
Reliability: 1- Unreliable     5- Very reliable 
Relevance: 1- Not relevant    5- Extremely relevant 
  

Relevance Reliability Difficulty Readability  

a. Management’s report 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5
b. Auditors’ report 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5
c. Statement of financial 

position (Balance sheet) 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5

d. Income statement 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5
e. Statement of changes in 

equity 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5

f. Statement of cash flows 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5
g. Notes to financial 

statements 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 5

 
In general, do you consider current corporate annual reports in the UAE provide : 7. 

  Sufficient information 
 Insufficient information  
 Too much information than what I need 

 
 
 

 
(Please skip question 8 and move to section 3) 
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For what reasons do you not use corporate annual reports in your decision making? 
 

8. 

 Lack of interest 
 Lack of time 
 Lack of understanding  
 Lack of timeliness of information 
 Availability of other sources of information 
 Lack of credibility 
 Other reasons (please specify) 

………………………………………………………………. 
 
 
Please use the space below to describe any deficiencies of the financial disclosure in 
corporate annul reports in the UAE: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
(Please move to section 3)
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 Section 3:  
 

In this section of the questionnaire there is an information list that could be presented 
in annual reports issued by UAE firms. You are asked to examine each item and 
attach a weight to it reflecting its importance in your decision making: 
 
(Please indicate the relative importance by circling the appropriate number on the 
scale):   
1= Not important                         2= Slightly important           3= Moderately 
important    4= Very important                       5= Extremely important   
 
Balance Sheet: 

1.  Total and breakdown of assets into fixed, current, and 
intangible assets 1 2 3 4 5 

2. Cost/fair value of investments and their breakdown 1 2 3 4 5 
3. Amount and breakdown of inventories into raw material, 

work in process, and finished goods 1 2 3 4 5 

4. Gross and disaggregated value of current liabilities and 
long-term liabilities 1 2 3 4 5 

5. Total and breakdown of shareholders’ equity 1 2 3 4 5 
6. Allowance for doubtful debts. 1 2 3 4 5 
7. Accumulated depreciation and amortization in total and 

major categories 1 2 3 4 5 

8. Commitments for long-term leases  1 2 3 4 5 
9. Comparative balance sheet of previous year 1 2 3 4 5 
 
Income Statement: 

10. Total and breakdown of different sources of revenues 1 2 3 4 5 
11. Amount and breakdown of operating expenses 1 2 3 4 5 
12. Cost of sales 1 2 3 4 5 
13. Bad debt expense 1 2 3 4 5 
14. Amount of depreciation and amortization on fixed and 

intangible assets 1 2 3 4 5 

15. Amount of foreign currency gains and losses 1 2 3 4 5 
16. Gain and losses for discontinued operations & 

extraordinary items 1 2 3 4 5 

17. Profit and/or loss on sale of investments 1 2 3 4 5 
18. Gain or loss of writing down to net realizable value of 

inventory and fixed assets 1 2 3 4 5 

19. Gain or loss of sales of fixed assets 1 2 3 4 5 
20. Net profit or loss of the year 1 2 3 4 5 
21. Earnings per share  1 2 3 4 5 
22. Comparative income statement of previous year 1 2 3 4 5 
 
Statement of Cash Flows: 

23.  Cash flows from operating, investing, and financing 
activities 1 2 3 4 5 

24. Components of cash and cash equivalents 1 2 3 4 5 
25.  Comparative statement of cash flows of previous year 1 2 3 4 5 
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Statement of Changes in Owners’ Equity 

26. Number of shares authorized 1 2 3 4 5 
27.  Number of shares issued 1 2 3 4 5 
28. Equity reserves 1 2 3 4 5 
29. Amount of dividends proposed and paid 1 2 3 4 5 
30.  Retained earnings  1 2 3 4 5 
31. Profit or loss of the period 1 2 3 4 5 
32. Gain or loss of valuation of investment and other assets 1 2 3 4 5 
33. Effect of changes in accounting policies or correction of 

errors  1 2 3 4 5 

 
Other Information Included in Annual Reports 

34. Auditors’ report 1 2 3 4 5 
 A. Report of the Chairman or Board of Directors:      
35. General outlook of the economy 1 2 3 4 5 
36. Discussion of major industry trends 1 2 3 4 5 
37. Statement of the company’s objectives  1 2 3 4 5 
38. Narrative history of the company 1 2 3 4 5 
39. Description of lines of business & products/services 1 2 3 4 5 
40. List of board of directors  1 2 3 4 5 
41. Discussion of operating results for the year 1 2 3 4 5 
42. Production capacity and actual output 1 2 3 4 5 
43. Information on the competitive position of the company 1 2 3 4 5 
44. Discussion of research and development activities  1 2 3 4 5 
45. Historical summary of net sales or revenues for the last 

5 years 1 2 3 4 5 

46.  Historical summary of market price of the company’s 
share in past two years 1 2 3 4 5 

 Ratio and Other Statistics:       
47. Key financial ratios (e.g., liquidity, assets management, 

profitability, valuation, leverage 1 2 3 4 5 

48. Growth rate in revenues and earnings 1 2 3 4 5 
49. Company’s market share of major products/services 1 2 3 4 5 
50.. Rate of return required by the company on its projects 1 2 3 4 5 
51. Summary of financial highlights for the past 3-5 years 1 2 3 4 5 
 Projections and Future Information:      
52. Projection of future financial highlights for next 3-5 

years 1 2 3 4 5 

53. Corporate future based on futuristic economic view of 
its activities 1 2 3 4 5 

54. Expected future growth in sales and earnings per share 
for the next year 1 2 3 4 5 

55. Planned R&D, human resource development and capital 
expenditures for the next year 1 2 3 4 5 

 B. Notes to Financial Statements:  1 2 3 4 5 
 Accounting Policies: 1 2 3 4 5 
56. Disclosure of basis of accounting 1 2 3 4 5 
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57. Change in accounting polices and methods 1 2 3 4 5 
58. Revenue recognition methods 1 2 3 4 5 
59. Inventory pricing method used (FIFO, Weighted 

Average, etc.) 1 2 3 4 5 

60. Accounting policies for intangible assets 1 2 3 4 5 
61. Basis of valuation of financial instruments & 

investments 1 2 3 4 5 

62. Pension accounting methods 1 2 3 4 5 
63. Accounting policies for currency translation  1 2 3 4 5 
 Other Notes: 1 2 3 4 5 
64. Details of fixed, current, and intangible assets 1 2 3 4 5 
65. Details of current and long-term liabilities  1 2 3 4 5 
66. Breakdown of revenues by segments, major product 

lines, customer classes or geographical locations 1 2 3 4 5 

67. Breakdown of operating expenses 1 2 3 4 5 
68. Human resources expenditures (salaries, remuneration, 

recruitment, and staff training   etc.) 1 2 3 4 5 

69. Contributions and donations 1 2 3 4 5 
70. Research and development expenditures  1 2 3 4 5 
71. Related party transactions 1 2 3 4 5 
72. Number of employees  1 2 3 4 5 
73. Details of investments 1 2 3 4 5 
74. Professional fees  1 2 3 4 5 
75. Financial instruments risk (interest risk, liquidity risk 

…etc.) 1 2 3 4 5 

76. Information of post balance sheet events 1 2 3 4 5 
77. Details of transactions with government (as 

customer/supplier) 1 2 3 4 5 

78. Details of commitments, contingencies, etc. 1 2 3 4 5 
79. Bad debt written offs 1 2 3 4 5 
80. Percentage share of ownership of subsidiaries  1 2 3 4 5 
81. Increase and decrease of fixed assets  1 2 3 4 5 
82. Quarterly summary amounts of financial statements 

presented 1 2 3 4 5 

83. Market value of fixed assets and the basis of valuation 1 2 3 4 5 
84. Description of useful lives of assets, depreciation rates, 

intangible assets, and amortization rates 1 2 3 4 5 

 
Please provide any other items of information which you consider important but not 

included in the above list: 

•  
•   
•   
•   

 
Thank you.



Appendix 3: List of Items Based on the Questionnaire Outcomes 
 

Serial Item Applicable Disclosed 

 Balance Sheet Items:   
1.  Total and breakdown of assets into fixed, current, 

and intangible assets   

2.  Cost/fair value of investments and their breakdown   
3.  Amount and breakdown of inventories into raw 

material, work in process, and finished goods   

4.  Gross and disaggregated value of current liabilities 
and long-term liabilities   

5.  Total and breakdown of shareholders’ equity   
6.  Allowance for doubtful debts.   
7.  Commitments for long-term leases   

 Income Statement Items:   
8.  Comparative balance sheet of previous year   
9.  Total and breakdown of different sources of revenues   
10.  Amount and breakdown of operating expenses   
11.  Cost of sales   
12.  Bad debt expense   
13.  Gain and losses for discontinued operations & 

extraordinary items   

14.  Profit and/or loss on sale of investments   
15.  Gain or loss of writing down to net realizable value of 

inventory and fixed assets   

16.  Gain or loss of sales of fixed assets   
17.  Net profit or loss of the year   
18.  Earnings per share   
19.  Comparative income statement of previous year   

 Cash Flow Statement Items:   
20.  Cash flows from operating, investing, and financing 

activities   

21.  Components of cash and cash equivalents   
22.  Comparative statement of cash flows of previous 

year   

 Statement of Changes in Owners’ Equity:   
23.  Number of shares authorized   
24.  Number of shares issued   
25.  Equity reserves   
26.  Amount of dividends proposed and paid   
27.  Retained earnings   
28.  Profit or loss of the period   
29.  Gain or loss of valuation of investment and other 

assets   

30.  Effect of changes in accounting policies or correction 
of errors   

 Other Information Included in Annual Reports:   
31.  Auditors’ report   
32.  Discussion of major industry trends   
33.  Statement of the company’s objectives   
34.  Description of lines of business & products/services   
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35.  List of board of directors   
36.  Discussion of operating results for the year   
37.  Production capacity and actual output   
38.  Information on the competitive position of the 

company   

39.  Historical summary of net sales or revenues for the 
last 5 years   

40.  Historical summary of market price of the company’s 
share in past two years   

41.  Key financial ratios   
42.  Growth rate in revenues and earnings   
43.  Company’s market share of major products/services   
44.  Rate of return required by the company on its 

projects   

45.  Summary of financial highlights for the past 3-5 years   
46.  Projection of future financial highlights for next 3-5 

years   

47.  Corporate future based on futuristic economic view of 
its activities   

48.  Expected future growth in sales and earnings per 
share for the next year   

49.  Disclosure of basis of accounting   
50.  Change in accounting polices and methods   
51.  Revenue recognition methods   
52.  Basis of valuation of financial instruments & 

investments   

53.  Details of current and long-term liabilities   
54.  Details of investments   
55.  Financial instruments risk   
56.  Information of post balance sheet events   
57.  Details of transactions with government   
58.  Details of commitments, contingencies   
59.  Percentage share of ownership of subsidiaries   
60.  Increase and decrease of fixed assets   
61.  Quarterly summary amounts of financial statements 

presented   

62.  Market value of fixed assets and the basis of 
valuation   
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